

20 East Bayard Street Seneca Falls, New York 13148 (315) 568-5855

PROPOSED SALE TRANSACTION — YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT

February 20, 2025

Dear Fellow Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the Special Meeting of Stockholders of Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. ("Generations Bancorp" or the "Company"), the parent company of Generations Bank (sometimes, herein, the "Bank"). The special meeting will be held at our Corporate Headquarters located at 20 East Bayard Street, Seneca Falls, New York at 1:00 p.m., Eastern time, on February 20, 2025. At the special meeting, Generations Bancorp's stockholders will consider and vote on proposals that must be approved for Generations Bancorp to complete the Sale Transaction (as defined below) with ESL Federal Credit Union ("ESL").

On September 23, 2024, Generations Bancorp, Generations Bank and ESL entered into a Purchase and Assumption Agreement (the "P&A Agreement") pursuant to which ESL will purchase substantially all of Generations Bank's assets and assume substantially all of Generations Bank's liabilities (including the deposit liabilities) (the "Bank Asset Sale"). As consideration for the Bank Asset Sale, ESL will pay Generations Bank \$26.2 million in cash and Generations Bank will retain its equity at the effective time of the Bank Asset Sale, less certain reductions and additions, as provided in the P&A Agreement.

The Bank Asset Sale is an integral part of a larger transaction contemplated by the P&A Agreement in which, as soon as practicable following the Bank Asset Sale, Generations Bank will commence a liquidation process and distribute all of its remaining assets to Generations Bancorp (the "Bank Liquidation") and thereafter Generations Bancorp will dissolve, wind up its operations and distribute all of its remaining assets to its stockholders (the "Company Dissolution"). The Bank Asset Sale, the Bank Liquidation and the Company Dissolution are referred to as the "Sale Transaction."

If the Sale Transaction is completed, Generations Bancorp estimates that stockholders will receive between \$18.00 and \$20.00 in cash for each share of Generations Bancorp common stock that they own. This estimated consideration per share is based on numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on several factors that are discussed in the attached proxy statement. *Accordingly, stockholders should not assume that the ultimate per share consideration distributed to them will be within the estimated range of \$18.00 to \$20.00 per share.* It is expected that the per share consideration will be distributed in two payments with the substantial majority of the total per share consideration expected to be distributed within six to nine months following the closing of the Bank Asset Sale, and the balance of the per share consideration to be distributed six to nine months after the first payment.

Approval of the Bank Asset Sale and the Company Dissolution each requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Generations Bancorp common stock entitled to vote.

The Sale Transaction can be completed only if the Bank Asset Sale and the Company Dissolution are both approved at the special meeting. If the Bank Asset Sale is not approved, the Sale Transaction will not occur and there will be no Company Dissolution and no distribution to stockholders, even if the Company Dissolution is approved by stockholders. If stockholders approve the Bank Asset Sale but do not approve the Company Dissolution, assuming the other closing conditions in the P&A Agreement are satisfied, ESL, Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank may agree to complete the Bank Asset Sale. In that case, Generations Bank, having transferred substantially all of its operating assets to ESL, would liquidate and distribute its remaining assets to

Generations Bancorp. However, Generations Bancorp could not immediately begin the dissolution process and any distributions to stockholders would be delayed.

The attached proxy statement provides detailed information about the Sale Transaction. You should read it, including the appendices, in their entirety.

Generations Bancorp's board of directors has unanimously approved the Sale Transaction, including the P&A Agreement, the Bank Asset Sale and the Company Dissolution, and unanimously recommends that Generations Bancorp's stockholders vote "<u>FOR</u>" the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale and "<u>FOR</u>" the Company Dissolution.

Your vote is very important. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please complete, date and sign the enclosed proxy card and return it promptly in the postage-paid envelope we have provided. You may also vote your shares by telephone or via the Internet by following the instructions on the enclosed proxy or voting instruction card. If your shares are held in an account at a bank, broker or other nominee, you should instruct your bank, broker or other nominee how to vote your shares using the separate voting instruction form furnished by your bank, broker or other nominee. Failing to vote will have the same effect as voting "Against" the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale and "Against" the Company Dissolution.

If you have any questions concerning the proxy statement or the Sale Transaction, or if you need assistance in voting, contact Generations Bancorp's proxy solicitor, Laurel Hill Advisory Group, at (888) 742-1305 (toll-free). Banks and brokers only should call (516) 933-3100.

On behalf of Generations Bancorp's board of directors, thank you for your prompt attention to this important matter.

Angela Krezmer

Angela Krezmer Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

This proxy statement is dated January 14, 2025, and is first being mailed on or about January 17, 2025 to stockholders of record.



20 East Bayard Street Seneca Falls, New York 13148 (315) 568-5855

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

A Special Meeting of Stockholders of Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. ("Generations Bancorp" or the "Company") will be held at our Corporate Headquarters located at 20 East Bayard Street, Seneca Falls, New York at 1:00 p.m., Eastern time, on February 20, 2025 to consider and vote upon the following proposals:

- 1. Approval of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement dated September 23, 2024, by and among ESL Federal Credit Union ("ESL"), Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. and Generations Bank (the "P&A Agreement"), pursuant to which ESL will purchase substantially all of Generations Bank's assets and assume substantially all of Generations Bank's liabilities (including all deposit liabilities) (the "Bank Asset Sale");
- 2. Approval of the dissolution of Generations Bancorp and the distribution of Generations Bancorp's remaining assets to its stockholders pursuant to the Plan of Dissolution and Complete Liquidation (the "Company Dissolution"); and
- 3. Approval of the adjournment of the special meeting of stockholders, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies in favor of Proposals 1 or 2, or both.

The Bank Asset Sale and the Company Dissolution are integral parts of a larger transaction contemplated by the P&A Agreement, which we refer to as the "Sale Transaction." The Sale Transaction consists of (i) the Bank Asset Sale, (ii) the liquidation of Generations Bank and the distribution of Generations Bank's remaining assets to Generations Bancorp pursuant to Generations Bank's Plan of Voluntary Liquidation, and (iii) the Company Dissolution including the distribution of Generations Bancorp's remaining assets to Generations Bancorp's stockholders.

A proxy card is enclosed and a proxy statement for the special meeting accompanies this notice. The proxy statement provides a detailed description of the Sale Transaction, including the P&A Agreement, the Bank Asset Sale and the Company Dissolution. You should read the proxy statement and its appendices in their entirety.

Stockholders of record at the close of business on January 10, 2025 are the stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting and at any postponement or adjournment of the special meeting.

Your vote is very important. Approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale and approval of the Company Dissolution each require the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company common stock entitled to vote. Failure to vote will have the same effect as voting "Against" the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale and "Against" the Company Dissolution.

If you have any questions concerning the Sale Transaction, or if you need help in voting your shares of Generations Bancorp common stock, contact Generations Bancorp's proxy solicitor:

Laurel Hill Advisory Group Monday through Friday from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Eastern time (888) 742-1305 (toll-free) (516) 933-3100 (Banks and Brokers Only) Generations Bancorp's board of directors has unanimously approved the Sale Transaction, including the P&A Agreement, the Bank Asset Sale and the Company Dissolution, and unanimously recommends that Generations Bancorp's stockholders vote "<u>FOR</u>" the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale and "<u>FOR</u>" the Company Dissolution.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Lori M. Parish Corporate Secretary

The prompt return of proxies will save Generations Bancorp the expense of further requests for proxies to ensure a quorum at the special meeting. Please complete, sign and date the enclosed proxy card or voting instruction card and mail it in the enclosed envelope. You may also be able to vote your shares by telephone or via the Internet. If telephone or Internet voting is available to you, voting instructions are printed on the proxy card or voting instruction card sent to you.

A self-addressed, postage-prepaid proxy reply envelope is enclosed for your convenience. No postage is required if mailed within the United States.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION	1
INFORMATION ABOUT VOTING	1
REVOCATION OF PROXIES	3
PROPOSAL 1 – APPROVAL OF THE P&A AGREEMENT AND THE BANK ASSET SALE	3
General	3
Background of the Transaction	3
Generations Bancorp's and Generations Bank's Reasons for Entering into the P&A Agreement, the Bar Sale and the Other Transactions Contemplated Thereby, and Recommendation of Generations Bancorp Directors	's Board of
Opinion of Generations Bancorp's Financial Advisor	8
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Sale Transaction	
No Appraisal or Dissenters' Rights	21
Interests of Certain Persons in the Sale Transaction that are Different from Yours	21
Regulatory Approvals	23
Liquidation Accounts	24
Consideration to be Received by Stockholders	
When the Sale Transaction Will Be Completed	26
Bank Liquidation	
Terms of the P&A Agreement	27
PROPOSAL 2 – APPROVAL OF THE PLAN OF DISSOLUTION AND THE COMPANY DISSOLUTI	ON37
General	
Dissolution and Winding Up of Generations Bancorp	
Record Date for Liquidating Distributions	
Trading of Generations Bancorp's Common Stock; Closing of Transfer Books	
Interests of Certain Persons in the Company Dissolution that are Different from Yours	
No Appraisal or Dissenter's Rights	40
Abandonment; Amendment	40
Liability of Stockholders, Directors and Officers	40
Company Dissolution Conditioned on Completion of the Bank Asset Sale	40
PROPOSAL 3 – ADJOURNMENT OF THE SPECIAL MEETING	40
MISCELLANEOUS	41
Appendix A – Purchase and Assumption Agreement	A-1
Appendix B – Opinion of Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc	B-1
Appendix C – Plan of Dissolution and Complete Liquidation	C-1

(This page has been left blank intentionally)



GENERAL INFORMATION

This proxy statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the board of directors of Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. ("Generations Bancorp" or the "Company"), to be used at the Special Meeting of Stockholders of Generations Bancorp, and any postponements or adjournments of the special meeting (the "special meeting"). The special meeting will be held at our Corporate Headquarters located at 20 East Bayard Street, Seneca Falls, New York, at 1:00 p.m., Eastern time, on February 20, 2025, for the purpose of considering and voting on the proposals that must be approved for Generations Bancorp to complete the Sale Transaction (as defined below) with ESL Federal Credit Union ("ESL").

On September 23, 2024, ESL, Generations Bancorp, and Generations Bank entered into a Purchase and Assumption Agreement (the "P&A Agreement") pursuant to which ESL will purchase substantially all of Generations Bank's assets and assume substantially all Generations Bank's liabilities (including the deposit liabilities) (the "Bank Asset Sale"). The Bank Asset Sale is an integral part of a larger transaction contemplated by the P&A Agreement in which, as soon as practicable following the Bank Asset Sale, Generations Bank's Plan of Voluntary Liquidation (the "Bank Liquidation") and thereafter Generations Bancorp will dissolve, wind up its operations and distribute all of its remaining assets, including the proceeds from the Bank Asset Sale, to its stockholders (the "Company Dissolution"). The Bank Asset Sale, the Bank Liquidation and the Company Dissolution are referred to as the "Sale Transaction."

INFORMATION ABOUT VOTING

Only holders of record of Generations Bancorp's common stock as of the close of business on January 10, 2025 (the "Record Date") are entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting, and are entitled one vote for each share then held. As of the close of business on the Record Date, there were 2,278,740 shares of Generations Bancorp common stock outstanding and entitled to be voted.

Generations Bancorp's Articles of Incorporation provide that record holders of Generations Bancorp's common stock who beneficially own more than 10% of the outstanding shares of common stock (the "Limit") are not entitled to any vote with respect to the shares held in excess of the Limit.

At the special meeting, stockholders will be asked to consider and vote upon the following proposals. The Sale Transaction cannot be completed unless Proposals One and Two are approved.

Proposal One – Approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale. Stockholders will be asked to approve the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale. A stockholder may (1) vote "FOR" the proposal, (2) vote "AGAINST" the proposal or (3) "ABSTAIN" from voting on the proposal. Approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale proposal requires the affirmative vote on the proposal of the holders of a majority of the shares outstanding and entitled to vote. Broker non-votes and proxies marked "Abstain" have the same effect as a vote "Against" the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale.

Proposal Two – Approval of the Company Dissolution. Stockholders will be asked to approve the Company Dissolution pursuant to the Plan of Dissolution. A stockholder may (1) vote "FOR" the proposal, (2) vote "AGAINST" the proposal or (3) "ABSTAIN" from voting on the proposal. Approval of the Company Dissolution requires the affirmative vote on the proposal of the holders of a majority of the shares outstanding and entitled to

vote. Broker non-votes and proxies marked "Abstain" have the same effect as a vote "Against" the Company Dissolution.

Proposal Three – Approval of the Adjournment of the Special Meeting, if necessary. Stockholders will be asked to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies in favor of proposals 1 or 2, or both. A stockholder may (1) vote "FOR" the proposal, (2) vote "AGAINST" the proposal or (3) "ABSTAIN" from voting on the proposal. Approval of the adjournment proposal requires the affirmative vote on the proposal of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the special meeting.

Quorum. As of the close of business on the Record Date, there were 2,278,740 shares of Generations Bancorp common stock outstanding and entitled vote. The presence, in person or by proxy, of a majority of those outstanding shares of common stock entitled to vote is necessary to constitute a quorum at the special meeting.

Participants in the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan and 401(k) Plan. If you participate in the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the "ESOP"), or hold shares of our stock as a participant in the Generations Bank 401(k) Plan (the "401(k) Plan"), you will receive a vote authorization form that reflects all shares you may direct the trustee to vote on your behalf under the ESOP and/or 401(k) Plan. Under the terms of the ESOP and the 401(k) Plan, the ESOP trustee and the 401(k) Plan trustee votes all shares held by the ESOP and the 401(k) Plan, but each ESOP and 401(k) Plan participant may direct the trustee how to vote the shares of common stock allocated to his or her account. The ESOP trustee will vote all unallocated shares of Generations Bancorp common stock held by the ESOP and all allocated shares for which no voting instructions are received, in the same proportion as shares for which it has received timely voting instructions, and the 401(k) Plan trustee will vote all shares for which it has received timely voting instruction cards for the ESOP and the 401(k) Plan is February 13, 2025.

Voting by Proxy. Generations Bancorp's board of directors is sending you this proxy statement to request that you allow your shares of Generations Bancorp common stock to be represented at the special meeting by the persons named as proxies on the enclosed proxy card. Stockholders who execute proxies in the form solicited hereby retain the right to revoke them in the manner described below under the heading "Revocation of Proxies." Unless so revoked, the shares represented by such proxies will be voted at the special meeting and at any and all adjournments or postponements. Proxies solicited on behalf of the board of directors of Generations Bancorp will be voted according to the directions given thereon. If you sign, date and return a proxy card without giving voting instructions, your shares will be voted as recommended by Generations Bancorp's board of directors. The board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote "FOR" the approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale and "FOR" approval of the Company Dissolution.

Voting by Telephone or Via the Internet. Instead of voting by mailing a proxy card, registered stockholders can vote their shares of Generations Bancorp common stock by telephone or via the Internet. The telephone and Internet voting procedures are designed to authenticate stockholders' identities, allow stockholders to provide their voting instructions and confirm that their instructions have been recorded properly. Specific instructions for telephone and internet voting are set forth on the proxy card. The deadline for voting by telephone or via the Internet is 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on February 19, 2025.

Voting Agreements. Each director of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank, solely in the director's individual capacity as a stockholder of Generations Bancorp, and each non-director executive officer of Generations Bancorp and/or Generations Bank, have entered into a voting agreement with ESL, in which each individual has agreed, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the voting agreement, to vote the shares of Generations Bancorp common stock beneficially owned by him or her in favor of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale and in favor of the Company Dissolution, as well as agreeing to certain other customary restrictions with respect to the voting and transfer of his or her shares of Generations Bancorp common stock. As of the close of business on the Record Date, a total of 119,728 shares of Generations Bancorp common stock, representing approximately 5.3% of the outstanding shares of Generations Bancorp common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting, are subject to the voting agreements.

REVOCATION OF PROXIES

Proxies may be revoked by sending written notice of revocation addressed to Generations Bancorp's Secretary, Generations Bancorp NY, Inc., 20 East Bayard Street, Seneca Falls, New York 13148, by submitting a signed later-dated proxy, by voting again by telephone or via the Internet no later than 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on February 19, 2025, or by voting in person at the special meeting. The presence of a stockholder at the special meeting, by itself, does not constitute revocation of a proxy.

PROPOSAL 1 – APPROVAL OF THE P&A AGREEMENT AND THE BANK ASSET SALE

The information in this proxy statement regarding the P&A Agreement, the Bank Asset Sale and the other transactions contemplated by the P&A Agreement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the P&A Agreement, which is attached as <u>Appendix A</u> and incorporated by reference into this proxy statement. You should read the P&A Agreement in its entirety.

General

As soon as practicable after the conditions to consummation of the Bank Asset Sale have been satisfied or waived, and unless the P&A Agreement has been terminated as discussed below, Generations Bank will sell substantially all of its assets to ESL and ESL will assume substantially all of Generations Bank's liabilities (including deposit liabilities) for \$26.2 million in cash and Generations Bank will additionally retain its equity, subject to possible downward adjustment as described under the heading "– Consideration to be Received by Stockholders."

The Bank Asset Sale is the first integral step in the Sale Transaction contemplated by the P&A Agreement. The Sale Transaction consists of (i) the Bank Asset Sale, (ii) the Bank Liquidation, including the distribution of Generations Bank's remaining assets to Generations Bancorp pursuant to a Plan of Voluntary Liquidation, and (iii) the Company Dissolution, including the distribution of Generations Bancorp's remaining assets to Generations Bancorp stockholders.

If the Sale Transaction is completed, Generations Bancorp estimates that stockholders would receive between \$18.00 and \$20.00 in cash for each share of Generations Bancorp common stock that they own. *This estimated consideration per share is based on numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on several factors that are discussed under the heading "– Consideration to be Received by Stockholders."* You should read the description under that heading, as well as the remainder of this proxy statement, before voting on the Sale Transaction. Further, in addition to the factors that could affect the consideration process, unanticipated expenses and liabilities will arise, and such unanticipated expenses and liabilities may reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to stockholders. *Accordingly, stockholders should not assume that the ultimate per share consideration distributed to them will be within the estimated range of \$18.00 to \$20.00 per share.*

In addition to stockholder approval, completing the Bank Asset Sale and the Sale Transaction requires approval from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the "FDIC"), the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the "OCC"), the National Credit Union Administration (the "NCUA") and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "FRB"). Further, Generations Bank and Generations Bancorp must comply with FRB rules with respect to payments to be made by Generations Bank to eligible depositors of Generations Bank in satisfaction of the liquidation accounts established by Generations Bank and Generations Bancorp in connection with Generations Bank's "second-step conversion" in 2021 (the "Liquidation Accounts"). See "– Regulatory Approvals" and "– Liquidation Accounts" below.

Background of the Transaction

In January 2021, in connection with the second-step mutual to stock conversion of The Seneca Falls Savings Bank, MHC (the "mutual holding company"), Generation Bank's former mutual holding company, Generations Bancorp completed its initial public offering and became the stock holding company of Generations Bank. Since that time, Generations Bancorp's board of directors and senior management have periodically reviewed and assessed Generations' strategic alternatives and the business and regulatory environments facing Generations. Under federal regulations applicable to Generations, no person could acquire or offer to acquire the beneficial ownership of more than 10% of any class of Generations Bancorp's equity securities for three years following the completion of the mutual holding company's conversion transaction. This restriction ended in January 2024.

The board of directors periodically reviews the Company's strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats as a part of its business plan review to maximize stockholder value. Among the items considered by the board in early 2024 were the Company's recent adverse operating results and the potential impact of the recent unanticipated death of its long time President and Chief Executive Officer. The Board also noted that discussions in 2023 had terminated regarding the implementation of a major partnership which the board believed would have materially improved the organization's operating results.

As part of its strategic review, Generations' board of directors and senior management have periodically reviewed and discussed strategic alternatives, including a possible merger or sale transaction, and have consulted periodically with representatives of investment banking firms, including KBW, regarding strategic planning matters. Generations Bancorp's board of directors selected KBW to provide financial advisory assistance to Generations Bancorp in connection with a strategic review, including a possible merger or sale of the Company. KBW is a nationally recognized investment banking firm with substantial experience advising financial institutions with respect to mergers and acquisitions and other matters. Generations Bancorp's board of directors determined that KBW's existing relationships as disclosed to Generations Bancorp would not interfere with its ability to provide financial advisory services to Generations Bancorp.

On February 26, 2024, Generations Bancorp's board of directors met, with representatives of KBW attending, in connection with a strategic review. The board reviewed the Company's business plan including financial projections and discussed Generations Bancorp's strategic alternatives, including continued independence and potentially engaging in a strategic transaction, such as a merger or sale, and the perceived advantages and disadvantages of each alternative in light of the then prevailing market and economic conditions. The board of directors discussed that the fixed costs for an insured financial institution in today's highly competitive environment make it extremely challenging to operate profitably a small institution such as Generations Bank. The board then considered the longer-term challenges in the banking industry, including steadily increasing IT and other overhead expenses, cyber security threats, an increased need for scale, the ability to continue to attract and retain quality employees, potential management succession issues and increased competition. The board of directors also noted that evolving technology competition in the banking business would require Generations to invest significantly in technology infrastructure, which would place additional pressure on profitability and profit margins.

At this meeting, representatives of KBW reviewed the current M&A environment nationally and in the New York region and discussed a group of 22 potential strategic partners which might have an interest in a potential business combination with Generations and the capacity to acquire Generations on terms which may be favorable to Generations Bancorp's stockholders. The board of directors discussed with the KBW representatives each of these parties, potential transaction structures and the process for soliciting non-binding indications of interest from potential interested parties by distributing a confidential information memorandum ("CIM"), conditioned upon executing a confidentiality agreement.

After lengthy discussion, it was the consensus of the board of directors that, given Generations' size, prevailing economic conditions, and other factors, it would be in the best interest of its stockholders for the Company to explore a strategic transaction.

After further discussion, the board of directors authorized preparation of a CIM for distribution to the potential interested parties discussed with the board by the KBW representatives, including both banks and credit unions, primarily in New York but also in neighboring states, as well as investor groups.

During March and April 2024, Generations' senior management with the assistance of KBW prepared a CIM, and the Generations board was updated at board meetings. Thereafter, Generations populated a virtual data room containing financial and other information regarding Generations.

In April 2024, in accordance with the directives of Generations Bancorp's board of directors, KBW contacted the 22 potential interested parties, without revealing the identity of Generations Bancorp. Following this outreach, 13 parties signed confidentiality agreements, and the identity of Generations Bancorp was disclosed to them. The 13 parties that signed confidentiality agreements were provided a CIM and granted access to a virtual data room containing financial and other information regarding Generations. As a result of this solicitation process, Generations Bancorp received one non-binding indication of interest letter (an "IOI") from ESL and one verbal proposal from a bank (COMPANY A).

On May 22, 2024, Generations Bancorp's board of directors met, with representatives of KBW and legal counsel attending, to review the results of the solicitation process and the terms of the IOI received from ESL and the verbal proposal from COMPANY A. COMPANY A's proposal was a non-detailed verbal proposal for an all-stock merger transaction at a per share price of \$10.00. This proposal did not address a number of requested items raised in the CIM. In contrast, ESL's IOI was detailed, addressing each of the requested items in the CIM.

Generations Bancorp's board of directors next discussed Generations Bancorp's current business plan and financial projections and the challenges of remaining independent. The board of directors then discussed, as it had done in the past, credit union acquisitions of banks including the likely structure and the advantages and disadvantages thereof. In this regard, the board noted that a transaction with ESL would likely be structured as a taxable purchase of assets and liabilities which would mean that the board will need to take into account among other things, the corporate tax and liquidation account implications of the transaction, excluded assets, a potentially longer and more complex regulatory review process and a post-conversion winddown process. In contrast, a transaction with a bank could be structured as a tax-free merger. The board then thoroughly discussed ESL's IOI and COMPANY A's proposal, including the financial and managerial resources of the parties submitting them, the proposed form of consideration and their ability to pay, the deal terms, execution risks and any contingencies.

In the case of COMPANY A, the board reviewed relevant data concerning the pricing, liquidity, dividends and merits of the stock both currently and on a *pro forma* basis. With respect to the ESL proposal, the board of directors reviewed at length estimates of the tax liability on the transaction, the liquidation account payout, the deal expenses in the closing Bank level equity, all of which will likely bear on the final consideration to be received by stockholders. In addition, the board of directors reviewed in great detail an initial model of the potential per share value of the ESL proposal. The board also reviewed the assets expected to be excluded from the transaction and considered the process that would be required to resolve them. Finally, the board of directors noted the potential impact on Generations' other stakeholders of the ESL proposal. After further discussion, the board determined that due to the materially lower pricing of the COMPANY A verbal proposal, as well as its absence of specificity, and after discussing with the KBW representatives the likelihood that the \$10.00 per share consideration was COMPANY A's highest proposal, the board determined that further negotiations with COMPANY A were not in the best interest of Generations or its stockholders.

The board unanimously resolved to move forward and continue negotiations with ESL and authorized management, with assistance of KBW and legal counsel, to negotiate and finalize the IOI. On June 6, 2024, Generations countersigned ESL's LOI which contained a 60-day exclusivity period from the date of signing.

In June 2024, the parties conducted extensive due diligence and on July 19, 2024 ESL's counsel distributed an initial draft of the P&A Agreement to Generations' legal counsel.

During July the parties negotiated the P&A Agreement and on August 5, 2024 the parties entered into an amendment to the IOI to extend the exclusivity date until September 30, 2024. In connection with this extension, the board conferred with KBW which confirmed that it had received no additional contacts from other parties showing interest in a potential transaction with Generations.

Between July 19 and September 23, multiple drafts of the P&A Agreement were exchanged and representatives of ESL's legal counsel and representatives of Generations' legal counsel participated in calls to discuss open issues, which included deal protections, termination fees, the conduct of Generations' business before closing, certain representations and warranties, and employee matters. During this time period, ESL conducted further due diligence on Generations and Generations conducted reverse due diligence on ESL.

Generations' board of directors also met on July 29, 2024 and August 26, 2024, at which meetings it discussed the transaction. Among the issues to be considered were updates regarding the P&A Agreement negotiations, and additional information regarding the identification and resolution of excluded assets. The board also reviewed multiple drafts of the per share pricing model which was updated to incorporate new information in assumptions.

Generations' board of directors met on September 23, 2024, with representatives of KBW and legal counsel attending, to consider the approval of the P&A Agreement and the transactions contemplated by it. Before the meeting, senior management distributed to each director the proposed P&A Agreement and ancillary documents, and a financial presentation from KBW to Generations' board of directors. Among other things, the board reviewed in depth a detailed financial model showing the potential per share price range. This model included the material payments to be made by Generations, including payouts of the Liquidation Accounts and the estimated taxes to be paid as a result of the Bank Asset Sale being a taxable transaction. The board also reviewed in detail the non-pricing terms and conditions of the proposed P&A Agreement, including, but not limited to, the transaction structure, excluded assets and liabilities, the respective representations, warranties and covenants made by Generations and ESL, the closing conditions, and the respective termination rights of Generations and ESL, including the termination fee to be paid by Generations in the event of its acceptance of a superior proposal.

The board of directors reviewed all aspects of the Sale Transaction process, including Generations' current financial position, performance and prospects; its decision to pursue a strategic transaction; the process used to identify potential strategic partners and solicit proposals; then current economic and stock market conditions, including the current interest rate environment; the impact of the OCC Agreement; Generations' due diligence investigation of ESL, including its financial condition and ability to consummate the transaction from a financial and regulatory standpoint; the terms and conditions of the proposed P&A Agreement; the value of the proposed consideration; and the impact of the proposed Sale Transaction on Generations Bancorp's stockholders and other constituencies. All issues posed by the directors were addressed by senior management, representatives of KBW or representatives of legal counsel, as appropriate. At this meeting, KBW reviewed the financial aspects of the proposed transaction and rendered to Generations Bancorp's board of directors an opinion to the effect that, as of such date and subject to the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters considered, and qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken by KBW as set forth in its opinion, the \$26.2 million purchase price in the Bank Asset Sale, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (as defined in KBW's opinion), was fair, from a financial point of view, to Generations Bancorp. After considering the proposed P&A Agreement, and ancillary documents, and the matters discussed at the meeting and at prior meetings of the board of directors, the board of directors voted unanimously to adopt and approve the proposed P&A Agreement, to recommend that Generations Bancorp's stockholders vote to approve the proposed P&A Agreement, and to authorize management to execute and deliver the P&A Agreement, and ancillary documents, on behalf of Generations.

On September 23, 2024, Generations Bancorp, Generations Bank and ESL executed the P&A Agreement. On September 24, 2024, before the opening of trading on the stock markets, Generations and ESL issued a joint press release to publicize the execution of the P&A Agreement.

Generations Bancorp's and Generations Bank's Reasons for Entering into the P&A Agreement, the Bank Asset Sale and the Other Transactions Contemplated Thereby, and Recommendation of Generations Bancorp's Board of Directors

Generations Bancorp's and Generations Bank's boards of directors reviewed and discussed the P&A Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby with management and Generations Bancorp's and Generations Bank's legal counsel and KBW as Generations Bancorp's financial advisor in determining that the P&A Agreement and the transactions contemplated by it are in the best interests of Generations Bancorp and its stockholders. In reaching its conclusion to approve the P&A Agreement and the transactions contemplated by it, the boards of directors considered a number of factors. The material factors considered by the boards of directors were as follows:

• Their understanding of the business, operations, financial condition, earnings and future prospects of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank, including the challenges of management and staff

succession and of competing as a small institution with limited resources compared to larger institutions;

- Their recognition of Generations Bank's need to grow and that the ability to grow organically or through acquisitions was limited;
- The current and prospective environment in the financial services industry, including economic conditions and the interest rate and regulatory environments, the accelerating pace of technological change in the financial services industry, operating costs resulting from regulatory and compliance mandates, scale and marketing expenses, increasing competition from both banks and non-bank financial and financial technology firms, current financial market conditions, current employment market conditions and the likely effects of these factors on Generations Bancorp's potential growth, development, productivity and strategic options both with and without the Bank Asset Sale;
- ESL's ability to pay the purchase price and obtain regulatory approval for the Bank Asset Sale, taking into account Generations Bancorp's and Generations Bank's due diligence investigation of ESL;
- The projected amount of distributions to be received by Generations Bancorp's shareholders in relation to the market value, book value and earnings per share of Generations Bancorp's common stock;
- The solicitation process conducted by Generations Bancorp with the assistance of KBW, and the boards' belief that a transaction with ESL offered the best value reasonably available to Generations Bancorp and its shareholders;
- That the consideration is all cash, so that the Bank Asset Sale and Sale Transaction will provide Generations Bancorp's shareholders with certainty regarding the ultimate value of the consideration;
- The complementary nature of the respective markets, culture, customers and asset/liability mix of Generations Bank and ESL;
- The historical market prices and the then current market price of shares of Generations Bancorp's common stock;
- The review by the boards of directors, with the assistance of legal counsel, of the terms of the P&A Agreement and the structure of the transactions contemplated by it, including:
 - the taxable nature of the cash to be paid to both Generations Bank and Generations Bancorp shareholders;
 - the requirement for Generations Bank to pay eligible depositors the value of the liquidation accounts;
 - the provisions of the P&A Agreement that allow Generations Bancorp, under limited circumstances, to furnish information to and conduct negotiations with third parties regarding a business combination;
 - the provisions of the P&A Agreement that enable Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank to terminate the P&A Agreement to accept a superior proposal, as defined in the P&A Agreement, subject to paying ESL a \$1.64 million cash termination fee;
- The impact of the transactions contemplated by the P&A Agreement on the depositors, employees, customers and communities served by Generations Bank; and

• In the case of Generations Bancorp's board of directors, the opinion, dated September 23, 2024, of KBW to Generations Bancorp's board of directors as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to Generations Bancorp of the \$26.2 million purchase price in the Bank Asset Sale, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (as defined in KBW's opinion), as more fully described below under "Opinion of Generations Bancorp's Financial Advisor."

Generations Bancorp's board of directors also considered potential risks associated with the transactions contemplated by the P&A Agreement in connection with its deliberations of the proposed transaction, including:

- The interests of Generations Bancorp's executive officers and directors with respect to the transactions contemplated by the P&A Agreement apart from their interests as stockholders of Generations Bancorp, and the risk that these interests might influence their decision with respect to the Sale Transaction. See " Interests of Certain Persons in the Sale Transaction that are Different from Yours";
- The risk that the P&A Agreement provision relating to the payment of a termination fee under specified circumstances, although required by ESL as a condition to entering into a definitive agreement, could discourage other parties that might be interested in a transaction with Generations Bancorp and/or Generations Bank from proposing it;
- The risk that the terms of the P&A Agreement, including provisions relating to the possible downward adjustment to the cash consideration paid to Generations Bancorp stockholders could result in lower than expected consideration ultimately received by Generations Bancorp's stockholders;
- Uncertainties regarding the amount of cash to be ultimately distributed to Generations Bancorp's stockholders as a result of expenses incurred by Generations Bancorp;
- The risk that the proposed transaction may not be approved by applicable banking and credit union regulators, or may contain conditions to approval that may make the proposed transaction less appealing to Generations Bancorp and its stockholders; and
- The likelihood that a transaction with a credit union would take longer to complete than a merger with a bank.

Generations Bancorp's and Generations Bank's boards of directors evaluated the factors described above and reached consensus that the P&A Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby were in the best interests of Generations Bancorp and its stockholders. Accordingly, the board of directors unanimously approved the P&A Agreement and unanimously recommends that Generations Bancorp stockholders vote "<u>FOR</u>" approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale and "<u>FOR</u>" approval of the Company Dissolution.

The foregoing discussion of the information and factors considered by both Generations Bancorp's board of directors and Generations Bank's board of directors is not intended to be exhaustive but constitutes the material factors considered by the boards of directors. In reaching its determination to approve and recommend the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale, neither Generations Bancorp's board of directors nor Generations Bank's board of directors differently. The terms of the P&A Agreement were the product of arm's length negotiations between representatives of Generations Bancorp, Generations Bank and ESL.

Opinion of Generations Bancorp's Financial Advisor

Generations Bancorp engaged Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc. ("KBW") to render financial advisory and investment banking services to Generations Bancorp, including an opinion to the Generations Bancorp board of directors as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to Generations Bancorp of the purchase price in the Bank Asset Sale. Generations Bancorp selected KBW because KBW is a nationally recognized investment banking firm

with substantial experience in transactions similar to the Bank Asset Sale. As part of its investment banking business, KBW is continually engaged in the valuation of banking enterprises.

As part of its engagement, representatives of KBW attended the meeting of the Generations Bancorp board of directors held on September 23, 2024, at which the Generations Bancorp's board of directors evaluated the proposed transaction. At this meeting, KBW reviewed the financial aspects of the proposed transaction and rendered to the Generations Bancorp board of directors an opinion to the effect that, as of such date and subject to the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters considered, and qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken by KBW as set forth in its opinion, the purchase price in the Bank Asset Sale, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (as defined in KBW's opinion), was fair, from a financial point of view, to Generations Bancorp. The "Related Transaction Matters" were defined in KBW's opinion as (a) the retention by Generations Bank of the Excluded Assets, including certain assets in the amount of the total consolidated equity capital of Generations Bank estimated as of the last day of the month immediately preceding the date of the closing of the Bank Asset Sale, less certain reductions and additions, (b) if applicable regulators direct that Generations Bank liquidate and make distributions to depositors from the Liquidation Accounts, the potential setting aside by Generations Bank of cash before or after the closing of the Bank Asset Sale for the purpose of funding the Liquidation Accounts, (c) following the Bank Asset Sale, the dissolution and liquidation of Generations Bank and the distribution of its assets to Generations Bancorp, (d) the subsequent distribution by Generations Bancorp of its assets to its stockholders and (e) the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan. The Generations Bancorp board of directors approved the P&A Agreement at the September 23, 2024 meeting.

The description of the opinion set forth herein is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion, which is attached as <u>Appendix B</u> to this document and is incorporated herein by reference, and describes the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters considered, and qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken by KBW in preparing the opinion.

KBW's opinion speaks only as of the date of the opinion. KBW's opinion is included in this document solely because it was considered by the Generations Bancorp board of directors in connection with the Bank Asset Sale. The opinion was for the information of, and was directed to, the Generations Bancorp board of directors (in its capacity as such) in connection with its consideration of the financial terms of the Bank Asset Sale and is not to be relied upon by any other entity or person or used for any other purpose. The opinion addressed only the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the purchase price in the Bank Asset Sale to Generations Bancorp. It did not address the underlying business decision of Generations Bancorp to engage in the Bank Asset Sale or enter into the P&A Agreement or constitute a recommendation to the Generations Bancorp board of directors in connection with the Bank Asset Sale, and it does not constitute a recommendation to any holder of common stock of Generations Bancorp as to how to vote or act in connection with the Bank Asset Sale or any other matter, nor does it constitute a recommendation regarding whether or not any such stockholder should enter into a voting, support, stockholders' or similar agreement with respect to the Bank Asset Sale or exercise any dissenters' or appraisal rights that may be available to such stockholder.

KBW's opinion was reviewed and approved by KBW's Fairness Opinion Committee in conformity with its policies and procedures established under the requirements of Rule 5150 of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.

In connection with the opinion, KBW reviewed, analyzed and relied upon material bearing upon the financial and operating condition of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and bearing upon the Bank Asset Sale and the Related Transaction Matters, including among other things:

- an execution version of the P&A Agreement dated September 23, 2024;
- the audited financial statements and the Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the three fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 of Generations Bancorp;
- the unaudited quarterly financial statements and the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2024 and June 30, 2024 of Generations Bancorp;

- certain regulatory filings of Generations Bank, including, as applicable, the quarterly call reports required to be filed (as the case may be) with respect to each quarter during the three-year period ended December 31, 2023 as well as the quarters ended March 31, 2024 and June 30, 2024;
- certain other interim reports and other communications of Generations Bancorp to its shareholders; and
- other financial information concerning the business and operations of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank furnished to KBW by Generations Bancorp or which KBW was otherwise directed to use for purposes of its analyses.

KBW's consideration of financial information and other factors that it deemed appropriate under the circumstances or relevant to its analyses included, among others, the following:

- the historical and current financial position and results of operations of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank;
- the assets and liabilities of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank;
- the nature and terms of certain other mergers and acquisitions transactions and business combinations in the banking industry;
- a comparison of certain financial and stock market information for Generations Bancorp with similar information for certain other companies, the securities of which were publicly traded;
- financial and operating forecasts and projections of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank that were prepared by Generations Bancorp management, provided to KBW and discussed with KBW by such management, and used and relied upon by KBW at the direction of such management and with the consent of the Generations Bancorp board of directors; and
- pro forma estimates regarding the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters, that were prepared by Generations Bancorp management, provided to KBW and discussed with KBW by such management, and used and relied upon by KBW at the direction of such management and with the consent of the Generations Bancorp board of directors.

KBW also performed such other studies and analyses as it considered appropriate and took into account its assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions and its experience in other transactions, as well as its experience in securities valuation and knowledge of the banking industry generally. KBW also participated in discussions that were held with the management of Generations Bancorp regarding the past and current business operations, regulatory relations, financial condition and future prospects of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and such other matters as KBW deemed relevant to its inquiry. In addition, KBW considered the results of the efforts undertaken by Generations Bancorp, with KBW's assistance, to solicit indications of interest from third parties regarding a potential transaction with Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank.

In conducting its review and arriving at its opinion, KBW relied upon and assumed the accuracy and completeness of all of the financial and other information that was provided to or discussed with it or that was publicly available and KBW did not independently verify the accuracy or completeness of any such information or assume any responsibility or liability for such verification, accuracy or completeness. KBW relied upon the management of Generations Bancorp as to the reasonableness and achievability of the financial and operating forecasts and projections of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and the pro forma estimates regarding the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters, all as referred to above (and the assumptions and bases therefor), and KBW assumed that all such information was reasonably prepared and represented the best currently available estimates and judgments of Generations Bancorp management and, in the case of such pro forma estimates, would be realized in the amounts currently estimated by such management.

It is understood that the forecasts, projections and estimates provided to KBW were not prepared with the expectation of public disclosure and that all of the foregoing financial information was based on numerous variables and assumptions that are inherently uncertain (including, without limitation, factors related to general economic and competitive conditions and, in particular, the widespread disruption, extraordinary uncertainty and unusual volatility arising from global tensions and political unrest, economic uncertainty, inflation, prolonged higher interest rates, the COVID-19 pandemic and, in the case of the banking industry, recent actual or threatened regional bank failures, including the effect of evolving governmental interventions and non-interventions) and, accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from those set forth in such forecasts and projections. KBW relied on all of the foregoing

financial information of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank that was provided to or discussed with KBW without independent verification or analysis and did not in any respect assume any responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness thereof. KBW assumed, based on discussions with Generations Bancorp management and with the consent of the Generations Bancorp board of directors, that all such information provided a reasonable basis upon which KBW could form its opinion (notwithstanding, among other things, that the transaction would be effected as an asset sale) and KBW expressed no view as to any such information or the assumptions or bases therefor. KBW's opinion was based primarily in reliance of a comparison of the results indicated by our analyses of Generations Bancorp with estimates of the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters, as indicated in the pro forma estimates referred to above.

KBW also assumed that there were no material changes in the assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations, business or prospects of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank since the date of the last financial statements that were made available to KBW. KBW is not an expert in the independent verification of the adequacy of allowances for credit losses and KBW assumed, without independent verification and with Generations Bancorp's consent, that the aggregate allowances for credit losses for Generations Bank are adequate to cover such losses. In rendering its opinion, KBW did not make or obtain any evaluations or appraisals or physical inspection of the property, assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank, the collateral securing any of such assets or liabilities, or the collectability of any such assets, nor did KBW examine any individual loan or credit files, nor did it evaluate the solvency, financial capability or fair value of Generations Bancorp, Generations Bank or ESL under any state or federal laws, including those relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or other matters. KBW made note of the classification by Generations Bank of its loans and owned securities as either held to maturity or held for investment, on the one hand, or held for sale or available for sale, on the other hand, and also reviewed reported fair value marks-to-market and other reported valuation information, if any, relating to such loans or owned securities contained in the financial statements of Generations Bank, but KBW expressed no view as to any such matters. Estimates of values of companies and assets do not purport to be appraisals or necessarily reflect the prices at which companies or assets may actually be sold. Such estimates are inherently subject to uncertainty and should not be taken as KBW's view of the actual value of any companies or assets.

KBW assumed that, in all respects material to its analyses:

- the Bank Asset Sale and any related transactions would be completed substantially in accordance with the terms set forth in the P&A Agreement (the final terms of which KBW assumed would not differ in any respect material to KBW's analyses from the draft version of the P&A Agreement reviewed by KBW referred to above) with no adjustments to the purchase price in the Bank Asset Sale;
- the representations and warranties of each party in the P&A Agreement and in all related documents and instruments referred to in the P&A Agreement were true and correct;
- each party to the P&A Agreement and all related documents would perform all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by such party under such documents;
- there were no factors that would delay or subject to any adverse conditions, any necessary regulatory or governmental approval for the Bank Asset Sale or any related transactions and that all conditions to the completion of the Bank Asset Sale and any related transactions would be satisfied without any waivers or modifications to the P&A Agreement or any of the related documents; and
- in the course of obtaining the necessary regulatory, contractual, or other consents or approvals for the Bank Asset Sale and any related transactions, no restrictions, including any divestiture requirements, termination or other payments or amendments or modifications, would be imposed that would have a material adverse effect on the Bank Asset Sale or the future results of operations or financial condition of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank.

KBW assumed that the Bank Asset Sale would be consummated in a manner that complies with the applicable provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as applicable, and all other applicable federal and state statutes, rules and regulations. KBW was further advised by Generations Bancorp that Generations Bancorp relied upon advice from its advisors (other than KBW) or other appropriate sources as to all legal, financial reporting, tax, accounting and regulatory matters with respect to Generations Bancorp, Generations Bank, the Bank Asset Sale and any related transactions, and the P&A Agreement. KBW did not provide advice with respect to any such matters.

KBW's opinion addressed only the fairness, from a financial point of view, as of the date of such opinion, to Generations Bancorp of the purchase price, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters. KBW expressed no view or opinion as to any other terms or aspects of the Bank Asset Sale or any term or aspect of any related transactions (including any payments or distributions to be made in connection with the Related Transaction Matters), including without limitation, the form or structure of the Bank Asset Sale or any such related transactions, any consequences of the Bank Asset Sale or any such related transactions to Generations Bank, Generations Bancorp, its shareholders, creditors or otherwise, or any terms, aspects, merits or implications of any employment, consulting, non-solicitation, voting, support, shareholder, lease, license or other agreements, arrangements or understandings contemplated or entered into in connection with the Bank Asset Sale, any such related transactions, or otherwise. KBW's opinion was necessarily based upon conditions as they existed and could be evaluated on the date of such opinion and the information made available to KBW through the date of such opinion. There has been significant volatility in the stock and other financial markets arising from global tensions and political unrest, economic uncertainty, inflation, prolonged higher interest rates, the COVID-19 pandemic and, in the case of the banking industry, recent actual or threatened regional bank failures, including the effect of evolving governmental interventions and non-interventions. Developments subsequent to the date of KBW's opinion may have affected, and may affect, the conclusion reached in KBW's opinion and KBW did not and does not have an obligation to update, revise or reaffirm its opinion. KBW's opinion did not address, and KBW expressed no view or opinion with respect to:

- the underlying business decision of Generations Bancorp to engage in the Bank Asset Sale or any related transactions or enter into the P&A Agreement;
- the relative merits of the Bank Asset Sale or any related transactions as compared to any strategic alternatives that are, have been or may be available to or contemplated by Generations Bancorp or the Generations Bancorp board of directors;
- any wind-down, dissolution or other plans with respect to Generations Bank or Generations Bancorp that may be currently contemplated by Generations Bancorp or the Board or that may be implemented by Generations Bank or Generations Bancorp or the Board subsequent to the closing of the Bank Asset Sale;
- the fairness of the amount or nature of any compensation to any of Generations Bancorp's or Generations Bank's officers, directors or employees, or any class of such persons, relative to any compensation to the shareholders of Generations Bancorp or relative to the purchase price;
- the effect of the Bank Asset Sale or any related transactions on, or the fairness of any consideration to be received by, holders of any class of securities of Generations Bancorp, Generations Bank or any other party to any transaction contemplated by the P&A Agreement;
- whether ESL has sufficient cash, available lines of credit or other sources of funds to enable the purchase price to be paid to Generations Bank at the closing of the Bank Asset Sale;
- the prices, trading range or volume at which Generations Bancorp common stock would trade following the public announcement of the Bank Asset Sale or following the consummation of the Bank Asset Sale;
- any adjustment (as provided in the P&A Agreement) to the purchase price assumed for purposes of KBW's opinion;
- any allocation of the purchase price among the assets acquired by ESL under the P&A Agreement;
- what the actual amount of any shareholder distribution from Generations Bank to Generations Bancorp or from Generations Bancorp to its shareholders would be;
- any advice or opinions provided by any other advisor to any of the parties to the Bank Asset Sale or any other transaction contemplated by the P&A Agreement; or
- any legal, regulatory, accounting, tax or similar matters relating to Generations Bank, Generations Bancorp or its shareholders, or relating to or arising out of or as a consequence of the Bank Asset Sale or any related transactions.

In performing its analyses, KBW made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, economic, market and financial conditions and other matters, which are beyond the control of KBW, Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank. Any estimates contained in the analyses performed by KBW are not necessarily indicative of actual values or future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by these analyses. Additionally, estimates of the value of businesses or securities do not purport to be

appraisals or to reflect the prices at which such businesses or securities might actually be sold. Accordingly, these analyses and estimates are inherently subject to substantial uncertainty. In addition, the KBW opinion was among several factors taken into consideration by the Generations Bancorp board of directors in making its determination to approve the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale. Consequently, the analyses described below should not be viewed as determinative of the decision of the Generations Bancorp board of directors with respect to the fairness of the purchase price. The type and amount of consideration payable in the Bank Asset Sale were determined through negotiation between Generations Bancorp and ESL, and the decision of Generations Bancorp to enter into the P&A Agreement was solely that of Generations Bancorp's and Generations Bank's board of directors.

The following is a summary of the material financial analyses presented by KBW to the Generations Bancorp board of directors in connection with its opinion. The summary is not a complete description of the financial analyses underlying the opinion or the presentation made by KBW to the Generations Bancorp board of directors, but summarizes the material analyses performed and presented in connection with such opinion. The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analyses. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex analytic process involving various determinations as to appropriate and relevant methods of financial analysis and the application of those methods to the particular circumstances. Therefore, a fairness opinion is not readily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. In arriving at its opinion, KBW did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor that it considered, but rather made qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor. Accordingly, KBW believes that its analyses and factors or focusing on the information presented below in tabular format, without considering all analyses and factors or the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the process underlying its analyses and opinion.

Selected Companies Analysis – Selected New York Public Banks and Thrifts. Using publicly available information, KBW compared the financial performance, financial condition and market performance of Generations Bancorp to eight public banks and thrifts headquartered in New York with total assets less than \$1.0 billion. Merger targets and mutual holding companies were excluded from the selected companies.

The selected companies were as follows (shown by column in descending order of total assets):

Ballston Spa Bancorp, Inc.	ES Bancshares, Inc.
Carver Bancorp, Inc.	NBC Bancorp, Inc.
Jeffersonville Bancorp	Delhi Bank Corp.
Glenville Bank Holding Company, Inc.	Gouverneur Bancorp, Inc.

To perform this analysis, KBW used profitability data and other financial information as of or for the most recent quarter ("MRQ") or latest 12 months ("LTM") ended June 30, 2024 and market pricing data as of September 19, 2024 (June 30, 2024 tangible book value and one-year total return data was not then publicly available for one of the selected companies). Where consolidated holding company level financial data was unreported, subsidiary bank level data was utilized to calculate ratios (subsidiary bank level data necessary to calculate CET1 Ratio and Total Capital Ratio were also not then publicly available for two of the selected companies). Certain financial data presented in the tables below may not correspond to the data presented in Generations Bancorp's historical financial statements as a result of the different periods, assumptions and methods used by KBW to compute the financial data presented.

KBW's analysis showed the following concerning the financial performance of Generations Bancorp and the selected companies:

			Selected	Companies	
	Generations Bancorp	Average	Median	25th Percentile	75th Percentile
MRQ Core Return on Average Assets ⁽¹⁾	(0.83%)	0.38%	0.46%	0.33%	0.61%
MRQ Core Return on Average Tangible Common Equity ⁽¹⁾	(9.5%)	0.0%	5.7%	3.3%	7.8%
MRQ Net Interest Margin	2.05%	3.10%	2.92%	2.36%	4.02%
MRQ Fee Income / Revenue Ratio ⁽²⁾	19.2%	12.8%	12.5%	10.7%	14.9%
MRQ Efficiency Ratio	131.3%	83.9%	79.9%	88.6%	74.6%

(1) Based on core net income after taxes and before extraordinary items, less net income attributable to noncontrolling interest, gain on the sale of held to maturity and available for sale securities, amortization of intangibles, goodwill and non-recurring items as defined by S&P Global.

(2) Excluded gains/losses on sale of securities.

KBW's analysis also showed the following concerning the financial condition of Generations Bancorp and, to the extent publicly available, the selected companies:

		Selected Companies			
	Generations Bancorp	Average	Median	25th Percentile	75th Percentile
Tangible Common Equity / Tangible Assets	8.7%	8.1%	7.3%	7.0%	9.0%
CET1 Ratio	13.0%	13.3%	13.1%	10.8%	15.1%
Total Capital Ratio	14.1%	15.5%	14.3%	12.2%	16.4%
Loans / Deposits	96.0%	87.6%	86.1%	80.0%	100.0%
Loan Loss Reserve / Loans	0.98%	0.98%	0.99%	0.89%	1.14%
Nonperforming Assets / Loans + OREO	0.97%	0.69%	0.45%	1.00%	0.32%
Net Charge-offs / Average Loans	0.31%	0.05%	0.00%	0.11%	0.00%

In addition, KBW's analysis showed the following concerning the market performance of Generations Bancorp and, to the extent publicly available, the selected companies (excluding the impact of LTM earnings per share ("EPS") multiples for three of the selected companies, which multiples were considered to be not meaningful ("NM") because they were negative or greater than 30.0x):

		Selected Companies			
	Generations Bancorp	Average	Median	25th Percentile	75th Percentile
One-Year Stock Price Change	25.1%	5.1%	2.5%	(2.0%)	6.5%
One-Year Total Return	25.1%	6.4%	9.7%	(5.8%)	11.7%
Year-To-Date Stock Price Change	7.3%	3.3%	2.0%	(1.7%)	6.4%
Price / Tangible Book Value Per Share	0.70x	0.98x	0.69x	0.63x	0.97x
Price / LTM EPS	NM	11.4x	9.1x	7.6x	14.4x
Dividend Yield	0.0%	1.3%	1.5%	0.0%	2.3%
LTM Dividend Payout Ratio	0.0%	19.1%	12.9%	0.0%	22.2%

No company used in the above-selected companies' analysis is identical to Generations Bancorp. Accordingly, an analysis of these results is not mathematical. Rather, it involved complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of the companies involved.

Selected Companies Analysis – Selected Public Banks and Thrifts with LTM Net Loss. Using publicly available information, KBW compared the financial performance, financial condition and market performance of Generations Bancorp to 19 public U.S. banks and thrifts with total assets less than \$1.0 billion and LTM net loss. Merger targets, mutual holding companies and Silvergate Capital Corporation were excluded from the selected companies.

The selected companies were as follows (shown by column in descending order of total assets):

Bancorp 34, Inc.	Pacific West Bancorp
Carver Bancorp, Inc.	VWF Bancorp, Inc.
Savi Financial Corporation, Inc.	Catalyst Bancorp, Inc.
Woodlands Financial Services Company	NSTS Bancorp, Inc.
First Seacoast Bancorp, Inc.	Gateway Bank, F.S.B.
U & I Financial Corp.	WCF Bancorp, Inc.
1895 Bancorp of Wisconsin, Inc.	Heritage NOLA Bancorp, Inc.
Triad Business Bank	California Business Bank
Fifth District Bancorp, Inc.	Beach Cities Commercial Bank
Texas Community Bancshares, Inc.	

To perform this analysis, KBW used profitability data and other financial information as of or for the most recent quarter or latest 12 months ended June 30, 2024 and market pricing data as of September 19, 2024 (one-year total return data was not then publicly available for one of the selected companies and other information was not applicable for two of the selected companies which began trading in 2024). Where consolidated holding company level financial data was unreported, subsidiary bank level data was utilized to calculate ratios (subsidiary bank level data necessary to calculate CET1 Ratio and Total Capital Ratio were also not then publicly available for seven of the selected companies). Certain financial data presented in the tables below may not correspond to the data presented in Generations Bancorp's historical financial statements as a result of the different periods, assumptions and methods used by KBW to compute the financial data presented.

KBW's analysis showed the following concerning the financial performance of Generations Bancorp and the selected companies:

			Selected	Companies	
	Generations Bancorp	Average	Median	25th Percentile	75th Percentile
MRQ Core Return on Average Assets ⁽¹⁾	(0.83%)	(0.46%)	(0.25%)	(0.53%)	0.42%
MRQ Core Return on Average Tangible Common Equity ⁽¹⁾	(9.5%)	(3.9%)	(1.7%)	(4.9%)	3.8%
MRQ Net Interest Margin	2.05%	2.82%	2.55%	2.27%	3.24%
MRQ Fee Income / Revenue Ratio ⁽²⁾	19.2%	12.6%	11.4%	7.4%	17.4%
MRQ Efficiency Ratio	131.3%	110.5%	110.0%	114.8%	86.3%

(1) Based on core net income after taxes and before extraordinary items, less net income attributable to noncontrolling interest, gain on the sale of held to maturity and available for sale securities, amortization of intangibles, goodwill and non-recurring items as defined by S&P Global.

(2) Excluded gains/losses on sale of securities.

KBW's analysis also showed the following concerning the financial condition of Generations Bancorp and the selected companies:

			Selected	Companies	
	Generations Bancorp	Average	Median	25th Percentile	75th Percentile
Tangible Common Equity / Tangible Assets	8.7%	12.7%	10.8%	9.1%	13.9%
CET1 Ratio	13.0%	17.4%	13.3%	11.8%	16.1%
Total Capital Ratio	14.1%	19.0%	14.5%	12.9%	17.2%
Loans / Deposits	96.0%	92.3%	95.6%	85.7%	102.1%
Loan Loss Reserve / Loans	0.98%	1.22%	1.10%	0.93%	1.27%
Nonperforming Assets / Loans + OREO	0.97%	0.51%	0.33%	0.57%	0.04%
Net Charge-offs / Average Loans	0.31%	(0.00%)	0.00%	0.01%	0.00%

In addition, KBW's analysis showed the following concerning the market performance of Generations Bancorp and, to the extent publicly available, the selected companies (excluding the impact of the LTM dividend payout ratios for three of the selected companies, which ratios were considered to be not meaningful because they were negative):

			Selected	Companies	
	Generations Bancorp	Average	Median	25th Percentile	75th Percentile
One-Year Stock Price Change	25.1%	0.4%	(4.5%)	(11.3%)	17.1%
One-Year Total Return	25.1%	(0.4%)	(3.3%)	(13.9%)	13.9%
Year-To-Date Stock Price Change	7.3%	3.2%	2.0%	(2.4%)	12.2%
Price / Tangible Book Value Per Share	0.70x	0.81x	0.76x	0.64x	0.93x
Dividend Yield	0.0%	0.5%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%
LTM Dividend Payout Ratio	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%

No company used in the above-selected companies' analysis is identical to Generations Bancorp. Accordingly, an analysis of these results is not mathematical. Rather, it involved complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of the companies involved.

Selected Transactions Analysis – Mid-Atlantic Transactions. KBW reviewed publicly available information related to 17 whole-bank transactions in the Mid-Atlantic U.S. (which region included Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, New York and Pennsylvania) announced since January 1, 2021 with announced deal values less than \$100 million.

The selected transactions were as follows:

Acquiror **ACNB** Corporation Princeton Bancorp, Inc. Hudson Valley Credit Union NexTier Incorporated CCFNB Bancorp, Inc. Mid Penn Bancorp, Inc. Summit Financial Group, Inc. The Bank of Princeton Citizens Financial Services, Inc. SR Bancorp, Inc. Rosedale Federal Savings and Loan Association Gouverneur Bancorp, Inc. Community Bank System, Inc. Newtek Business Services Corp. Spencer Savings Bank, Savings and Loan Association Rhodium BA Holdings LLC Fidelity D & D Bancorp, Inc.

Acquired Company Traditions Bancorp, Inc. Cornerstone Financial Corporation Catskill Hudson Bancorp, Inc. Mars Bancorp, Inc. Muncy Bank Financial, Inc. Brunswick Bancorp PSB Holding Corp. Noah Bank HV Bancorp, Inc. Regal Bancorp, Inc. CBM Bancorp, Inc. Citizens Bank of Cape Vincent Elmira Savings Bank National Bank of New York City Mariner's Bank Sunnyside Bancorp, Inc. Landmark Bancorp, Inc.

For each selected transaction, KBW derived the following implied transaction statistics to the extent publicly available, in each case based on the transaction consideration value paid for the acquired company and using financial data based on the latest publicly available financial statements for the acquired company available prior to the announcement of the respective transaction:

- Price per common share to tangible book value per share of the acquired company (in the case of one of the selected transactions involving a private acquired company, this transaction statistic was calculated as total transaction consideration divided by total tangible common equity);
- Tangible equity premium to core deposits (total deposits less time deposits greater than \$100,000) of the acquired company, referred to as core deposit premium; and
- Price per common share to LTM EPS of the acquired company (in the case of one of the selected transactions involving a private acquired company, this transaction statistic was calculated as total transaction consideration to LTM earnings).

The above transaction statistics for the selected transactions were compared with the corresponding implied total tangible common equity multiple, core deposit premium and LTM earnings multiple for the proposed transaction based on the \$26.2 million purchase price and the pro forma estimates provided by Generations Bancorp management of the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (excluding and including the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan) and using historical financial information for Generations Bancorp as of and for the 12-month period ended June 30, 2024.

The results of the analysis are set forth in the following table (excluding the impact of the core deposit premium for one of the selected transactions, which core deposit premium was considered to be not meaningful because it was less than 30%, and also excluding the impact of the LTM EPS multiples for three of the selected transactions, which multiples were considered to be not meaningful ("NM") because they were negative):

			Selected T	ransactions	
	Generations	25th			75th
	Bancorp ⁽¹⁾	Percentile	Median	Average	Percentile
Price / Tangible Book Value	0.75x / 1.13x / 1.25x	1.16x	1.24x	1.21x	1.35x
Core Deposit Premium	(3.8%) / 1.9% / 3.9%	1.7%	3.1%	3.4%	5.8%
Price / LTM EPS	NM / NM / NM	12.7x	15.7x	18.0x	21.5x

(1) First statistic based on the \$26.2 million purchase price, second statistic based on the pro forma estimate provided by Generations Bancorp management of the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (excluding the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan) and third statistic based on the pro forma estimate provided by Generations Bancorp management of the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bancorp management of the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (including the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (including the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and the Generations Bank and the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan).

No company or transaction used in the selected transaction analysis is identical to Generations Bancorp or the proposed transaction. Accordingly, an analysis of these results is not mathematical. Rather, it involved complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of the companies involved.

Selected Transactions Analysis – Selected Transactions Involving Acquired Companies with LTM Net Loss. KBW reviewed publicly available information related to 10 U.S. whole-bank transactions announced since January 1, 2021 with deal values less than \$100 million and an acquired company with a LTM net loss.

The selected transactions were as follows:

Acquiror	Acquired Company
SB Financial Group, Inc.	Anchor Bankshares, Inc.
Equity Bancshares, Inc.	Blue Ridge Bankshares, Inc.
Alabama Credit Union	ST Hldgs, Inc.
Rhodium BA Holdings LLC	Private Investor - Mr. Kenneth Lehman
Social Finance, Inc.	Anchor Bankshares, Inc.
BancFirst Corporation	Blue Ridge Bankshares, Inc.
Anchor Bankshares, Inc.	ST Hldgs, Inc.
Blue Ridge Bankshares, Inc.	Private Investor - Mr. Kenneth Lehman
ST Hldgs, Inc.	Anchor Bankshares, Inc.
Private Investor - Mr. Kenneth Lehman	Blue Ridge Bankshares, Inc.

For each selected transaction, KBW derived the following implied transaction statistics to the extent publicly available, in each case based on the transaction consideration value paid for the acquired company and using financial data based on the latest publicly available financial statements for the acquired company available prior to the announcement of the respective transaction:

- Price per common share to tangible book value per share of the acquired company (in the case of one of the selected transactions involving a private acquired company, this transaction statistic was calculated as total transaction consideration divided by total tangible common equity); and
- Tangible equity premium to core deposits (total deposits less time deposits greater than \$100,000) of the acquired company, referred to as core deposit premium.

The above transaction statistics for the selected transactions were compared with the corresponding implied total tangible common equity multiple and core deposit premium for the proposed transaction based on the \$26.2 million purchase price and the pro forma estimates provided by Generations Bancorp management of the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (excluding and including the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan) and using historical financial information for Generations Bancorp as of June 30, 2024.

The results of the analysis are set forth in the following table (excluding the impact of the tangible book value per share multiple for one of the selected transactions, which multiple was considered to be not meaningful because it was greater than 5.00x):

		Selected Transactions				
	Generations	25th			75th	
	Bancorp ⁽¹⁾	Percentile	Median	Average	Percentile	
Price / Tangible Book Value	0.75x / 1.13x / 1.25x	0.80x	1.05x	1.04x	1.51x	
Core Deposit Premium	(3.8%) / 1.9% / 3.9%	(2.7%)	4.2%	2.3%	8.9%	

(1) First statistic based on the \$26.2 million purchase price, second statistic based on the pro forma estimate provided by Generations Bancorp management of the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (excluding the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank and the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan) and third statistic based on the pro forma estimate provided by Generations management of the implied post-transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (including the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (including the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (including the impact of the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations Bancorp, and Generations Bank and the Generations Bank and the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan).

No company or transaction used in the selected transaction analysis is identical to Generations Bancorp or the proposed transaction. Accordingly, an analysis of these results is not mathematical. Rather, it involved complex considerations and judgments concerning differences in financial and operating characteristics of the companies involved.

Generations Bancorp Dividend Discount Model Analysis. KBW performed a dividend discount model analysis to estimate a range for the implied equity value of Generations Bancorp. In this analysis, KBW used financial forecasts and projections relating to the earnings of Generations Bancorp and the assets of Generations Bank provided by Generations Bancorp management, and assumed discount rates ranging from 11.0% to 15.0%. The range of values was determined by adding (i) the present value of the implied future excess capital available for dividends that Generations Bancorp could generate over the period from June 30, 2025 through December 31, 2029 as a stand-alone company and (ii) the present value of Generations Bancorp's implied terminal values at the end of such period. KBW assumed that Generations Bancorp would maintain a tangible common equity / tangible asset ratio of 8.00% and would retain sufficient earnings to maintain that level. In calculating implied terminal values for Generations Bancorp, KBW applied a range of 0.60x to 1.00x to Generations Bancorp's estimated December 31, 2029 tangible common equity. This dividend discount model analysis resulted in a range of implied equity values of Generations Bancorp of approximately \$8.2 million to \$19.6 million.

The dividend discount model analysis is a widely used valuation methodology, but the results of such methodology are highly dependent on the assumptions that must be made, including asset and earnings growth rates, terminal values, and discount rates. The analysis did not purport to be indicative of the actual values or expected values of Generations Bancorp.

Miscellaneous. KBW acted as financial advisor to Generations Bancorp and not as an advisor to or agent of any other person. As part of KBW's investment banking business, KBW is continually engaged in the valuation of bank and bank holding company securities in connection with acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements and valuations for various other purposes. As specialists in the securities of banking companies, KBW has experience in, and knowledge of, the valuation of banking enterprises. In the ordinary course of KBW's and their broker-dealer businesses (and further to existing sales and trading relationships between (i) KBW and Generations Bancorp and (ii) a KBW broker-dealer affiliate and ESL), KBW and its affiliates may from time to time purchase securities from, and sell securities to, Generations Bancorp, Generations Bank and ESL. In addition, as market makers in securities, KBW and its affiliates may from time to time have a long or short position in, and buy or sell, debt or equity securities of Generations Bancorp for its and their own accounts and for the accounts of its and their respective customers and clients.

Pursuant to the KBW engagement agreement, Generations Bancorp has agreed to pay KBW a total cash fee equal to 1.50% of the aggregate transaction consideration, \$150,000 of which became payable to KBW with the rendering of KBW's opinion and the balance of which is contingent upon the successful completion of the Bank

Asset Sale. Generations Bancorp also agreed to reimburse KBW for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and disbursements incurred in connection with its retention and to indemnify KBW against certain liabilities relating to or arising out of KBW's engagement or KBW's role in connection therewith. Other than in connection with the present engagement, in the two years preceding the date of its opinion, KBW did not provide investment banking or financial advisory services to Generations Bancorp. During the two years preceding the date of its opinion, KBW did not provide investment banking or financial advisory services to ESL. KBW may in the future provide investment banking and financial advisory services to Generations Bancorp or ESL and receive compensation for such services.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Sale Transaction

The following summary discusses the material anticipated U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Sale Transaction to a holder of shares of Generations Bancorp common stock who surrenders all of his, her or its shares of common stock for cash in connection with the Sale Transaction. The discussion is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), Treasury regulations, Internal Revenue Service rulings and judicial and administrative decisions in effect as of the date of this proxy statement. This discussion is limited to U.S. residents and citizens who hold their shares as capital assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes within the meaning of Code Section 1221 (generally, assets held for investment). No attempt has been made to comment on all U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Sale Transaction that may be relevant to holders of shares of Generations Bancorp common stock. This discussion also does not address all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to a particular person or the tax consequences that may be relevant to persons subject to special treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws (including, among others, financial institutions, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or foreign currencies, entities that are treated for federal income tax purposes as partnerships or other pass-through entities, insurance companies or employees who acquired the stock pursuant to the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation). In addition, this discussion does not address any aspects of state, local, non-U.S. taxation or U.S. federal taxation other than income taxation. No ruling has been requested from the IRS regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Sale Transaction. No assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a position contrary to any of the U.S. federal income tax consequences set forth below.

Stockholders should consult their tax advisors as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Sale Transaction, as well as the effects of state, local, non-U.S. tax laws and U.S. tax laws other than income tax laws.

Tax Treatment of Generations Bancorp Stockholders. A Generations Bancorp stockholder who receives one or more cash payments in exchange for shares of Generations Bancorp common stock will recognize a gain or loss for federal income tax purposes equal to the difference between the cash received and such stockholder's tax basis in Generations Bancorp common stock surrendered in exchange for the cash. Such gain or loss will be a capital gain or loss, provided that such shares were held as capital assets of Generations Bancorp stockholder at the effective time of the Company Dissolution. Such gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if Generations Bancorp stockholder's holding period is more than one year. The Code contains limitations on the extent to which a taxpayer may deduct capital losses from ordinary income.

Backup Withholding. Unless an exemption applies under the backup withholding rules of Code Section 3406, the exchange agent shall be required to withhold, and will withhold, 24% of any cash payments to which a Generations Bancorp stockholder is entitled pursuant to the Sale Transaction, unless Generations Bancorp stockholder signs the substitute Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 enclosed with the letter of transmittal sent by the exchange agent. Unless an applicable exemption exists and is proved in a manner satisfactory to the exchange agent, this completed form provides the information, including Generations Bancorp stockholder's taxpayer identification number, and certification necessary to avoid backup withholding.

Tax Treatment to Generations Bank. The Bank Asset Sale will be a taxable transaction to Generations Bank for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and Generations Bank anticipates that the Bank Asset Sale will give rise to net gain recognition for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The Bank Asset Sale will not be taxable to Generations Bancorp's stockholders, although as discussed above, distributions made by Generations Bancorp to its stockholders of the proceeds from the Bank Asset Sale and

Generations Bancorp's other remaining assets as part of the Company Dissolution will be a taxable event to stockholders.

The above summary of certain federal income tax consequences in connection with the Sale Transaction is not intended as a substitute for careful tax planning, is for general informational purposes only and is not tax advice. In addition to the federal income tax consequences discussed above, consummation of the Sale Transaction may have significant state and local income tax consequences that are not discussed in this proxy statement. Accordingly, persons considering the Sale Transaction should consult their tax advisors with specific reference to the effect of their own particular facts and circumstances on the matters discussed in this proxy statement.

No Appraisal or Dissenters' Rights

Under Generations Bancorp's Articles of Incorporation, Generations Bancorp's stockholders are not entitled to exercise any rights of an objecting stockholder provided under Maryland General Corporation Law unless the board of directors determines that such rights apply with respect to a transaction. Generations Bancorp's board of directors has not made such a determination with respect to the Bank Asset Sale or the Sale Transaction. Accordingly, stockholders of Generations Bancorp do not have appraisal or dissenters' rights with respect to the Bank Asset Sale or the Sale Transaction.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Sale Transaction that are Different from Yours

In considering the recommendations of the board of directors of Generations Bancorp you should be aware that some of Generations Bancorp's executive officers and directors have employment and other compensation agreements or plans that give them financial interests in the Sale Transaction that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of Generations Bancorp stockholders generally, which are described below. Generations Bancorp's board of directors was aware of these interests and considered them, among other matters, in approving the P&A Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. This discussion does not include the value of benefits in which executive officers and directors are vested without regard to the occurrence of a change in control.

Certain Payments Conditioned on Non-Objection Pursuant to Section 18(k) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act. Effective as of July 19, 2024, Generations Bank entered into a written agreement with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Generations Bank's primary regulator, which provides, among other things, that Generations Bank is in "troubled condition." As a result of the "troubled condition" designation, certain payments described below may be conditioned upon and subject to compliance with Section 18(k) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. 1828(k), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively, the "Troubled Condition Restrictions").

Restricted Stock. Consummation of the Bank Asset Sale is considered a "change in control" of Generations Bancorp under the provisions of Generations Bancorp's 2022 Equity Incentive Plan. Upon a change in control followed by an involuntary termination of employment (a "Qualifying Termination"), all unvested restricted stock awards shall be fully earned and vested. Angela M. Krezmer, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank, Anthony G. Cutrona, Senior Vice President and Chief Banking Officer of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank, and Derek M. Dyson, Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank, will hold 4,729, 4,729, and 2,364 restricted stock awards, respectively, and the directors of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank, Jose Acevedo, Cynthia Aikman, James Gardner, Bradford Jones, Jerry Macaluso, Frank Nicchi and Vince Sinicropi will each hold 443 restricted stock awards, respectively, assuming the Bank Asset Sale occurs on June 30, 2025. Based on an assumed value of \$20.00 per share, which is the estimated per share consideration at the high end of the estimated range, and assuming the Bank Asset Sale occurs on June 30, 2025, the value of the restricted stock awards held by Ms. Krezmer and Messrs. Cutrona and Dyson would be \$94,580, \$94,580 and \$47,280, respectively, and the value of the restricted stock awards held by each of Ms. Aikman and Messrs. Acevedo, Gardner, Jones, Macaluso, Sinicropi and Nicchi would be \$8,860 (and, to the extent required, such vesting must comply with the Troubled Condition Restrictions).

Stock Options. Consummation of the Bank Asset Sale is considered a "change in control" of Generations Bancorp under the provisions of Generations Bancorp's 2022 Equity Incentive Plan. Upon a change in control followed by a Qualifying Termination, all non-vested stock options shall be fully earned and vested. Ms. Krezmer

and Messrs. Cutrona and Dyson will hold 23,645, 11,821, and 5,911 non-vested stock options, respectively, and the directors of Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank, Jose Acevedo, Cynthia Aikman, James Gardner, Bradford Jones, Jerry Macaluso, Frank Nicchi and Vince Sinicropi will each hold 1,108 non-vested stock options, respectively, assuming the Bank Asset Sale occurs on June 30, 2025. Based on an assumed value of \$20.00 per share, which is the estimated per share consideration at the high end of the estimated range, and assuming the Bank Asset Sale occurs on June 30, 2025, the value of the non-vested stock options held by Ms. Krezmer and Messrs. Cutrona and Dyson would be \$217,536, \$99,296 and \$49,652, respectively and the value of the non-vested stock options held by each of Ms. Aikman and Messrs. Gardner, Acevedo, Jones, Macaluso, Sinicropi and Nicchi would be \$9,252 (and, to the extent required, such vesting must comply with the Troubled Condition Restrictions).

Directors' and Officers' Insurance. ESL has agreed to reimburse Generations Bank and Generations Bancorp for a tail insurance policy for a period of six years after the completion of the Bank Asset Sale and to maintain the current directors' and officers' liability insurance policies covering the officers and directors of Generations Bancorp with respect to matters occurring at or before the effective time of the Sale Transaction, except with respect to certain specified actions brought per the P&A Agreement.

Employment Agreements. Generations Bank previously entered into an employment agreement with each of Ms. Krezmer and Mr. Cutrona. Ms. Krezmer's employment agreement provides that, in the event of a change in control of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank, the executive would be entitled to: (i) a severance payment in the form of a cash lump sum equal to three times the sum of (x) the highest rate of base salary paid to the executive at any time under the agreement, and (y) the highest cash bonus paid to the executive with respect to the three (3) years prior to the change of control, (ii) any non-vested stock options and restricted stock awards would fully vest, and (iii) the executive would become entitled, at no expense to the executive, to the continuation of life insurance and non-taxable medical and dental coverage for thirty-six (36) months following the executive's termination of employment, or if the coverage is not permitted by applicable law or if providing the benefits would subject Generations Bank to penalties, the executive will receive a cash lump sum payment equal to the value of the benefits. Mr. Cutrona's employment agreement provides that, in the event of a change in control of Generations Bank, the executive would be entitled to a severance payment in the form of a cash lump sum equal to two (2) times the highest rate of base salary paid to the executive at any time under the agreement and any non-vested stock options and restricted stock awards would fully vest.

The amount of the cash payments that Ms. Krezmer and Mr. Cutrona, respectively, is entitled to receive under their respective employment agreement is estimated to be up to \$907,692 and \$360,000, respectively (and, to the extent required, such payments must comply with the Troubled Condition Restrictions).

Change in Control Agreement. Generations Bank previously entered into a change in control agreement with Derek M. Dyson. The agreement provides that in the event of a change in control of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank, the executive would be entitled to: (i) a severance payment in the form of a cash lump sum equal to one and one-quarter (1.25) times the sum of (x) the executive's base salary in effect as of the date of a change in control, and (y) one and one-quarter (1.25) times the highest cash bonus paid to the executive with respect to the three (3) years prior to the change of control, (ii) any non-vested stock options and restricted stock awards would fully vest, and (iii) the executive would become entitled, at no expense to the executive's termination of employment. The severance benefit may be reduced if the severance benefits result in "excess parachute payments" under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code. The amount of the cash payment that Mr. Dyson is entitled to receive under the agreement is estimated to be up to \$231,926 (and, to the extent required, such payment must comply with the Troubled Condition Restrictions).

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. Generations Bank previously entered into a supplemental executive retirement plan with Mr. Dyson. Under the terms of the plan, in the event of a change in control, Generations Bank will make a contribution to Mr. Dyson's plan account balance in an amount equal to the present value of the remaining annual contributions, which is estimated to be \$34,020 (and, to the extent required, such contribution must comply with the Troubled Condition Restrictions). Mr. Dyson's account shall be distributed within thirty (30) days of the date of the executive's separation from service in accordance with the executive's distribution election.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan. The Generations Bank employee stock ownership plan (the "ESOP") is a tax-qualified plan that covers substantially all of the employees of Generations Bank. The ESOP received a loan

from Generations Bancorp, the proceeds of which were used to acquire shares of Generations Bancorp's common stock for the benefit of plan participants. The ESOP has pledged the shares acquired with the loan as collateral for the loan and holds them in a suspense account, releasing them to participants' accounts as the loan is repaid, with contributions received from Generations Bank. Before the Company Dissolution, the outstanding balance of the ESOP loan will be repaid by the ESOP. Following the repayment of the ESOP loan, any excess assets in the suspense account will be allocated to active participants, as earnings, based on their proportionate account balances. All of Generations Bancorp's common stock in the ESOP allocated to the accounts of the ESOP participants will be exchanged for the per share consideration received by stockholders in the Sale Transaction. At or before the Company Dissolution, the ESOP will be terminated, and all participants' accounts will become fully vested.

Amended and Restated Directors Retirement Plan. Generations Bank previously entered into an amended and restated directors retirement plan. Under the terms of the plan, in the event of a change in control, Generations Bank will make a contribution to Ms. Aikan and Messrs. Acevedo, Jones, Macaluso, Nicchi and Sinicropi's plan account balance in an amount equal to the present value of the remaining annual contributions, which is estimated to be \$39,403, \$40,666, \$5,952, \$5,630, and \$17,272, respectively (and, to the extent required, such contribution must comply with the Troubled Condition Restrictions). The account balances shall be distributed within thirty (30) days.

Directors' and Officers' Expected Compensation Arrangements Post-Bank Asset Sale

For the year ended December 31, 2024, each Director of Generations was paid a retainer of \$2,500 per month, except the Chair of the Board was paid a retainer of \$5,500 per month and the Chair of the Audit Committee and the Vice Chair of the Board were each paid a retainer of \$4,000 per month.

After the effective date of the Bank Asset Sale and through the date of the Bank Liquidation, it is expected that the Board of Directors of Generations Bank and Generations Bancorp will be reduced from nine to five members and board and Chair fees will be reduced by 25%. Thereafter, between the date of the Bank Liquidation and the Company Dissolution, the Board will be reduced from five to three members and board and Chair fees will be reduced from five to three members and board and Chair fees will be reduced from five to three members and board and Chair fees will be reduced from five to three members and board and Chair fees will be reduced from five to three members and board and Chair fees will be reduced by an additional 25% from the 2024 fees.

After effective date of the Bank Asset Sale and through the date of the Bank Liquidation, Angela Krezmer will remain employed by Generations Bank and will have primary responsibility for overseeing the liquidation of Generations Bank, including, as applicable, the liquidation of any Excluded Assets from the Bank Asset Sale. During this time, it is expected that Ms. Krezmer's base salary will be \$219,000. Thereafter, between the Bank Liquidation and the Company Dissolution, Ms. Krezmer will be employed by Generations Bancorp with an expected annual base salary of \$145,750.

Regulatory Approvals

General. Generations Bank and ESL have agreed to use all reasonable efforts to obtain all permits, consents, approvals and authorizations of all governmental entities that are necessary or advisable to consummate the Sale Transaction, including the Bank Asset Sale. This includes the approval or non-objection of the FDIC, the NCUA, the OCC and the FRB. The Sale Transaction cannot be completed without such approvals and non-objections. Neither ESL, Generations Bank nor Generations Bancorp can provide any assurance as to whether they will obtain the required regulatory approvals and non-objections, when such approvals will be received, or whether there will be conditions in the approvals that are unacceptably burdensome to ESL. There is also no assurance that the U.S. Department of Justice or any state attorney general will not attempt to challenge the Bank Asset Sale on antitrust grounds, or what the outcome will be if such a challenge is made.

We are not aware of any material governmental approvals or actions that are required before the Sale Transaction other than those described below. We presently contemplate that we will seek any additional governmental approvals or actions that may be required in addition to those requests for approval that are currently pending. However, we cannot assure you that we will obtain any such additional approvals or actions.

NCUA. The Bank Asset Sale is subject to approval of the NCUA. ESL has filed the applications or notice materials necessary to obtain the approvals of the NCUA.

FDIC. The FDIC must approve the Bank Asset Sale, as well as the termination of deposit insurance before the Bank Liquidation. Generations Bank has filed the application necessary to obtain the FDIC's approval of the Bank Asset Sale and will file with the FDIC all materials necessary to terminate Generations Bank's FDIC insurance following the closing of the Bank Asset Sale.

The FDIC may not approve any transaction that would result in a monopoly or otherwise substantially lessen competition or restrain trade, unless it finds that the anti-competitive effects of the transaction are clearly outweighed by the public interest. In addition, federal law requires publication of notice of, and the opportunity for public comment on, the applications submitted by Generations Bank for approval of the Bank Asset Sale and authorizes the FDIC to hold a public hearing in connection with the applications if it determines that such a hearing would be appropriate. Any such hearing or comments provided by third parties could prolong the period during which the application is subject to review. In addition, under federal law, a period of 30 days must expire following approval by the FDIC within which period the U.S. Department of Justice may file objections to the Bank Asset Sale under the federal antitrust laws. This waiting period may be reduced to 15 days if the U.S. Department of Justice has not provided any adverse comments relating to the competitive factors of the transaction. If the U.S. Department of Justice were to commence an antitrust action, that action would stay the effectiveness of the FDIC approval of the Bank Asset Sale unless a court specifically orders otherwise. In reviewing the Bank Asset Sale, the U.S. Department of Justice could analyze the Bank Asset Sale's effect on competition differently than the FDIC, and thus it is possible that it could reach a different conclusion than the FDIC regarding the Bank Asset Sale's competitive effects.

OCC. The Sale Transaction also requires Generations Bank to obtain the approval of the OCC in connection with the Bank Liquidation. Generations Bank has filed with the OCC a Voluntary Liquidation Notice, including its proposed Plan of Liquidation. Generations Bank has also filed with the OCC an *Interagency Bank Merger Act* Application to merge Generations Commercial Bank with and into Generations Bank at the effective time of the Bank Asset Sale.

FRB. Generations Bancorp will file with the FRB, if required, application and notice materials for the distribution from Generations Bank to Generations Bancorp as part of the Bank Liquidation, for any other distributions from Generations Bank to Generations Bancorp that may occur as part of the Sale Transaction, and to deregister Generations Bancorp as a savings and loan holding company. Generations Bank and Generations Bancorp must also comply with FRB rules and policies with respect to any payments that may be made to eligible depositors by Generations Bank in satisfaction of the Liquidation Accounts, as further discussed below under " – Liquidation Accounts."

Liquidation Accounts

In connection with Generations Bank's second-step conversion in 2021, Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank established Liquidation Accounts as required by applicable FRB rules and as provided for in the plan of conversion of Generations Bank's former mutual holding company. Sub-accounts under the Liquidation Accounts (the "liquidation sub-accounts") were established for certain eligible depositors at the time of the second-step conversion. These sub-accounts reflect eligible depositors' interests in the Liquidation Accounts. The Sale Transaction constitutes a "liquidation" of Generations Bank that will require that eligible depositors be paid the value of their liquidation sub-accounts.

Consideration to be Received by Stockholders

Overview. At the time of the Bank Asset Sale, ESL will pay Generations \$26.2 million (the "Cash Purchase Price") and additionally Generations will retain its equity and these amounts will be distributed to Generations Bancorp along with any other assets remaining after Generations Bank pays, or provides for the payment of, all of its liabilities as part of the Bank Liquidation. Generations Bancorp's assets will then be distributed to Generations Bancorp's stockholders as part of the Company Dissolution. Amounts that will be available for distribution to Generations Bancorp in the Bank Liquidation and distributed to the stockholders in the Company Dissolution will depend on the amount of any adjustment to the Cash Purchase Price, Generations retained equity, as well as the amount of expenses and other costs incurred after the Bank Asset Sale that are described below under "– Other Factors That May Reduce Stockholder Consideration."

Based on currently available information and assuming no downward adjustment of the Cash Purchase Price as described below, Generations Bancorp estimates that its stockholders will receive between \$18.00 and \$20.00 in cash in the Sale Transaction for each share of Generations Bancorp common stock that they own. *This estimated consideration per share is based on numerous assumptions and is subject to change*. Factors that could cause the per share consideration to change include adjustments to the Cash Purchase Price in the Bank Asset Sale including in the event that Generations Bank's Core Deposits, as defined in the P&A Agreement, decrease more than a specified amount, as well as anticipated and unanticipated expenses and liabilities that arise during the sale and dissolution process.

Bank Asset Sale. In the Bank Asset Sale, ESL will purchase substantially all of Generations Bank's assets and assume substantially all of Generations Bank's liabilities (including all deposit liabilities). As consideration for the Bank Asset Sale, ESL will pay Generations Bank in cash an aggregate of \$26.2 million and additionally Generations Bank will retain its equity (the "Bank Purchase Price"). The Bank Purchase Price is subject to possible downward adjustment if Generations Bank Core Deposits, as defined in the P&A Agreement, decrease more than a specified amount at closing.

Generally, in a purchase and assumption transaction as the Bank Asset Sale, Generations Bank would be required to pay U.S. federal income tax on any net gain it recognizes in the transaction.

Core Deposit Minimum. The P&A Agreement provides that the Cash Purchase Price will be reduced by an amount equal to 4.5% to the extent that Generations Bank's Core Deposits, as defined in the P&A Agreement, decrease by greater than 10.0%, as calculated from the date of the P&A Agreement and the Closing of the Bank Asset Sale.

Although Generations Bank does not expect that its Core Deposits will decrease beyond the threshold as described above, a decrease in Core Deposits would result in a decrease in the Bank Purchase Price.

Liquidation Account Costs. The Sale Transaction is considered a "liquidation" of Generations Bank and will require that the liquidation sub-accounts be paid out by Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank. Generations Bank will utilize a portion of the Bank Purchase Price for payment of liquidation sub-accounts. Generations Bank has currently estimated that total payments of the liquidation sub-accounts will be approximately \$11.5 million. However, it is possible that payments of the liquidation sub-accounts will exceed \$11.5 million. If certain expenses, including the payments of the liquidation sub-accounts, exceed Generations Bank's current expectations, this would decrease the proceeds of the Bank Sale Transaction available for distribution to Generations Bancorp's shareholders and reduce the per share consideration received by shareholders.

Retained Equity. In addition to the Cash Purchase Price, the P&A Agreement permits Generations Bank to retain its equity, which is separate from the Cash Purchase Price of \$26.2 million, subject to adjustment, and is intended to provide Generations Bank additional cash needed to pay, after the closing of the Bank Asset Sale, certain expenses and transaction items, including the Liquidation Account payouts and the corporate taxes to be paid on the Bank Asset Sale, that were not paid before closing.

Other Factors That May Reduce Stockholder Consideration. In addition to possible downward adjustment of the Cash Purchase Price, other factors could decrease the per share consideration to be received by stockholders. The \$18.00 to \$20.00 estimated range of per share consideration to be received by stockholders of Generations Bancorp (the "estimated consideration range") could be decreased by any of the factors discussed below.

Sale Transaction Costs Incurred After the Bank Asset Sale. Generations Bank is responsible for paying transaction costs that relate to the Bank Liquidation and the Company Dissolution after the closing of the Bank Asset Sale (referred to as "Post-Closing Expenses"). To the extent that Post-Closing Expenses exceed the estimated amounts, it would reduce the per share consideration received by stockholders.

Post-Closing Expenses will include the cost of terminating Generations Bank's ESOP and its defined benefit plan (further discussed below), compensation costs for officers and directors who will continue to serve Generations Bank and Generations Bancorp during the Bank Liquidation and Company Dissolution, accounting and tax related accounting expenses, legal expenses, costs related to making distributions to stockholders after the Company Dissolution, miscellaneous costs to operate Generations Bank and Generations Bancorp during the liquidation and dissolution periods, respectively, and any final FDIC assessment costs. The calculation of Post-Closing Expenses assumes the establishment and use of an additional contingency reserve fund of \$300,000 as part of the dissolution and winding up process.

Payments to ESOP Participants. The estimated consideration range assumes that ESOP participants will receive the same consideration for each share allocated under the ESOP as other stockholders will receive for their common stock. The actual consideration to be received for each share allocated under the ESOP will be determined by an independent appraisal of the value of Generations Bancorp's common stock. While it is expected that the appraisal will result in ESOP shares receiving the same, or very similar, per share consideration as other shares, any difference would affect the actual per share consideration received by the other stockholders.

Unexpected Costs. In addition to the known and expected sources of expenses related to the Bank Liquidation and the Company Dissolution, there may be additional unexpected expenses and liabilities that arise during the course of the sale and dissolution process. For example, although Generations Bank is not aware of any lawsuits or other unmatured contingent liabilities, any such litigation or liabilities that arise could significantly increase the time and expenses for completing the Bank Liquidation and/or Company Dissolution. Such unanticipated expenses and liabilities may reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to stockholders.

When the Sale Transaction Will Be Completed

The closing of the Bank Asset Sale will take place as soon as practicable after the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to the parties' respective obligations to complete the Bank Asset Sale. Generations Bank expects to complete the Bank Asset Sale during the late second quarter or third quarter of 2025. However, some of the conditions to completing the Bank Asset Sale, including the receipt of the required regulatory approvals, are not within Generations Bank's control and Generations Bank cannot guarantee when or if all conditions to completing the Bank Asset Sale will be met.

The Bank Liquidation and the Company Dissolution will take place as soon as practicable after the Bank Asset Sale is completed. It is expected that this process may take six months or more after the completion of the Bank Asset Sale. However, this process could take longer than currently anticipated, particularly given the process of resolving the Liquidation Accounts. For a discussion of the Bank Liquidation, see below under "– Bank Liquidation." For additional discussion of the Company Dissolution, see "Proposal Two – Approval of the Plan of Dissolution and the Company Dissolution."

Bank Liquidation

Following the Bank Asset Sale, Generations Bank will liquidate and distribute its remaining assets to Generations Bancorp, the sole stockholder of Generations Bank. This will be the second step of the Sale Transaction. Generations Bank has submitted a voluntary liquidation plan to the OCC. No separate approval of Generations Bancorp's stockholders is required for the Bank Liquidation. Rather, Generations Bancorp, as the sole stockholder of Generations Bank, will vote to approve the Bank Liquidation. Generations Bank will formally file for termination of its FDIC deposit insurance following the Bank Asset Sale.

Upon completion of the Bank Asset Sale, Generations Bank will have no material assets or liabilities other than cash received as the Cash Purchase Price and its retained equity, and any Excluded Assets, as defined in the P&A Agreement, which have not yet been resolved, if any.

Before final liquidation, Generations Bank must terminate its FDIC insurance. The process of terminating Generations Bank's FDIC insurance includes an examiner visitation after the Bank Asset Sale to verify cessation of FDIC insured deposit taking and the absence of all deposits from Generations Bank's books and the issuance of a formal Order of Termination of Insurance by the FDIC. The Order of Termination of Insurance will become effective at the end of the quarter immediately following the quarter in which it is issued. Upon the effectiveness of the Order of Termination of Insurance, Generations Bank will liquidate by distributing all of its assets to Generations Bank's charter will then be terminated.

It is expected that the payments to eligible depositors under the Liquidation Account will occur at or before the Bank Liquidation, although it is possible that such payments may occur after the Bank Liquidation.

After the Bank Liquidation, Generations Bancorp will dissolve as discussed under "Proposal Two – Approval of the Plan of Dissolution and the Company Dissolution."

Terms of the P&A Agreement

Bank Asset Sale; Bank Purchase Price. In the Bank Asset Sale, ESL will purchase substantially all of Generations Bank's assets and assume substantially all of Generations Bank's liabilities (including all deposit liabilities). As consideration for the Bank Asset Sale, ESL will pay Generations Bank \$26.2 million in cash and additionally Generations Bank will retain its equity. For additional information regarding the Cash Purchase Price and stockholder consideration, see "– Consideration to be Received by Stockholders" above.

The assets of Generations Bank that ESL will not purchase in the Bank Asset Sale (the "Excluded Assets") consist of:

- deferred tax assets on the financial books and records of Generations Bank;
- Generations Bank's Designated Bank Account, Funded Liquidation Accounts and the Allowance;
- all tax refunds, if any, related to Pre-Closing Tax Period;
- Claims by Generations Bank against directors, officers and employees of Generations Bank relating to their acts or omissions occurring on or prior to the Closing Date;
- all books and records related to Generations Bank's Taxes and the books and records of Generations Bank, if any, that are not permitted by Law to be transferred to Buyer;
- all net deferred tax assets;
- Prepaid Expenses that cannot be assigned by Seller to Buyer;
- Excluded Liquid Assets;
- any Employee Benefit Plan, any Split Dollar Arrangements and BOLI supporting the Split Dollar Arrangements;
- any capital stock of the Generations Bank, Generations Commercial Bank and Generations Insurance Agency and any membership interest in FFP;
- any tangible or intangible assets of GCB, GIA and FFP;
- any and all right, title and interest in and to "Women's Right to Run," and its associated domain names "rightorun19k.com," "righttorun.org," and "righttorun19k.org";
- the Excluded Real Estate; and
- the Excluded Assets of Generations Bank.

The liabilities of Generations Bank that ESL will not assume in the Bank Asset Sale (the "Excluded Liabilities") consist of:

• any Excluded Transaction Expenses that remain unpaid or are incurred by Generations following the Bank Asset Sale;

- third party costs and expenses incurred by Generations relating to the Sales Transaction and the preparation and filing of Generations final Tax Returns, including issuing IRS Forms W2 and 1099s for Seller's employees and independent contractors for periods through and including the Closing Date, and including without limitation, fees and expenses of counsel, accountants or investment bankers;
- any Taxes of Generations, including any Liabilities of Generations for Taxes on the Cash Purchase Price;
- any Liability or obligation of Generation under the Excluded Contracts;
- any Liabilities under any Employee Benefit Plan and all termination and wind-down costs and charges associated therewith;
- any Liabilities related to accrued vacation or paid time off owing to employees, independent contractors or other Persons, including Former Seller Employees, and all wages or payments due to employees and independent contractors for periods through and including the Closing Date;
- any Liability of Generation related to the Liquidation Accounts, deficiencies in Funded Liquidation Accounts, or for Claims by Liquidation Account Participants;
- any Liability relating to any Wrongful Acts of Generations;
- any Liabilities related to or arising out of the Excluded Assets;
- the FISERV Termination Fees;
- any Excluded Deposit Accounts;
- any Liabilities related to Securities Claims;
- any Liabilities of Generations or any of its subsidiaries or any other Affiliate of Generations Bank;
- Liabilities arising out of a failure by Generations or any of its Affiliates to comply with any Law;
- Liabilities of Generations or an Affiliate of Generations in respect of any Claim (pending or threatened at any time) arising out of, relating to, or otherwise in respect of the Assets to the extent that such Claim relates to the ownership, licensing, leasing, sale, purchase, distribution, or use of any Asset on or prior to the Closing or the ability of Generations to sell, convey, assign, and transfer the same to ESL;
- any Liabilities that are not reflected on Generations' balance sheet, including any Liabilities related to Liquidation Accounts;
- Claims against Generations brought by any current or former directors, officers and employees of Generations relating to acts or omissions occurring on or prior to the Closing Date;
- any Liability of Generations arising under any Environmental Law;
- any Liability of Generations with respect to any credit or debit card benefit or rewards program;
- any Liability of Seller related to any Excluded Real Estate;
- any incentive compensation payments made to Generations employees; and
- any Liabilities of the Generations Bancorp or any subsidiary of Generations Bank, or any other Affiliate of Generations.

Conditions to the Bank Asset Sale. The respective obligations of ESL and Generations Bank to consummate the Bank Asset Sale are subject to the satisfaction, or waiver by the other party, of certain conditions specified in the P&A Agreement. Conditions to the obligations of both ESL and Generations Bank to consummate Bank Asset Sale are:

- the receipt of all required licenses, approvals, and consents of any relevant federal, state, or other regulatory agency without any non-standard conditions or other non-standard requirements reasonably deemed unduly burdensome by either Generations Bank or ESL;
- the approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale by Generations Bancorp's stockholders; and
- the other party shall not have experienced a Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the P&A Agreement), and there shall not be any claim, action, suit or proceeding pending or threatened against ESL or Generations Bank that might reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

In addition, Generations Bank's obligations to consummate the Bank Asset Sale are conditioned on the following unless waived by Generations Bank:

- the accuracy of ESL's representations and warranties as of the closing date of the Bank Asset Sale, subject to standards of materiality and material adverse effect as set forth in the P&A Agreement and the receipt by Generations Bank of a certification from a duly authorized officer of ESL to that effect;
- the performance by ESL in all material respects of its obligations and covenants contained in the P&A Agreement, and the receipt by Generations Bank of a certification from a duly authorized officer of ESL to that effect;
- ESL shall have delivered to Generations Bank the applicable documents to complete the Bank Asset Sale; and
- ESL shall have delivered the Cash Purchase Price on or before the closing date of the Bank Asset Sale.

In addition, ESL's obligations to consummate the Bank Asset Sale are conditioned on the following unless waived by ESL:

- the accuracy of Generations Bank's representations and warranties as of the closing date of the Bank Asset Sale, subject to standards of materiality and material adverse effect as set forth in the P&A Agreement and the receipt by ESL of a certification from a duly authorized officer of Generations Bank to that effect;
- the performance by Generations Bank in all material respects of its obligations and covenants contained in the P&A Agreement, and the receipt by each party of a certification from the other party to that effect;
- Generations Bank shall have delivered to ESL the applicable documents to complete the Bank Asset Sale;
- Generations Bank shall have delivered to ESL the assets to be purchased by ESL which are capable of physical delivery; and
- All data processing and debit card services Contracts that are Excluded Contracts identified in the P&A Agreement shall have been terminated or notice of termination shall have been given by Generations at or prior to Closing.

Conduct of Business Pending the Bank Asset Sale. The P&A Agreement contains various restrictions on the operations of Generations Bank before the effective time of the Bank Asset Sale. From the date of the P&A Agreement to the closing of the Bank Asset Sale, Generations Bank shall: (a) not engage in any transaction affecting its real estate, deposits, liabilities, or assets except in the ordinary course of business, and will operate and manage its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practices; (b) use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain its real estate in a condition substantially the same as on the date of the P&A Agreement, reasonable wear and use excepted; (c) maintain its books of accounts and records in the usual, regular and ordinary manner; (d) use commercially reasonable efforts to duly maintain compliance with all laws, regulatory requirements and agreements to which it is subject or by which it is bound; and (e) use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain good relations with its customers and employees.

Generations Bank has agreed that before the effective time of the Bank Asset Sale, or the termination of the P&A Agreement, unless consented to by ESL, which consent will not unreasonably be withheld, delayed or conditioned, it will:

- maintain the fixed assets and real estate in their present state of repair, order and condition, reasonable wear and tear and casualty excepted;
- maintain its financial books, accounts and records in accordance with GAAP;
- charge off assets in accordance with GAAP as consistently applied;
- comply, in all material respects, with all applicable laws and regulations relating to its operations;
- use all best efforts to comply with the OCC Agreement, including all amendments, modifications, expansions and adjustments thereto;
- except as permitted in the schedules to the P&A Agreement, not authorize or enter into any contract or amend, modify or supplement any contract relating to or affecting its operations or involving any of the assets or liabilities which obligates Generations Bank to expend \$25,000 or more in a twelve (12) month period or \$100,000 in the aggregate;
- not take any action, or enter into or authorize any transaction, other than in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice, relating to or affecting its operations or involving any of its assets or liabilities;
- not knowingly and voluntarily take any act which, or knowingly and voluntarily omitting to take any act the omission of which, likely would result in a breach of any material contract, commitment or obligation of Generations Bank;
- not make any material changes in its accounting systems, policies, principles or practices relating to or affecting its operations or involving any of the assets or liabilities, except in accordance with GAAP and regulatory requirements;
- not enter into or renew any data processing service contract;
- not engage or participate in any material transaction or incur or sustain any material obligation except in the ordinary course of business;
- amend, modify or supplement any Contract relating to or affecting its operations or involving any of the Assets or Assumed Liabilities which obligates Generations Bank to expend \$50,000 or more, in the aggregate or amend, modify or supplement any Material Contract, except as provided in the P&A Agreement;
- make any new Loan, nor any extension of credit or renewal to any customer, in a single Loan (i) over \$75,000 with respect to Auto Receivables, (ii) \$200,000 with respect to Home Equity Loan

or (iii) \$500,000 with respect to Residential Mortgage Loans or acquire any portfolio of Loans, except after delivering to ESL written notice, including a complete loan package for such loan, in a form consistent with Generations Bank's policies and practice, at least three business days before the origination of such loan, and such loan shall be made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, Generations Bank's current loan policies and applicable rules and regulations of the applicable governmental authorities with respect to the amount, term, security and quality of such borrower or borrower's credit;

- not transfer, assign, encumber, or otherwise dispose of, or enter into any contract, agreement, or understanding to transfer, assign, encumber, or otherwise dispose of, any of the assets except in the ordinary course of business;
- except as provided for in the P&A Agreement, not invest in any fixed assets or improvements except for replacements of furniture, furnishings and equipment, normal maintenance and refurbishing, purchased or made in the Ordinary Course of Business and for emergency and casualty repairs and replacements;
- except as set forth in the P&A Agreement, not increase or agree to increase the salary, remuneration, or compensation of its employees, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business or establish, modify or (except as contemplated in the P&A Agreement) terminate any Employee Benefit Plan;
- not pay incentive compensation to Generations Bank's employees in excess of \$50,000 in the aggregate for purposes of retaining their services through the Closing Date or maintaining Deposit levels through the Closing Date, unless Generations agrees in writing that such compensation shall be an Excluded Liability;
- not enter into any new employment agreements with employees of Generations Bank or any consulting or similar agreements with directors of Generations Bank; provided, however, that Generations Bank shall be permitted to engage the assistance of temporary or contract employees, to the extent Generations Bank deems necessary, to assist Generations Bank in the performance of its obligations under the P&A Agreement, provided that such arrangements do not have an aggregate cost of more than \$100,000;
- not fail to use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve its present operations intact, keep available the services of its present officers and employees or to preserve its present relationships with persons having business dealings with it;
- not amend or modify any of its promotional, deposit account or practices other than amendments or modifications in the ordinary course of business or otherwise consistent with the provisions of the P&A Agreement;
- maintain deposit rates substantially in accordance with rates offered by other financial institutions in Generations Bank's market;
- not materially change or amend its schedules or policies relating to service charges or service fees;
- comply in all material respects with its contracts identified in the P&A Agreement;
- except in the ordinary course of business or pursuant to Generations Bank's policies and procedures (including creation of deposit liabilities, entry into repurchase agreements, purchases or sales of federal funds, and sales of certificates of deposit), not borrow or agree to borrow any material amount of funds or directly or indirectly guarantee or agree to guarantee any material obligations of others except pursuant to outstanding letters of credit;

- not purchase or otherwise acquire any investment security for its own account that exceeds \$1,000,000 or purchase or otherwise acquire any security, other than U.S. Treasury or other governmental obligations or mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by United States governmental or other governmental agencies, the Federal Home Loan Bank, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or Federal Farm Credit Bureau, in either case having an average remaining life of two (2) years or less, or engage in any activity that would be inconsistent with the classification of investment securities as "available for sale;"
- except as required by applicable law or by the OCC Agreement not: (1) implement or adopt any material change in its interest rate risk management and hedging policies, procedures or practices;
 (2) fail to follow its existing policies or practices with respect to managing its exposure to interest rate risk; (3) increase or decrease the rate of interest paid by Generations on any deposit product, including, without limitation on certificates of deposit, except in a manner and pursuant to policies consistent with past practices; provided that Generations shall provide notice to ESL within three
 (3) Business Days after increasing its advertised rates on deposit products; or (4) in all material respects with respect to managing its exposure to interest rate risk, fail to use commercially reasonable means to manage its aggregate exposure to interest rate risk;
- not voluntarily take any material action that would change Generations Bank's loan loss reserves which is not in compliance with Generations Bank's past practices consistently applied and in compliance with GAAP;
- not declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or property or any combination thereof) in respect of any equity securities of Generations Bank or Generations Bancorp;
- not settle or compromise, or offer or propose to settle or compromise, (1) any proceeding involving or against Generations Bank, other than any settlement or compromise solely for monetary relief of not more than \$75,000 individually or \$150,000 in the aggregate and that does not involve any equitable relief or limitations on the conduct of Generations Bank and which does not include any findings of fact or admission of culpability or wrongdoing by Generations Bank, or (2) any proceeding that relates to the Sale Transaction, or (B) not institute any proceeding;
- not make or change any material tax election, change an annual tax accounting period, file any amended tax return, enter into any closing agreement, waive or extend any statute of limitations with respect to taxes, settle or compromise any tax liability, claim, or assessments, or surrender any right to claim a refund of taxes;
- amend the Charter Documents of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank;
- split, combine or reclassify any shares of the capital stock of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank;
- issue, sell or otherwise dispose of any of its capital stock (other than in connection with the exercise of options outstanding on the date of the P&A Agreement as required by the terms of such options), or grant any options, warrants or other rights to purchase or obtain (including upon conversion, exchange or exercise) any capital stock of Generations Bank;
- impose any Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances) upon any of Generations' properties, capital stock or assets, tangible or intangible;
- approve or adopt any plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or filing of a petition in bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consent to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against it under any similar Law;

- acquire by merger or consolidation with, or by purchase a substantial portion of the assets or stock of, or by any other manner, any business or any Person or any division thereof;
- enter into a collective bargaining agreement or recognize a union, works council or labor organization as representation for any employees of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank;
- incur, assume or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money except unsecured current obligations and Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business;
- enter into a new line of business, restore a line of business previously discontinued by Generations Bank, or abandon or discontinue of existing lines of business;
- institute or threaten any Claims (i) against any current or former employee, officer or director of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank; (ii) any against Party to any Material Contract; (iii) except for the foreclosure of Loans in the Ordinary Course of Business, against any Person that seeks or would reasonably be expected to involve monetary relief of more than \$75,000 individually or \$150,000 in the aggregate or that seeks non-monetary relief;
- engage in any internal restructuring that would result in any Person other than Generations Bancorp owning Generations Bank or any other Person holding Assets and Liabilities of Generations Bank; or
- enter into any Contract (conditional or otherwise) to do any of the foregoing.

Certain Other Covenants. The P&A Agreement also contains other agreements relating to the conduct of the parties before consummation of the Bank Asset Sale, including the following:

- Both Generations Bank and ESL must use their commercially reasonable efforts to take all actions necessary to consummate the Bank Asset Sale as promptly as practicable and to cooperate fully with the other party to the P&A Agreement;
- Generations Bancorp's board of directors must call a stockholder meeting for its stockholders to vote on the P&A Agreement and the Sale Transaction. Generations Bancorp's board of directors must recommend approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale to Generations Bancorp's stockholders, subject to the ability to change its recommendation to stockholders as a result of a third-party proposal, but only after following specific procedures provided in the P&A Agreement;
- ESL may, at its own expenses, request environmental reports with respect to Bank real estate;
- Generations Bank must provide ESL with reasonable access to its books, records and properties and must send ESL copies of its unaudited financial statements on a monthly basis, and Generations Bank shall provide ESL copies of the minutes of its board and committee meetings no later than twenty business days after such meetings (except for minutes relating to confidential matters);
- Generations Bank and ESL must file all applications, filings, notices, consents, permits, requests or registrations required to obtain the authorization of any regulator and the consents of all third parties necessary to consummate the Bank Asset Sale;
- For two years following the closing of the Bank Asset Sale, Generations will not, and cause their Representatives or Affiliates not to (whether on behalf of Generations or otherwise), solicit customers whose Deposits are assumed pursuant to the P&A Agreement or whose Loans are acquired by ESL under the P&A Agreement for any banking business, and Generations will not engage in deposit taking activities;

- Generations Bank must not permit any of its officers, directors of affiliates to, while they are an officer, director or affiliate of Generations Bank, on behalf of Seller, solicit customers whose deposits are assumed or whose loans are acquired by ESL;
- After the receipt of all regulatory and stockholder approvals but before the closing of the Bank Asset Sale, ESL is permitted, at its sole expense, to begin installing its equipment and signage at Generations Bank's locations;
- Generations Bank must as soon as possible after the closing of the Bank Asset Sale surrender its charter and terminate its FDIC insurance;
- ESL shall take all commercially reasonable actions necessary to ensure that all customers of Generations Bank shall be included in ESL's field of membership as defined in its charter, including, but not limited to, receiving regulatory approval to amend its charter to such effect as of or prior to the Closing Date; and
- ESL shall reimburse Generations to purchase a prepaid tail insurance policy (the "Tail") with a claims period of six (6) years after Closing with, except as set forth in the P&A Agreement, at least the same coverage and amounts and containing terms and conditions that are not less advantageous to than Generations' existing directors and officers liability insurance policy, in each case with respect to Claims arising out of or relating to events which occurred before or at Closing (including in connection with the transactions contemplated by the P&A Agreement). The Tail shall name ESL as an additional insured.

Agreement Not to Solicit Other Offers. Generations Bank agrees that it will not, and it will cause its officers, directors, agents, advisors and affiliates not to, solicit or encourage inquiries or proposals with respect to, or engage in any negotiations concerning, or provide any confidential information to, or have any discussions with, any person relating to, any tender or exchange offer, proposal for a merger, consolidation, sale of assets and assumption of liabilities, or other business combination involving Generations Bank or any proposal or offer to acquire in any manner a substantial equity interest in, or a substantial portion of the assets or deposits of Generations Bank, other than the Bank Asset Sale (any of the foregoing, an "Acquisition Proposal"); provided, however, that the board of directors of Generations Bancorp or Generations Bank may provide information to, and may engage in such negotiations or discussions with, a person with respect to an Acquisition Proposal, directly or through representatives, if Generations Bancorp's board of directors, after consulting with and considering the advice of its financial advisor and its outside counsel, determines in good faith that its failure to provide information or to engage in any such negotiations or discussions could reasonably be expected to constitute a failure to discharge properly the fiduciary duties of such directors in accordance with applicable law. Generations Bank shall within forty-eight (48) hours advise ESL following the receipt by it of any written Acquisition Proposal and the substance thereof (including the identity of the person making such Acquisition Proposal and a copy of such Acquisition Proposal), and advise ESL of any developments with respect to such Acquisition Proposal immediately upon the occurrence thereof.

Employee Matters. Each Generations Bank employee that ESL elects to hire will be offered substantially similar salaries and benefits as are available to similarly situated ESL employees. Each Bank employee who (1) is not offered employment with ESL as of the effective time of the Bank Asset Sale, or (2) is involuntarily terminated by ESL (other than for cause) within twelve months following the effective time of the Bank Asset Sale will receive a severance payment in an amount equal to two weeks of compensation for each year of service with Generations Bank, with a minimum of four weeks of severance and a maximum of 26 weeks of severance, with each of these payments, as applicable, complying with the Troubled Condition Restrictions.

In connection with the Sale Transaction, Generations Bank will terminate Generations Bank's ESOP and distributions will made under the plan as soon as practicable following the Bank Asset Sale.

Representations and Warranties in the P&A Agreement. The representations and warranties described below and included in the P&A Agreement were made only for purposes of the P&A Agreement and as of specific dates, are solely for the benefit of ESL and Generations Bank, may be subject to limitations, qualifications or

exceptions agreed upon by the parties, including those included in disclosure schedules made for the purposes of, among other things, allocating contractual risk between ESL and Generations Bank rather than establishing matters as facts, and may be subject to standards of materiality that differ from those standards relevant to investors. You should not rely on the representations, warranties, covenants or any description thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of ESL, Generations Bank or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations, warranties and covenants may change after the date of the P&A Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in public disclosures by ESL or Generations Bank. The representations and warranties and other provisions of the P&A Agreement should not be read alone, but instead should be read only in conjunction with the information provided elsewhere in this proxy statement.

Both ESL and Generations Bank have made certain customary representations and warranties to each other relating to their businesses in the P&A Agreement. These representations and warranties relate to, among other things:

- corporate organization and authority;
- absence of conflicts;
- financial information;
- compliance with law;
- employee benefit plans and other employee matters;
- absence of facts that would materially impair or delay receipt of regulatory approvals;
- absence of legal proceedings; and
- accuracy of statements made and materials given to the other party.

Generations Bank also has made representations and warranties to ESL regarding:

- title to real estate and other assets;
- no undisclosed liabilities;
- loans and investments, including the allowance for credit losses;
- deposits;
- insurance;
- records;
- the absence of certain material events since December 31, 2023;
- environmental matters;
- Community Reinvestment Act rating;
- tax matters;
- contracts and commitments;
- agreements with governmental entities;

- indemnification agreements;
- opinion of financial advisor; and
- required consents and approvals.

ESL also has represented to Generations Bank that it has the financial ability to pay the Cash Purchase Price.

For information on these representations and warranties, see Articles V and VI of the P&A Agreement attached as <u>Appendix A</u>. The representations and warranties must generally be true through the completion of the Bank Asset Sale. See "—Conditions to the Bank Asset Sale."

Termination of the P&A Agreement. The P&A Agreement may be terminated at or before the completion of the Bank Asset Sale, either before or after any requisite stockholder approval, by:

- The mutual written consent of ESL and Generations Bank;
- ESL or Generations Bank, if:
 - > any required regulatory approval has been denied;
 - the other party materially breaches a representation or warranty or breaches a covenant or agreement so that the conditions to consummating the Bank Asset Sale cannot be satisfied and the breach is not cured within 20 business days following written notice to the party committing the breach;
 - either party if the Bank Asset Sale cannot be consummated by September 23, 2025, provided that if the sole impediment to Closing is the receipt of any required regulatory approval, then such date shall be extended by up to two consecutive two (2) month periods, provided further that the right to terminate the P&A Agreement is not available to any party whose breach causes the failure to be able to close by that date;
- Generations Bancorp and Generations Bank, if:
 - Generations enters into a merger agreement with a third party in response to a superior proposal, but only if Generations has determined that failure to take such action would cause it to violate its fiduciary duties, has complied with its obligations under the no-shop provisions and pays the termination fee discussed below.

Termination Fee. The P&A Agreement requires Generations to pay ESL a cash fee of \$1,640,000 if Generations terminates the P&A Agreement because it has entered into a merger agreement with a third party in response to a superior proposal.

Fees and Expenses. Except as otherwise specified in the P&A Agreement, each party will pay its own costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Bank Asset Sale.

Waiver and Amendment of the P&A Agreement. Either party may waive the performance by the other of any of the covenants or agreements to be performed by such other party under the P&A Agreement; provided, however, that neither party may waive the requirement for obtaining the regulatory approvals. The waiver by any party of a breach of or non-compliance with any provision of the P&A Agreement will not operate or be construed as a retained waiver or a waiver of any other or subsequent breach or non-compliance hereunder. The parties may amend, modify or supplement the P&A Agreement in writing.

Generations Bancorp's board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote "<u>FOR</u>" the approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale.

PROPOSAL 2 – APPROVAL OF THE PLAN OF DISSOLUTION AND THE COMPANY DISSOLUTION

General

Generations Bancorp is seeking stockholder approval of Generations Bancorp's Plan of Dissolution and Complete Liquidation (the "Plan of Dissolution") pursuant to which Generations Bancorp will dissolve, make provision for its liabilities, including contingent liabilities, wind up its operations and distribute all of its remaining assets to its stockholders (the "Company Dissolution"). Although the Company Dissolution is being approved separately from the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale, the Company Dissolution is an integral part of the Sale Transaction contemplated by the P&A Agreement and will occur only if the Bank Asset Sale and the Bank Liquidation are completed. The P&A Agreement, the Bank Asset Sale and the Bank Asset Sale and the Bank Sale Transaction are discussed under "Proposal 1 – Approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale." Generations Bank's reasons for the Sale Transaction are discussed under "Proposal 1 – Approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale." Generations Bank's reasons for the Sale Transaction are discussed under "Proposal 1 – Approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale." Generations Bank's reasons for the Sale Transactions Contemplated Thereby, and Recommendation of Generations Bancorp's Board of Directors."

The Sale Transaction can be completed as intended only if the P&A Agreement and Bank Asset Sale and the Company Dissolution are both approved at the special meeting. If the P&A Agreement and Bank Asset Sale is not approved by Generations Bancorp's stockholders, the Sale Transaction will not occur and there will be no Company Dissolution and no distribution to stockholders, even if the Company Dissolution is approved by stockholders approve the P&A Agreement and Bank Asset Sale but do not approve the Company Dissolution, assuming the other closing conditions in the P&A Agreement are satisfied, ESL and Generations Bancorp may agree to complete the Bank Asset Sale. In that case, Generations Bank, having transferred substantially all of its operating assets to ESL, would liquidate and distribute its remaining assets to Generations Bancorp. However, Generations Bancorp could not then immediately begin the process of dissolving, and the distributions to stockholders would be delayed until stockholders approve a dissolution of Generations Bancorp. Generations Bancorp does not intend to invest in another operating business following the completion of the Bank Asset Sale and Bank Liquidation. Generations Bancorp would use its remaining assets to pay ongoing operating expenses, and Generations Bancorp expects that such expenses would exceed any revenue generated by its remaining assets.

The following is a summary description of the material aspects of the Plan of Dissolution and the Company Dissolution. The summary below may not contain all the information that is important to you and should be read in conjunction with the Plan of Dissolution, which is attached as <u>Appendix C</u> to this proxy statement.

Dissolution and Winding Up of Generations Bancorp

By approving the Company Dissolution pursuant to the Plan of Dissolution, Generations Bancorp's stockholders will be approving the voluntary dissolution of Generations Bancorp under the Maryland General Corporation Law. If the Plan of Dissolution and Company Dissolution are approved, Generations Bancorp's board of directors will take such actions as it deems, in its absolute discretion, necessary, appropriate or advisable to effect the Company Dissolution. We expect that, following stockholder approval of the Company Dissolution, and the completion of the Bank Asset Sale and the Bank Liquidation, Generations Bancorp will:

- provide notice to Generations Bancorp's creditors and employees, at least 20 days before filing articles of dissolution, that the Company Dissolution has been approved;
- pay any state taxes owed by Generations Bancorp that must be paid before filing articles of dissolution;
- file articles of dissolution with the Maryland Department of Assessments and Taxation, dissolving Generations Bancorp as a corporation (articles of dissolution may be filed no earlier than 20 days after notice to creditors and employees is given, and will become effective upon the acceptance of

the articles of dissolution by the Maryland Department of Assessments and Taxation or on such later date as may be specified in the articles of dissolution);

- conduct business operations after dissolution only to the extent necessary to wind-up Generations Bancorp's business affairs;
- liquidate Generations Bancorp's remaining assets;
- pay, or make provision for the payment of, all of Generations Bancorp's known obligations and liabilities;
- establish a contingency reserve fund of approximately \$300,000 for possible post-dissolution expenses;
- begin the process of distributing Generations Bancorp's remaining assets to its stockholders. In distributing assets to stockholders, Generations Bancorp's board of directors may use the following procedure set forth in Section 3-412 of the Maryland General Corporation Law:
 - notify Generations Bancorp's stockholders that they must prove their interests in Generations Bancorp's remaining assets within a specified time at least 60 days after the date of the notice and, after expiration of the time specified in the notice, make a distribution to each stockholder who has proved his or her interest such stockholder's proportionate share of the assets being distributed, reserving the shares of those who have not proved their interests;
 - after the initial distribution of stockholder interests, the board of directors may incur reasonable expenses in locating the remaining stockholders, securing proof of interests from them and distributing to them their interests, and may charge the expenses for such activities against the funds undistributed to stockholders who have not proved their interests at the time the expenses are incurred;
 - no earlier than three years from the date of the original notice requesting that stockholders prove their interests, make a final distribution of all surplus assets remaining including the unclaimed shares of stockholders who have not proved their interest, to those stockholders who have proved their interests and are entitled to distribution; and
 - if the process set forth in Section 3-412 of the Maryland General Corporation Law has been followed, then after the final distribution, the interests in Generations Bancorp's funds of any stockholder who has not proved his or her interest will be forever barred and foreclosed.
- Alternatively, Generations Bancorp's board of directors may, in its sole discretion, transfer all, or a portion of, the assets of Generations Bancorp to one or more liquidating trustees for distribution to stockholders.

Timing of Distributions. We are currently unable to predict the precise timing of any distributions to our stockholders pursuant to the Plan of Dissolution, although we intend to make distributions as promptly as reasonably practicable given the filing and notice requirements set forth above. The timing of any distributions will be determined by our board of directors.

Amount of Distributions. Generations Bancorp estimates that upon completion of the Sale Transaction stockholders will receive between \$18.00 and \$20.00 in cash for each share of Generations Bancorp common stock that they own. *This estimated consideration per share is based on numerous assumptions and is subject to change*. Factors that could cause the per share consideration to change include adjustments to the Cash Purchase Price in the Bank Asset Sale, as well as anticipated and unanticipated expenses and liabilities that arise during the sale and dissolution process. For a detailed discussion of factors that could cause the value of consideration to be received by

stockholders to change, see "Proposal 1 – Approval of the P&A Agreement and the Bank Asset Sale – Consideration to be Received by Stockholders."

When Generations Bancorp is in a position to begin making distributions to stockholders, stockholders will be provided information regarding the exact manner in which distributions will be made, which is currently anticipated to be in two separate distributions, and if stockholders will be required to surrender their stock certificates to Generations Bancorp. Stockholders should not send their stock certificates to Generations Bancorp at this time.

Donation of Remainder to a Charitable Organization. A portion of the reserve fund discussed above may be retained by Generations Bancorp in dissolution as a contingency reserve fund for three or more years. It is expected that any amounts remaining in the reserve fund after Generations Bancorp's board of directors has determined that the reserve fund is no longer required will be immaterial compared to the cost and effort that would be required to equitably distribute such remaining funds to Generations Bancorp's stockholders entitled to distributions after such a long period. As a result, it is expected that Generations Bancorp's board of directors will, subject to a determination that it is in compliance with the directors' fiduciary duties, donate any such remaining funds to a charitable organization.

Record Date for Liquidating Distributions

It is expected that the initial distribution of assets to stockholders will be made to stockholders of record as of the close of business on the day immediately preceding the day of such initial distribution, and that the proportionate interests of stockholders in the assets of Generations Bancorp in any subsequent distributions will be fixed on the basis of their holdings on the day immediately preceding the initial distribution. However, this is subject to change in accordance with the Plan of Dissolution and stockholders will be notified of the date for determining stockholders entitled to distributions in advance of such date.

Trading of Generations Bancorp's Common Stock; Closing of Transfer Books

Generations Bancorp's common stock is expected to trade on Generations Bancorp's transfer books until shortly before the initial distribution of assets to stockholders, at which time the transfer books are expected to be closed and Generations Bancorp's stock will not be transferable by the negotiation of share certificates. However, the timing of the closing of Generations Bancorp's transfer books is subject to change in the sole discretion of Generations Bancorp without notice to stockholders. It is expected that the per share consideration will be distributed in two payments with the substantial majority of the total per share consideration expected to be distributed within six to nine months following the closing of the Bank Asset Sale, and the balance of the per share consideration to be distributed six to nine months after the first payment. It is possible that the common stock will continue to be quoted and trade after the first payment; however, Generations Bancorp's common stock may be removed from the OTCQX Market at any time without notice to stockholders.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Company Dissolution that are Different from Yours

In considering the recommendation of the board of directors of Generations Bancorp to vote for the Sale Transaction and the Company Dissolution, you should be aware that Generations Bancorp's directors and executive officers have employment and other compensation agreements or plans that give them financial interests in the Sale Transaction that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of Generations Bancorp stockholders generally. Any of these payments may be subject to regulatory non-objection pursuant to the Troubled Condition Restrictions. These interests include: possible payments under the change-in-control provisions of employment agreements and change in control agreements; receipt of the accelerated vesting and cash-out value of stock options; accelerated vesting of restricted stock awards; acceleration of awards under supplemental executive retirement plans; the provision by ESL of reimbursement to the directors' and officers' of a Tail Insurance Policy for a period of six years after completion of the Bank Asset Sale.

For a more detailed discussion of the interests of directors and executive officers discussed above, see "Proposal I – Approval of the P&A Agreement and Bank Asset Sale – Interests of Certain Persons in the Sale Transaction that are Different from Yours." Generations Bancorp's board of directors was aware of these interests and considered them, among other matters, in approving the P&A Agreement and the Sale Transaction.

No Appraisal or Dissenter's Rights

Under Generations Bancorp's Articles of Incorporation, Generations Bancorp's stockholders are not entitled to exercise any rights of an objecting stockholder provided under Maryland General Corporation Law unless the board of directors determines that such rights apply with respect to a transaction. Generations Bancorp's board of directors has not made such a determination with respect to the Company Dissolution or the Sale Transaction. **Accordingly, the stockholders of Generations Bancorp do not have appraisal or dissenters' rights with respect to the Company Dissolution or Sale Transaction.**

Abandonment; Amendment

Notwithstanding stockholder approval of the Plan of Dissolution, the board of directors may abandon the Company Dissolution and the Plan of Dissolution at any time before filing the articles of dissolution. Upon such filing, in accordance with Maryland law, the Company Dissolution will be effective and may no longer be abandoned.

The Plan of Dissolution provides that, notwithstanding approval of the Plan of Dissolution by Generations Bancorp's stockholders, the board of directors may modify or amend the Plan of Dissolution without further action by or approval of the stockholders, to the extent permitted under current law.

Liability of Stockholders, Directors and Officers

Under Maryland law, the Company Dissolution does not relieve Generations Bancorp's stockholders, directors, or officers from any obligation or liability imposed on them by law.

Maryland law provides that a stockholder could be held liable to creditors of Generations Bancorp for his or her pro rata portion (based on relative stockholdings) of any such liability, limited to the amount received by the stockholder in distributions from Generations Bancorp under the Plan of Dissolution. If we made a distribution to you, in such circumstances, you may have to pay back some or all of the distributions made to you. Because we intend to carefully evaluate, and make adequate provision for, Generations Bancorp's liabilities in winding up Generations Bancorp, we do not anticipate that any distribution will be made pursuant to the Plan of Dissolution without payment or adequate provision having been made for all Generations Bancorp's liabilities.

Company Dissolution Conditioned on Completion of the Bank Asset Sale

The Company Dissolution will occur only after, and is conditioned on the completion of, the Bank Asset Sale and the Bank Liquidation. If the Bank Asset Sale and Bank Liquidation do not receive regulatory or stockholder approval or are not completed for any other reason, the Company Dissolution will not occur, even if the Plan of Dissolution is approved by stockholders at the special meeting.

Generations Bancorp's board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote "<u>FOR</u>" the approval of the Plan of Dissolution and the Company Dissolution.

PROPOSAL 3 – ADJOURNMENT OF THE SPECIAL MEETING

If there are insufficient votes to approve the adoption of Proposals 1 or 2, or both, at the time of the special meeting, the special meeting may be adjourned to a later date or dates to permit further solicitation of proxies. To allow proxies that have been received by Generations Bancorp at the time of the special meeting to be voted for an adjournment, if necessary, Generations Bancorp has submitted the question of adjournment to its stockholders as a separate matter for their consideration. The special meeting may be adjourned to solicit additional proxies. If it is necessary to adjourn the special meeting, no notice of the adjourned special meeting is required to be given to stockholders (unless a new record date is fixed), other than an announcement at the special meeting of the hour, date and place to which the special meeting is adjourned.

Approval of the proposal to adjourn the special meeting requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the special meeting.

Generations Bancorp's board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote "<u>FOR</u>" the adjournment proposal.

MISCELLANEOUS

Generations Bancorp will bear the cost of solicitation of proxies and it will reimburse brokerage firms and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for reasonable expenses incurred by them in sending proxy materials to the beneficial owners of common stock. In addition to solicitations by mail, Generations Bancorp's directors, officers and regular employees may solicit proxies personally, by telephone or by other forms of communication without additional compensation. Laurel Hill Advisory Group has agreed to assist Generations Bancorp in the proxy solicitation for a fee of \$7,500, plus reimbursement of expenses and charges for telephone calls made and received in connection with the solicitation.

Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, please vote by marking, signing, dating, and promptly returning the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed envelope, or vote by telephone or via the Internet.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Ron Mansh

Lori M. Parish Corporate Secretary

Seneca Falls, New York January 14, 2025

Appendix A

PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

ESL FEDERAL CREDIT UNION,

GENERATIONS BANK,

AND

GENERATIONS BANCORP NY, INC. (Solely for Purposes of the Sections Identified Herein)

September 23, 2024

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS		2
Section 1.01	Definitions	2
Section 1.02	Interpretation	
	1	
ARTICLE II T	ERMS OF PURCHASE AND SALE	18
Section 2.01	Assets	18
Section 2.02	Assumed Liabilities	
Section 2.03	Excluded Liabilities and Other Liabilities	19
Section 2.04	Purchase Price; Adjustments to Purchase Price	20
ARTICLE III 7	TRANSFER OF ASSETS	23
Section 3.01	Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests	23
Section 3.02	Fixed Assets	
Section 3.03	Loans	
Section 3.04	Liquid Assets	
Section 3.05	Cash on Hand	
Section 3.06	Records and Routing and Telephone Numbers, and Email Addresses	24
Section 3.07	Contracts and Bank Accounts	
Section 3.08	Accounts Receivable	24
Section 3.09	Safe Deposit Boxes and Other Assets	24
Section 3.10	Retirement Accounts	
Section 3.11	Allocation	24
Section 3.12	Destruction of Property	25
ARTICLE IV (CLOSING	25
Section 4.01	Closing Date	25
Section 4.02	Closing Payment	
Section 4.03	Deliveries by Seller	
Section 4.04	Deliveries by Buyer	
Section 4.05	Pre-Closing Funding	
Section 4.06	Seller Indebtedness	
ARTICLE V R	EPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER AND	
	HOLDING COMPANY	26
Section 5.01	Organization and Authority	26
Section 5.02	Conflicts; Consents; Defaults	
Section 5.03	Financial Information	
Section 5.04	Absence of Changes	
Section 5.05	Title to Real Estate	
Section 5.06	Title to Assets Other Than Real Estate	
Section 5.07	Loans	31

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section 5.08	Residential and Commercial Mortgage Loans and Certain Business	
	Loans	32
Section 5.09	Auto Receivables	
Section 5.10	Reserved	
Section 5.11	Unsecured Loans	
Section 5.12	Participation Loans	35
Section 5.13	Allowance	
Section 5.14	Investments	
Section 5.15	Deposits	
Section 5.16	Contracts	37
Section 5.17	Tax Matters	39
Section 5.18	Employee Matters	
Section 5.19	Employee Benefit Plans	41
Section 5.20	Environmental Matters	
Section 5.21	No Undisclosed Liabilities	
Section 5.22	Litigation	43
Section 5.23	Performance of Obligations	
Section 5.24	Compliance with Law	
Section 5.25	Brokerage	
Section 5.26	Records	43
Section 5.27	Community Reinvestment Act	
Section 5.28	Insurance	
Section 5.29	Regulatory Enforcement Matters	
Section 5.30	Regulatory Approvals	
Section 5.31	Representations Regarding Financial Condition	
Section 5.32	Data Security Requirements	
Section 5.33	Intellectual Property	46
Section 5.34	Transactions with Affiliates	
Section 5.35	Fairness Opinion	
Section 5.36	Limitation of Warranties	47
Section 5.37	Disclosure	47
ARTICLE VI F	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER	47
Section 6.01	Organization and Authority	47
Section 6.02	Conflicts; Defaults	
Section 6.03	Litigation	
Section 6.04	Regulatory Approvals	
Section 6.05	Financial Ability	
Section 6.06	Financial Information	
Section 6.07	Compliance with Law	
Section 6.08	Disclosure	
Section 6.09	Absence of Regulatory Actions	
ARTICLE VII	COVENANTS	49
Section 7.01	Efforts to Close	

Section 7.02	Shareholder Approval	49
Section 7.03	Field of Membership	
Section 7.04	Press Releases	
Section 7.05	Access to Records and Information; Personnel; Customers	
Section 7.06	Operation in Ordinary Course	51
Section 7.07	Regulatory Applications	
Section 7.08	Third Party Consents	
Section 7.09	Title Insurance and Surveys	
Section 7.10	Environmental Matters; Property Condition Reports	
Section 7.11	Further Assurances	
Section 7.12	Payment of Items	
Section 7.13	Delivery of Fixed Assets	
Section 7.14	Close of Business on Closing Date	
Section 7.15	Supplemental Information	
Section 7.16	Confidentiality of Records	
Section 7.17	Solicitation of Customers	
Section 7.18	Installation/Conversion of Signage/Equipment	59
Section 7.19	Seller Activities after Closing	60
Section 7.20	Maintenance of Records by Buyer	
Section 7.21	Board and Committee Meetings	60
Section 7.22	Cooperation on Conversion of Systems	
Section 7.23	Minimum Share Deposits in Buyer	60
Section 7.24	No-Shop; Acquisition Proposals	
Section 7.25	Investment Securities	
Section 7.26	Liquidation Accounts	
Section 7.27	No Control of Other Party's Business	
Section 7.28	Termination of Excluded Contracts	
Section 7.29	Stockholder Litigation	
Section 7.30	Core Deposits Outflow	
Section 7.31	Post-Closing Support	
Section 7.32	Refinance of Non-Compliant Loans.	
Section 7.33	2024 Audit	65
Section 7.34	FISERV Termination Fees	65
ARTICLE VIII	I EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS	
Section 8.01	Employees	66
Section 8.02	Employment Contracts and Employee Benefit Plans	
Section 8.03	Other Employee Benefit Matters	
Section 8.04	Employee Documents	
Section 8.05	Tail Insurance	
ARTICLE IX (CONDITIONS TO CLOSING	69
Section 9.01	Conditions to the Obligations of Seller	
Section 9.02	Conditions to the Obligations of Buyer	
Section 9.02	Condition to the Obligations of Seller and Buyer	
	6	······ . –

ARTICLE X TE	ERMINATION	73
Section 10.01	Termination	73
Section 10.02	Effect of Termination and Abandonment	
Section 10.03	Liquidated Damages.	
ARTICLE XI O	THER AGREEMENTS	75
Section 11.01	Holds and Stop Payment Orders	75
Section 11.02	ACH Items and Recurring Debits	75
Section 11.03	Withholding	75
Section 11.04	Retirement Accounts	76
Section 11.05	Interest Reporting	76
Section 11.06	Notices to Depositors	76
Section 11.07	Card Processing and Overdraft Coverage	76
Section 11.08	Taxpayer Information	77
Section 11.09	UCC Financing Statement Dates	77
Section 11.10	Taxes; Transfer Charges	
Section 11.11	Prorations and Adjustments	
Section 11.12	Reserved	
Section 11.13	Representation and Warranty Insurance Policy	77
	representation and warrancy insurance roney.	
_	GENERAL PROVISIONS	
_	GENERAL PROVISIONS	78
ARTICLE XII (78 78
ARTICLE XII (Section 12.01	GENERAL PROVISIONS	78 78 78
ARTICLE XII (Section 12.01 Section 12.02	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries	78 78 78 78
ARTICLE XII (Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries Notices	78 78 78 78 80
ARTICLE XII (Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries Notices Assignment	78 78 78 78 80 80
ARTICLE XII (Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries Notices Assignment Successors and Assigns	78 78 78 80 80 80
ARTICLE XII (Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries Notices Assignment Successors and Assigns Governing Law	78 78 78 80 80 80 80
ARTICLE XII (Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06 Section 12.07	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries Notices Assignment Successors and Assigns Governing Law Entire Agreement	78 78 78 80 80 80 80 80 80
ARTICLE XII C Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06 Section 12.07 Section 12.08	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries Notices Assignment Successors and Assigns Governing Law Entire Agreement Headings	78 78 78 78 80 80 80 80 80 80
ARTICLE XII C Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06 Section 12.07 Section 12.08 Section 12.09	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries Notices Assignment Successors and Assigns Governing Law Entire Agreement Headings Severability	78 78 78 80 80 80 80 80 80 81
ARTICLE XII C Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06 Section 12.07 Section 12.07 Section 12.08 Section 12.09 Section 12.10 Section 12.11 Section 12.12	GENERAL PROVISIONS	78 78 78 78 80 80 80 80 80 81 81
ARTICLE XII C Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06 Section 12.07 Section 12.07 Section 12.08 Section 12.09 Section 12.10 Section 12.11 Section 12.12 Section 12.13	GENERAL PROVISIONS Fees and Expenses No Third Party Beneficiaries Notices Assignment Successors and Assigns Governing Law Entire Agreement Headings Severability Waiver Counterparts Force Majeure Schedules	78 78 78 78 80 80 80 80 80 81 81 81
ARTICLE XII C Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06 Section 12.07 Section 12.07 Section 12.08 Section 12.09 Section 12.10 Section 12.11 Section 12.12 Section 12.13 Section 12.14	GENERAL PROVISIONS	78 78 78 80 80 80 80 80 81 81 81 81 81
ARTICLE XII C Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06 Section 12.07 Section 12.07 Section 12.09 Section 12.09 Section 12.10 Section 12.11 Section 12.12 Section 12.13 Section 12.14 Section 12.15	GENERAL PROVISIONS	78 78 78 78 80 80 80 80 80 81 81 81 81 81
ARTICLE XII C Section 12.01 Section 12.02 Section 12.03 Section 12.04 Section 12.05 Section 12.06 Section 12.07 Section 12.07 Section 12.08 Section 12.09 Section 12.10 Section 12.11 Section 12.12 Section 12.13 Section 12.14	GENERAL PROVISIONS	78 78 78 80 80 80 80 80 80 81 81 81 81 81 81 81 82

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A	Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement [omitted]
Exhibit B	Form of Bargain and Sale Deed [omitted]
Exhibit C	Form of Bill of Sale and Assignment[omitted]

Exhibit D Form of Retirement Account Transfer Agreement [omitte	ed]
-----------------------------------------------------------------	-----

- Exhibit E
- Form of Limited Power of Attorney [omitted] Form of Non-Solicitation Agreement [omitted] Form of Voting Agreement [omitted] Exhibit F
- Exhibit G

(This page has been left blank intentionally)

PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

THIS PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into as of this 23rd day of September, 2024 (the "**Effective Date**"), by and among Generations Bank ("**Seller**"), a federal savings bank having its main office in Seneca Falls, New York, Generations Bancorp NY, Inc., a Maryland corporation and sole shareholder of Seller ("**Holding Company**"), and ESL Federal Credit Union, a federally chartered credit union having its chief executive office in Rochester, New York ("**Buyer**"). Holding Company, Seller and Buyer are each a "**Party**" and collectively the "**Parties**". Holding Company is a signatory to the Agreement solely for the purpose of providing the covenants and other agreements, as specifically identified within such sections set forth in <u>Article V, Article VII, Article X, Article XI</u> and <u>Article XII</u>.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Seller has declared it advisable and in the best interest of Seller and its sole shareholder, Holding Company, to sell substantially all of Seller's assets and liabilities;

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Holding Company has declared it advisable and in the best interest of Holding Company and its shareholders for Seller to sell substantially all of its assets and transfer substantially all of its liabilities to Buyer;

WHEREAS, applicable state and/or federal regulations allow Seller to liquidate and dissolve after transferring substantially all of its assets and liabilities to Buyer;

WHEREAS, Buyer desires to acquire substantially all of the assets and assume substantially all of the liabilities of Seller;

WHEREAS, following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and subject to satisfaction of or other provision for all of its debts and other obligations, Seller will (i) wind up its business and surrender its banking charter, (ii) distribute its assets and assign its liabilities to Holding Company, and (iii) liquidate and dissolve; and

WHEREAS, as a condition to the willingness of Buyer to enter into this Agreement, each of the Holding Company directors and the executive officers of Seller who own shares of stock of Holding Company has entered into one or more Voting Agreements (each a "Voting Agreement" and collectively the "Voting Agreements"), substantially in the form of Exhibit G hereto, dated as of the date hereof, with Buyer, pursuant to which each such director and executive officer agreed, among other things, to vote all shares of common stock of Holding Company owned or controlled by such Person in favor of the approval of this Agreement and the Transactions, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Voting Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements, representations, warranties and covenants herein contained, the parties, intending to be bound, hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 <u>Definitions</u>. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this Agreement, as used herein, the following terms have the definitions indicated:

"Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement" means a confidentiality agreement that contains confidentiality provisions that are no less favorable to the Holding Company and Seller than those contained in the Confidentiality Agreement; provided, that an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement shall not (a) prevent the Holding Company, Seller, their Affiliates or any of their Representatives from complying with any of the provisions of this Agreement or restrict in any manner the Holding Company's and/or Seller's ability to consummate the Transactions prior to the valid termination of this Agreement, (b) adversely affect the rights of Holding Company, Seller and their Affiliates thereunder upon compliance by the Holding Company and Seller with the provisions of this Agreement, (c) include any provision calling for an exclusive right to negotiate with the Holding Company or Seller prior to the valid termination of this Agreement, or (d) require the Holding Company or Seller to pay or reimburse the counterparty's fees, costs or expenses.

"Account Loans" are those savings account loans and NOW accounts, checking and other transaction account lines of credit associated with Deposits which consist of (i) all account loans secured solely by Deposits, if any, and (ii) any overdraft, checking balances or checking account line of credit loan balances, if any.

"Accounting Standards" means GAAP as modified by applicable regulatory accounting principles (to the extent required in the preparation of the audited consolidated financial statements of Holding Company or Seller, as applicable), and CECL for estimating allowances for credit losses and, in all cases, applied consistent with past practices.

"Accounts Receivable" means all accounts receivable of Seller as of the close of business on the Closing Date.

"Accrued Interest" on any Loans and Liquid Assets means interest that is accrued, whether or not credited, through the close of business on the Closing Date, and on Deposits, FHLB advances, Federal Reserve Bank borrowings and other borrowings of Seller (if any) means interest that is accrued, whether or not posted, through the close of business on the Closing Date.

"ACH" has the meaning assigned in Section 11.02.

"ACH Items" means automated clearing house debits and credits including social security payments, federal recurring payments, and other payments debited and/or credited to or from Deposit accounts pursuant to arrangements between the owner of the account and third party initiating the credits or debits.

"Acquisition Proposal" means any inquiry, proposal or offer from any Person (other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates) concerning (i) a merger, consolidation, liquidation, recapitalization, share exchange, tender or exchange offer or other business combination transaction directly or indirectly involving the Holding Company or Seller; (ii) the issuance or acquisition of shares of capital stock or other equity securities of the Holding Company or Seller (other than pursuant to previously issued stock options in the Ordinary Course of Business); (iii) the sale, lease, exchange, license or other disposition of any material portion of the Holding Company's or Seller's properties or assets; or (iv) the management or oversight of any material portion of the business of the Seller.

"Affiliate" or "Affiliates" of a party means (as the context requires) any Person, directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with that party. For the purposes of the definition of Affiliate, "control" (including, with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" or "under common control with"), as applied to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of (i) ownership, control or power to vote twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the outstanding shares of any class of voting securities of such Person; (ii) control, in any manner, over the election of a majority of the directors, trustees, general partners or managing members (or individuals exercising similar functions) of such Person; or (iii) the ability to exercise a controlling influence over the management or policies of such Person.

"Agreement" has the meaning assigned in the Preamble.

"Allowance" means the specific and general reserves applicable to the Loans as determined by Seller in accordance with the Accounting Standards. Any specific Allowance as of June 30, 2024, with respect to any Loan or category of Loans, is set forth on the Allowance for Loan and Lease Summary set forth in Section 1.01(a) of the Disclosure Schedule.

"ALTA" means the American Land Title Association.

"Assets" means all assets of Seller including tangible and Intangible Assets, the Liquid Assets, Intellectual Property, Seller Real Estate, Leasehold Interests, OREO, Fixed Assets, the Loans, the Loan Documents, the Accounts Receivable, the Contracts, Cash on Hand, the Records, the Safe Deposit Boxes, the Bank Accounts, the Prepaid Expenses, the Other Assets, the Routing, Telephone Numbers and Email Addresses, supplies, inventory, and repossessed collateral, but specifically excluding the Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event will "Assets" be deemed to include any assets solely owned by Holding Company.

"Assignment and Assumption Agreement" has the meaning assigned in Section 2.02(a).

"Assumed Liabilities" has the meaning assigned in Section 2.02.

"Auto Receivable" means a Loan or installment sale contract arising from the purchase of, and secured by, an automobile, light-duty vehicle, all-terrain vehicle, boat, or motorcycle.

"Bank Accounts" means all of Seller's demand deposit accounts including those for payroll and cashier's checks, but excluding the Seller Designated Bank Account.

"Bargain and Sale Deed" has the meaning assigned in Section 3.01.

"Bill of Sale and Assignment" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 3.02</u>.

"BOLI" means Bank Owned Life Insurance.

"Business Data" means all business information and data pertaining to the Seller's business and/or operations (whether in electronic or any other form or medium), including non-public and confidential information, that is accessed, collected, used, processed, stored, shared, distributed, transferred, disclosed, destroyed, or disposed of by, or otherwise in the custody or control of, the Seller.

"Business Day" means any Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, or Friday that is not a federal holiday generally recognized by New York commercial banks.

"Business Loan" means a term or revolving Loan to a commercial enterprise secured by personal property, real property, accounts receivable, or a mixture of real and personal property, or unsecured term or revolving Loan to a commercial enterprise, including any Loan made in connection with the Small Business Administration's loan guaranty program.

"Buyer" has the meaning assigned in the Preamble.

"Buyer Fee" has the meaning assigned in Section 10.03.

"Buyer Schedule" has the meaning assigned in the first paragraph of Article VI.

"Buyer Stay Bonus Agreements" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 8.01(e)</u>.

"Buyer Stay Bonuses" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 8.01(e)</u>.

"Buyer's Employee Benefit Plans" has the meaning assigned in Section 8.01(f).

"Calculated Equity" means the total consolidated equity capital of Seller estimated as of the last day of the month immediately preceding the Closing Date, calculated in accordance with Accounting Standards and in accordance with applicatory regulatory requirements. For the sake of clarity and avoidance of doubt, Calculated Equity is intended to equal such amount as would be reported as the "Total equity capital" on line 28 of Schedule RC – Balance Sheet of Seller's Call Reports (based on the current form of FFIEC Form 051) as of the last day of the month preceding the Closing Date.

"Call Reports" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 5.03</u>.

"Cash on Hand" means all petty cash, vault cash, ATM cash and teller cash located at any branch of the Seller, in an ATM controlled by Seller, or otherwise in transit to or from a branch of the Seller.

"Cash Purchase Price" means Twenty-Six Million Two Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$26,200,000.00).

"Cause" means any of the following: (a) an employee's refusal or inability to substantially perform the employee's material duties or carry out the lawful instructions of Buyer (other than as a result of total or partial incapacity due to physical or mental illness); (b) the finding of an employee's fraud or embezzlement of Buyer's property; (c) an employee's dishonesty in the performance of his or her duties resulting in significant harm to Buyer; (d) an employee's conviction of a felony or any lesser offense involving moral turpitude under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or, where applicable, any equivalent offence (including a crime subject to a custodial sentence of one year or more) under the laws of the applicable jurisdiction; or (e) an employee's misconduct in connection with the employee's duties to Buyer which could reasonably be expected to be injurious to Buyer.

"CECL" means Current Expected Credit Losses Accounting Methodology.

"Charter Documents" has the meaning assigned in Section 5.01(d).

"Claim" means any audit, charge, claim, complaint, allegation, assertion, demand, arbitration, lawsuit, inquiry, audit, proceeding, litigation, hearing, or investigation of any name or nature, whether at law or in equity, whether civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory, or otherwise, by or before any Governmental Authority.

"Closing" and "Closing Date" have the meanings assigned to them in <u>Section 4.01</u>.

"Closing Balance Sheet" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 2.04(c)</u>.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Collection Account" means any account domiciled at one of Seller's offices through which Seller accepts payments or deposits for credit or deposit to another account domiciled at a different office of Seller.

"Commercial Mortgage Loan" means a Loan secured by a Mortgage on real property used for commercial purposes, including five- or greater unit residential real property.

"Commercially Available Software" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 5.16(e)</u>.

"Confidentiality Agreement" means that certain Confidentiality Agreement, dated April 11, 2024, by and between Buyer and Holding Company.

"Construction Loan" means a Loan, the proceeds of which are intended to be used substantially to finance the construction of improvements on real property.

"Contracts" means the service and maintenance agreements, leases of personal and real property, and any other agreements, licenses and permits to which Seller is a party (including without limitation, contracts for data processing services and other information technology services and contracts relating to the Safe Deposit Boxes); provided, however, that, for purposes of clarification only, such contracts shall not include the Excluded Contracts. All Excluded Contracts shall be retained by Seller and Buyer assumes no responsibility or Liability with respect thereto.

"Core Deposits" means the sum of the following items in Schedule RC-E in FFIEC 051 Call Report (or such successor items as may be reflected on updates to such report form) (i) Deposit or Deposits of Persons classified in Transaction Accounts (item 1, column A, RCONB549); and (ii) certificates of deposit (CDs) (Memorandum items M.2.b. RCON6648 and M.2.c. RCONJ473), money market Deposits and other savings Deposits (Memorandum items M.2.a.1, RCON 6810 and M.2.a.2, RCON 0352), that are, in each case, not (i) brokered accounts (i.e. Deposits accepted through a "deposit broker" as defined in Section 29 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended ("FDIA")), (ii) institutional funds or (iii) public funds (i.e. Deposits associated with a public body, including but not limited to any municipal, county, state or federal government).

"Core Deposits Amount" means the thirty (30) day average of the Core Deposits of Seller calculated using a consecutive thirty (30) day period.

"Core Deposits Basis" means the Core Deposits of Seller set forth on Section 5.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Core Deposits Outflow" means an amount, which shall not be less than zero, calculated by subtracting the Core Deposits Amount from the Core Deposits Basis.

"Core Deposits Outflow Overage" means an amount, which shall not be less than zero, calculated by subtracting (a) the product of the amount of the Core Deposits Basis and Core Deposits Outflow Threshold 1 from (b) the Core Deposits Outflow, calculated using the Core Deposits Amount of Seller as of five (5) days prior to the Closing Date.

"Core Deposits Outflow Percentage" means the Core Deposits Outflow, calculated as a percentage of the Core Deposit Basis.

"Core Deposits Outflow Reduction" means an amount equal to Four and One-Half Percent (4.50%) of the Core Deposits Outflow Overage.

"Core Deposits Outflow Threshold 1" means an amount equal to Ten Percent (10%).

"Covered Parties" means, the Seller's and Holding Company's current directors and officers (but only to the extent that such persons are covered by the Seller or Holding Company's existing directors and officers liability insurance policy).

"COVID-19" means SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2), coronavirus disease 2019 or COVID-19 (and all variants thereof).

"COVID-19 Measures" means any quarantine, "shelter in place," "stay at home," workforce reduction, social distancing, shut down, closure, sequester or any other Law, order, directive, guideline or recommendation by any Governmental Authority in connection with or in response to COVID-19, including, but not limited to, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020 (the "CARES Act").

"Data Security Requirements" has the meaning assigned in Section 5.32(a).

"Deposit" or "Deposits" means a deposit or deposits as defined in Section 3(l)(1) of the FDIA, 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(l)(1), including without limitation the aggregate balances of all savings accounts with positive balances, accounts accessible by negotiable orders of withdrawal ("NOW" accounts), other demand instruments, Retirement Accounts, and all other accounts and deposits, together with Accrued Interest thereon, if any.

"Disclosure Schedule" has the meaning assigned in <u>Article V</u>.

"Disclosure Schedule Monthly Updates" has the meaning assigned in Section 7.15.

"Disclosure Schedule Updates" has the meaning assigned in Section 7.15.

"Effective Date" has the meaning assigned in the Preamble.

"Effective Time" has the meaning assigned in Section 4.01.

"Employee Benefit Plan" means any (a) nonqualified deferred compensation or retirement plan or arrangement that is an Employee Pension Benefit Plan, (b) qualified defined contribution retirement plan or arrangement that is an Employee Pension Benefit Plan (including any Multiemployer Plan), (c) qualified defined benefit retirement plan or arrangement that is an Employee Pension Benefit Plan (including any Multiemployer Plan), or (d) Employee Welfare Benefit Plan or material fringe benefit plan or program, whether or not subject to ERISA, and any other plans, programs, policies, agreements or arrangements that provide compensation or benefits to any present or former employee, officer, director, or partner (or any dependent or beneficiary thereof) of Seller, and (i) that is sponsored or maintained by Seller, (ii) to which Seller is a party, or (iii) with respect to which Seller has any Liability, including, without limitation, any bonus, incentive, deferred compensation, pension, profit-sharing, retirement, vacation, equity or equitybased, severance, termination, employment, change of control, retention, health, retiree health or welfare, life disability accident or other insurance, or other fringe benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement.

"Employee Pension Benefit Plan" means as defined in ERISA Section 3(2).

"Employee Welfare Benefit Plan" means as defined in ERISA Section 3(1).

"Encumbrances" means all mortgages, claims, charges, liens, encumbrances, easements, restrictions, options, pledges, calls, commitments, security interests, conditional sales agreements, title retention agreements, leases, and other restrictions of any kind whatsoever.

"Environmental Laws" has the meaning assigned in Section 5.20.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"ESOP" means the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan.

"Excluded Assets" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 2.01(b)</u>.

"Excluded Contracts" are (1) any Employee Benefit Plan and any Contracts relating thereto (2) the BOLI and any Contracts relating thereto, (3) the Split Dollar Arrangements and any Contracts relating thereto, (4) any employment or change in control agreements to which the Seller is a party, including deferred compensation or supplemental retirement agreements to which Seller is a party, (5) without limitation of the exclusion set forth in (1), the ESOP and any Contracts relating thereto; (6) the Excluded Seller Leases identified in Section 9.02(f) of the Disclosure Schedule; and (7) the Contracts set forth on Section 1.01(b) of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Excluded D&O Claims" has the meaning assigned in Section 8.05 of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Excluded Deposit Accounts" (i) Municipal Deposits; (ii) any certificate of deposit established pursuant to Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service (CDARS); and (iii) the Deposits listed on Section 1.01(c) of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Excluded Liabilities" has the meaning assigned in Section 2.03.

"Excluded Liquid Assets" means Liquid Assets not assigned to the Buyer pursuant to <u>Section 3.04</u> in the amount of the Calculated Equity.

"Excluded Real Estate" means the following properties: (1) 76 Fall Street, Seneca Falls, New York (tax parcel no. 11-2-25) and (2) 10 Osborne Street, Auburn, New York (tax parcel no. 104.14-5-46).

"Excluded Seller Leases" has the meaning assigned in Section 9.02(f).

"Excluded Transaction Expenses" means (i) all of the out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred by Seller and Holding Company in connection with the negotiation, documentation, preparation, investigation, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and consummation of the Transactions and any due diligence related thereto, including all out-of-pocket fees, expenses, disbursements and other similar amounts owed to attorneys, financial advisors, advisors, accountants or service providers (including any brokers' fees); (ii) any and all Liability for change of control, termination, stay bonuses, retention bonuses, transaction bonuses, phantom equity or similar payments due by Seller to any person under any plan, agreement or arrangement of Seller, which obligation, in each case, is triggered or becomes payable or due as a result of the consummation of any of the Transactions or a termination of service in connection with or following a "change in control" of Seller, including all payroll and other Taxes that are payable by Seller in connection with the payment of such Liability; (iii) the costs and expenses incurred or to be paid by Seller in connection with the transfer or conveyance of the Assets to Buyer, including Taxes, governmental charges and assessments; (iv) the costs and expenses incurred by Seller and Holding Company in connection with the regulatory and shareholder approval processes related to the Transactions; (v) the trailing Liabilities and obligations including termination fees associated with any Contracts or secondary market relationships terminated (or which a notice of termination is sent by Seller prior to the Closing Date) on or prior to the Closing Date; (vi) Seller's and the Holding Company's share of any fees and expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm under Section 2.04(d)(iii); and (vii) all Liabilities under the BOLI and Split Dollar Arrangements.

"FDIC" means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

"Federal Reserve Bank" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

"FFIEC" means the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council.

"FFP" means Friends of First Pres, LLC., a New York limited liability company, of which the Seller owns a 99% membership interest. "FHLB" means the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York.

"FHLMC" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 5.08(r)</u>.

"FISERV Termination Fees" means the anticipated amount of any termination fees to be paid to FISERV by Buyer associated with the early termination by Buyer of an Assumed Contract with FISERV, such amount to be agreed upon by the parties at least 10 Business Days prior to the Closing Date, as set forth in Section 2.04(c)(1) of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Fixed Assets" means all furniture, equipment, PCs, servers, phone systems, computer wiring, trade fixtures, ATMs, office supplies, sales material, Deposit account forms, Loan forms and all other forms and similar items used in connection with the Seller's business, and all other tangible personal property owned or leased by Seller, located in or upon the Seller Real Estate or Leasehold Interests, or used in the Seller's business.

"FNMA" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 5.08(r)</u>.

"Former Seller Employees" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 8.01(f)</u>.

"FRB" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.

"Fundamental Representations" means the representations and warranties in <u>Section 5.01</u>, <u>Section 5.02</u>, <u>Section 5.05(a)</u>, <u>Section 5.06</u> (but solely the first two (2) sentences of Section 5.06), <u>Section 5.25</u>, and <u>Section 5.31</u>.

"Funded Liquidation Accounts" has the meaning assigned in Section 7.26.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles.

"GCB" means Generations Commercial Bank, a New York State-chartered limited purpose bank, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Seller.

"General Exceptions" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 5.01(a)</u>.

"GIA" means Generations Insurance Agency, Inc., a New York corporation and whollyowned subsidiary of Seller.

"Governmental Authority" means the Regulators, any court, any arbitrator, arbitration panel (public or private), and any other administrative agency or commission or any federal, state or local governmental authority (or political subdivision thereof) or instrumentality or agency or instrumentality of such governmental authority or political subdivision, or any self-regulatory organization or other non-governmental regulatory authority or quasi-governmental authority.

"Hazardous Materials" means (A) pollutants, contaminants, pesticides, petroleum or petroleum products, radioactive substances, solid wastes or hazardous or extremely hazardous, special, dangerous, or toxic wastes, substances, chemicals or materials, and all other wastes, substances, chemicals or materials which are considered to be hazardous or toxic, or which are otherwise regulated, under any Environmental Law, including any "hazardous substance" as defined in or under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C., Sec. 9601, et seq., as amended and reauthorized, and any "hazardous waste" as defined in or under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C., Sec. 6902, et seq., and all amendments thereto and reauthorizations thereof, and (B) any other pollutants, contaminants, hazardous, dangerous or toxic chemicals, materials, wastes or other substances, including any industrial process or pollution control waste or asbestos, which pose a risk to the health and safety of any person.

"Holding Company" has the meaning assigned in the Preamble.

"Holding Company Acquisition Agreement" has the meaning assigned in Section 7.24(d)(1).

"Holding Company Adverse Recommendation Change" has the meaning assigned in Section 7.24(d)(1).

"Holding Company Board Recommendation" has the meaning assigned in Section 5.01(b).

"Holding Company Financial Statements" has the meaning assigned in Section 5.03(a).

"Home Equity Loan" means a closed-end or revolving Residential Mortgage Loan secured by a Mortgage with a junior priority on the applicable Mortgaged Property.

"Independent Accounting Firm" has the meaning assigned in Section 2.04(c)(3).

"Insurance Policies" means all current policies or binders of fire, liability, product liability, umbrella liability, real and personal property, workers' compensation, vehicular, directors' and officers' liability, fiduciary liability and other casualty and property insurance maintained by the Holding Company or the Seller and relating to their assets, business, operations, employees, officers and directors. For purposes of this Agreement, "Insurance Policies" do not include any policies that provide benefits under an Employee Benefit Plan.

"Intangible Assets" shall mean goodwill and any other intangible assets.

"Intellectual Property" means any and all of the following that are owned or licensed by Seller or Holding Company or used in connection with their businesses (a) registered and unregistered trademarks, trade names, service marks, logos, corporate names, fictitious names, trade dress, logos, slogans, and other indicia of origin, together with all translations, adaptations, derivations, combinations and renewals thereof, all goodwill associated therewith, and all applications, registrations, and renewals in connection therewith; (b) domain names, websites, social medial accounts (including login credentials and the content therein) or user names (including "handles"), rights in telephone numbers, computer software and firmware (including source code, executable code, data, databases, protocols, specifications, application programming interfaces, user interfaces and related documentation); (c) patents and patent applications, (d) registered and unregistered copyrights and moral rights; (e) trade secrets and confidential business information; (f) forms, documentation, manuals and marketing materials; (g) and other proprietary and intellectual property rights, rights; (h) copies and tangible embodiments of any of the foregoing (in whatever form or medium); (i) the exclusive right to display, reproduce, and create derivative works based on any of the foregoing; and (j) income, royalties, damages and payments related to any of the foregoing (including damages and payments for past, present or future infringements, misappropriations or other conflicts with any intellectual property), and the right to sue and recover for past, present or future infringements, misappropriations or other conflict with any intellectual property.

"IRA" means an Individual Retirement Account.

"IRS" means the Internal Revenue Service.

"IT Assets" means Seller's software, systems, servers, computers, hardware, firmware, middleware, networks, data communications lines, routers, hubs, switches and other information technology equipment, whether cloud-based, remote, or on premises, all associated documentation, and all other information technology equipment, facilities or systems used by or for the Seller.

"Knowledge" with respect to either party means to the Knowledge of the party's executive officers set forth on Section 1.01(d) of the Disclosure Schedule. An individual identified on Section 1.01(d) of the Disclosure Schedule will be deemed to have "Knowledge" of a particular fact or matter if: (A) such individual is actually aware of such fact or matter; or (B) a prudent individual in such capacity could be expected to discover or otherwise become aware of such fact or matter in the course of conducting a reasonable inquiry under the circumstances concerning the existence of such fact or matter.

"Law" means any applicable federal, state, or local statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, interpretation, order, judgment, injunction, directive, policy, guidance, ruling, approval, permit, requirement or rule of law (including common law) enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered by any Governmental Authority, as well as any common law.

"Leasehold Interests" has the meaning assigned in Section 3.01.

"Liability" means all debts, liabilities, guarantees, assurances, commitments and obligations, whether fixed, contingent or absolute, asserted or unasserted, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, accrued or not accrued, known or unknown, due or to become due, whenever or however arising (including whether arising out of any Contract or tort based on negligence or strict liability).

"Liquid Assets" means all bonds and other investment securities (including FHLB stock) owned by Seller, together with Accrued Interest thereon, if any, and including any amounts due to or from brokers or custodians. A list of such bonds and investment securities owned as of July 31, 2024 (including the book value and market value thereof), is set forth in Section 5.14 of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Liquidation Account Participants" has the meaning set forth in the definition of Liquidation Accounts.

"Liquidation Account Value" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.26.

"Liquidation Accounts" means the inchoate interest of certain of Seller's depositors who were members of Seller's mutual holding company prior to its conversion to stock form ("Liquidation Account Participants") to receive distributions upon the liquidation of Seller pursuant to applicable Law.

"Loan" and "Loans" means all the loans owned by Seller, each of which is either an Account Loan, a Business Loan, a Construction Loan, a Residential Mortgage Loan, a Home Equity Loan, a Commercial Mortgage Loan, an Auto Receivable, or an Unsecured Loan, net of the Allowance maintained by Seller with respect to the Loans, any deferred fees or costs with respect to the Loans, including any unposted or in transit loan credits or debits, and all retained rights of Seller to service previously originated and sold Loans, including any Loans that have been charged off in full against the Allowance prior to the Closing Date. For purposes of this Agreement, Loans shall include any loans in which Seller has sold a participation interest to another third party, as well as participation interests owned by Seller in connection with loans originated by another lender.

"Loan Debtor" and "Loan Debtors" means an obligor or guarantor, including a third party pledgor, with respect to the Loan Documents relating to a Loan.

"Loan Documents" means, with respect to each Loan, the constituent documents relating thereto, including the loan application, appraisal report, title insurance policy, promissory note, mortgage, deed of trust, loan agreement, loan participation agreement, security agreement, guarantee, if any, and workout or forbearance agreement, and other information contained in the Loan file.

"Material Adverse Effect" means any change, event, occurrence, fact, condition or effect, including pending or anticipated litigation, that is, or would reasonably be expected to become, with or without the lapse of time, both material and adverse to (x) the financial condition, results of operation, assets or business of Seller or Holding Company taken as a whole, on the one hand, or Buyer, on the other hand, as applicable, or (y) the ability of Seller, Holding Company or Buyer, as applicable, to perform its respective obligations under this Agreement or any Transaction Document or to consummate the Transactions on a timely basis, other than (i) the effects of any change attributable to or resulting from changes in political, economic or market conditions, Laws, or accounting guidelines applicable to depository institutions generally or in general levels of interest rates, (ii) changes or proposed changes after the date hereof in applicable Law, (iii) any outbreak, escalation or worsening of hostilities, declared or undeclared acts of war, sabotage, military action or terrorism, (iv) changes or proposed changes after the date hereof in Accounting Standards or authoritative interpretation thereof, (v) Seller employee departures after announcement of this Agreement or failure of Seller employees to accept employment with Buyer, (vi) the issuance or compliance with any directive or order of any Regulator, (vii) the impact of any epidemics, pandemics, disease outbreaks or other public health emergencies including, without limitation, COVID 19 or COVID 19 Measures, and (viii) actions expressly required to be taken by Seller or Buyer, as applicable, pursuant to this Agreement or any action taken (or not taken) by Seller with Buyer's consent; provided further, however, that (1) any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) immediately above shall be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur to the extent that such event, occurrence, fact, condition or change has a disproportionate effect on the Seller or Holding Company, taken as a whole, or the Buyer compared to other participants in the industries in which such Parties conduct their businesses and (2) any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change referred to in clauses (i) immediately above shall be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect under (y) has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur.

"Material Contracts" are contracts, that are not Excluded Contracts, and have a remaining term of more than twelve (12) months as of the Effective Date (and cannot be terminated with 60 days' notice or less without Liability) and will require payment by Seller of more than Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000) in a twelve (12) month period, or are for a lease of real property. A list of Material Contracts is set forth on Section 5.16 of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Mortgage" means a mortgage or deed of trust encumbering real property and, if applicable, fixtures and securing the obligations of a Loan Debtor with respect to a Loan.

"Mortgaged Property" means real property encumbered by a Mortgage.

"Multiemployer Plan" means as defined in ERISA Section 3(37).

"Municipal Deposits" means deposits originated by or on behalf of municipal depositors.

"NCUA" means the National Credit Union Administration.

"Non-Compliant Loans" means Loans that the Buyer is incapable to service pursuant to applicable law or regulation set forth on Section 5.07(j) of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Non-Solicitation Agreements" has the meaning assigned in Section 9.02(d)(15).

"Notice of Dispute" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 2.04(c)(2)</u>.

"OCC" means the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.

"OCC Agreement" means the agreement between the Seller and the OCC, dated July 19, 2024

"Order" means any order, writ, assessment, decision, injunction, decree, ruling, or judgment of a Governmental Authority, whether temporary, preliminary, or permanent.

"Ordinary Course of Business" shall include any action taken by a Person if such action is consistent with the past practices of such Person and is similar in nature, frequency and magnitude to actions customarily taken in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations of such Person and that are not inconsistent in any material respect with actions taken by similarly situated companies operating the same or similar businesses of such Person.

"OREO" means other real estate owned, as such real estate is classified on the books of Seller, as identified in Section 1.01(f) of the Disclosure Schedule (which shall be updated as of the Closing Date prior to Closing).

"Other Assets" means all assets of Seller at the close of business on the Closing Date not otherwise enumerated herein other than the Excluded Assets.

"Other Liabilities" means, except for the Excluded Liabilities, all Liabilities of Seller including but not limited to trailing Liabilities associated with any Contracts that are not Excluded Contracts.

"Party" and "Parties" have the meanings assigned to them in the Preamble.

"Permitted Encumbrances" means (i) with respect to real estate, liens for Taxes that are not yet due and payable, and easements, rights-of-way for utility companies and other restrictions that are immaterial and do not adversely affect the use of such real estate and the rights of lessors and tenants under real estate leases and which are not violated by the use of such real estate, and (ii) with respect to the Assets of Seller (other than real estate) and to the extent that all of the same are or will be released at or prior to Closing, liens for Taxes that are not yet due and payable, Encumbrances including those reflected in financial statements or notes thereto contained therein or referenced in Call Reports (such as liens for FHLB advances and Federal Reserve Bank borrowings, liens to secure public Deposits), and the rights of counterparties under the Contracts.

"Permitted Loan" shall mean a Loan, that upon satisfaction of certain terms and conditions, Buyer will be capable to service pursuant to applicable law or regulation.

"Person" or "Persons" means an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company, Governmental Authority, unincorporated organization, trust, association or other entity.

"Personal Information" shall have the meaning assigned to the terms "personal data" or "personal information" or "private information" under applicable data protection Laws and shall include any and all data (regardless of format) that can be used to directly or indirectly identify a natural person, or is linked or reasonably linkable to an identified or identifiable natural person, such as a name, number, personal mark, social security number, driver's license or non-driver identification card number, financial account, credit or debit card number, biometric information, username or e-mail address in combination with a password, or other identifying factors as defined by applicable data protection Laws.

"Pre-Closing Tax Period" has the meaning assigned in Section 5.17(b).

"Prepaid Expenses" means the prepaid expenses of Seller at the close of business on the Closing Date including, without limitation, prepaid FDIC deposit premiums relating to the Deposits.

"Prevailing Party" means if a final resolution of an action provides the requesting party with relief in an amount which is greater than fifty percent (50%) of such requesting party's Claim.

"Proxy Statement" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 7.02</u>.

"Purchase Price" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 2.04(a)</u>.

"Real Estate Prorations" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 11.11</u>.

"Records" means (i) all records and original documents relating to the Assets, Loans, Collection Accounts, Safe Deposit Boxes, the Bank Accounts, the Other Assets, the Deposits, Contracts or Assumed Liabilities; and (ii) an account history of all accounts related to Deposits, Loans, Cash on Hand, Liquid Assets, the Bank Accounts, and Safe Deposit Boxes. Records include know-your-customer (KYC) documentation, signature cards, customer cards, customer statements, legal files, pending files, all open account agreements, Retirement Account agreements, Safe Deposit Box records, and computer records/data.

"RECs" has the meaning assigned in Section 7.10(a).

"Recurring Debit" means payments made directly from a Deposit account to a third party on a regularly scheduled basis pursuant to arrangements between the owner of the account and the third party receiving the payments directly.

"Regulators" means the FDIC, FRB, NCUA, OCC, the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the New York Department of Financial Services, as applicable.

"Regulatory Approvals" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 9.03(a)</u>.

"Representatives" means a Person's directors, officers, employees, investment bankers, attorneys, accountants, consultants, or other agents or advisors.

"Required Shareholder Approval" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 9.03(d)</u>.

"Residential Mortgage Loan" means a Loan secured by a Mortgage on one-to-four-unit residential real estate.

"Retirement Account Transfer Agreement" has the meaning assigned in Section 3.10.

"Retirement Accounts" means any Deposit account, generally known as IRAs, maintained by a customer for the stated purpose of the accumulation of funds to be drawn upon at retirement. For the avoidance of doubt, "Retirement Accounts" does not include Employee Benefit Plans as defined above.

"Return Items" has the meaning assigned in Section 5.15(b)(1).

"Reviewed Property" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 7.10(b)</u>.

"Routing, Telephone Numbers, and Email Addresses" means (i) the routing number 221371194 of the Seller used in connection with Deposits, (ii) upon approval from the FRB of the transfer of this number to Buyer under the name ESL Federal Credit Union, and the telephone and facsimile numbers associated with Seller, and (iii) the use and access to all email addresses and email accounts held by Seller.

"Safe Deposit Boxes" means all right, title and interest of Seller in and to any safe deposit business conducted by the Seller as of the close of business on the Closing Date. "SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"SEC Reports" means each final registration statement, prospectus, report, schedule and definitive proxy statement, forms, statements, and other documents (including exhibits and schedules thereto and all other information incorporated by reference) filed or required to be filed by Holding Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to federal securities Laws after January 1, 2022.

"Securities Claims" means any Claim threatened or brought against Holding Company or Seller or any of their officers or directors by or on behalf of any shareholder of Holding Company.

"Security Incident" means (i) any actual or alleged data security breaches concerning any IT Assets, (ii) any unauthorized access to, use of, or access without valid authorization of Personal Information, Business Data or any IT Assets, or (iii) any unauthorized acquisition, destruction, damage, encryption, disclosure (whether inadvertent or intentional), loss, corruption, alteration, or use of Personal Information or Business Data.

"Seller" has the meaning assigned in the Preamble.

"Seller Designated Bank Account" means that certain bank account selected by and designated by Seller in payment and wire instructions delivered to Buyer no less than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date solely created for the purpose of depositing the Closing payment pursuant to <u>Section 4.02</u> of this Agreement.

"Seller Indebtedness" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 4.06</u>.

"Seller Leases" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 9.02(f)</u>.

"Seller Real Estate" means the real estate, buildings, structures, facilities, fixtures, amenities, driveways, walkways, parking lots and other improvements owned by Seller, including, for the avoidance of doubt, OREO, but excluding any real property that is an Excluded Asset. For avoidance of doubt, "Seller Real Estate" excludes the Excluded Real Estate, provided that if 76 Fall Street, Seneca Falls, New York ("Fall Street Property") has not been disposed by Seller prior to the Closing, the Fall Street Property will be included in Seller Real Estate.

"Seller's Qualified Plans" has the meaning assigned in Section 8.03.

"Settlement Statement" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 2.04(a)</u>.

"Special Meeting" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 7.02</u>.

"Specified Contracts" has the meaning assigned in Section 5.16.

"Split Dollar Arrangements" means the joint beneficiary agreements set forth in Section 1.01(g) of the Disclosure Schedule.

"Superior Proposal" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 10.01(d)</u>.

"Tail" has the meaning assigned in Section 8.05(a).

"Tax Return" means any return, declaration, report, claim for refund, information return or statement or other document relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

"Taxes" means all federal, state, local, foreign and other income, gross receipts, sales, use, production, ad valorem, transfer, documentary, franchise, registration, profits, license, lease, service, service use, withholding, payroll, employment, unemployment, estimated, excise, severance, environmental, stamp, occupation, premium, property (real or personal), real property gains, windfall profits, customs, duties or other taxes, fees, assessments or charges of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest, additions or penalties with respect thereto and any interest in respect of such additions or penalties.

"Taxpayer Information" has the meaning assigned in Section 11.08.

"Termination Date" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 10.01(c)</u>.

"Termination Expenses" means all documented expenses that are required to be paid by Seller to the counter parties of such Contract at Closing as set forth on Section 1.01(h) of the Disclosure Schedule, which for the avoidance of doubt shall not include the FISERV Termination Fees.

"TIN" means Taxpayer Identification Number.

"Transaction Documents" means this Agreement, the Bill of Sale and Assignment, the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the Assignment and Assumption of Leases, the Retirement Account Transfer Agreement, the Limited Power of Attorney, the deeds with respect to any OREO, Bargain and Sale Deeds with respect to Seller Real Estate other than OREO, and the other agreements, certificates, instruments, and documents required to be delivered at the Closing or otherwise in connection with this Agreement.

"Transactions" means the purchase and transfer of the Assets and assumption of the Assumed Liabilities contemplated by <u>Article II</u> and <u>Article III</u>, the dissolution and liquidation of Seller and the distribution of its assets to Holding Company (through one or more steps as may be determined by Seller and Holding Company), and the consummation of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the documents, agreements, schedules and exhibits to be delivered or to be filed in connection with this Agreement, including the Transaction Documents.

"Unfunded Commitment" means the commitment of Seller to fund additional advances under any Loan, or under any new unfunded Loan commitment on and after the Closing Date.

"Unsecured Loan" means a loan which is not secured by assets of the Loan Debtor or Loan Debtors or any third party.

"Voting Agreements" has the meaning assigned in the Recitals.

"Withholding Obligations" has the meaning assigned in <u>Section 11.03</u>.

"Wrongful Acts" means any intentional misrepresentation, fraud or other willful misconduct.

Interpretation. The words "hereof," "herein" and "herewith" and words of Section 1.02 similar import shall, unless otherwise stated, be construed to refer to this Agreement as a whole. Article, Section, Exhibit and Disclosure Schedule references are to the Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Disclosure Schedule of this Agreement unless otherwise specified. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and will not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Whenever the words "include," "includes," "including" or similar expressions are used in this Agreement, they will be understood to be followed by the words "without limitation." The words describing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, and words denoting any gender shall include all genders. The parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event of an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement. The phrases "made available" "provided" or "delivered" by Seller or Holding Company to Buyer means posted to the "Project 1870" hosted by Firmex for this transaction data room and located at https://kbw.firmex.com/projects/1230/documents prior to 5:00 p.m. Eastern time on two (2) Business Days prior to the date hereof. An item arising with respect to a specific representation or warranty shall be deemed to be "reflected on" or "set forth in" a balance sheet or financial statements, to the extent any such phrase appears in such representation or warranty, if (a) there is a reserve, accrual or other similar item underlying a number on such balance sheet or financial statements that related to the subject matter of such representation, (b) such item is otherwise specifically set forth on the balance sheet or financial statements or (c) such item is reflected on the balance sheet or financial statements and is specifically set forth in the notes thereto. Except as otherwise specified herein, the reports provided with the Disclosure Schedule are prepared as of the date indicated thereon.

ARTICLE II TERMS OF PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 2.01 Assets.

(a) <u>Purchase and Sale</u>. At the Closing and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement (including <u>Article III</u>), Seller shall sell, convey, assign, and transfer to Buyer and Buyer shall purchase and acquire from Seller all of Seller's right, title, and interest in and to the Assets free of all Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances.

(b) **Excluded Assets**. It is understood and agreed that Seller shall retain, and Buyer shall not acquire, any right or interest in any of the following assets of Seller (the "**Excluded Assets**"): (i) deferred tax assets on the financial books and records of Seller, (ii) the Seller Designated Bank Account, Funded Liquidation Accounts and the Allowance, (iii) all tax refunds, if any, related to Pre-Closing Tax Period, (iv) Claims by Seller against directors, officers and employees of Seller relating to their acts or omissions occurring on or prior to the Closing Date, (v) all books and records related to Seller's Taxes and the books and records of Seller, if any, that are not permitted by Law to be transferred to Buyer, (vi) all net deferred tax assets, (vii) Prepaid

Expenses that cannot be assigned by Seller to Buyer, (viii) Excluded Liquid Assets, (ix) any Employee Benefit Plan, any Split Dollar Arrangements and BOLI supporting the Split Dollar Arrangements, (x) any capital stock of the Seller, GCB and GIA and any membership interest in FFP; (xi) any tangible or intangible assets of GCB, GIA and FFP; (xii) any and all right, title and interest in and to "Women's Right to Run," and its associated domain names "rightorun19k.com," "righttorun.org," and "righttorun19k.org"; (xiii) the Excluded Real Estate and (xiv) the assets of Seller set forth on Section 2.01(b) of the Disclosure Schedule. For the avoidance of doubt, all Excluded Assets shall be retained by Seller and Buyer shall not acquire any right or interest with respect to the Excluded Assets and assumes no responsibility or Liability with respect thereto.

Section 2.02 <u>Assumed Liabilities</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Buyer, on the Closing Date, shall assume and agree to pay, discharge and perform when lawfully due, all obligations, debts, and Liabilities of Seller, other than the Excluded Liabilities, including, without limitation, the following (all of which are collectively referred to herein as the "Assumed Liabilities"):

(a) <u>Deposits and Contracts</u>. Each Liability for the payment and performance of Seller's obligations on the Deposits and the Contracts in accordance with the terms of such Deposits and Contracts in effect on the Closing Date, pursuant to the form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> (the "Assignment and Assumption Agreement");

(b) <u>Assumption of Loans</u>. All obligations and duties of Seller under and pursuant to the Loan Documents as of the Closing Date, including, without limitation, the obligation to fund Unfunded Commitments, pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement;

(c) **FHLB Advances and Federal Reserve Bank Borrowings**. All obligations of Seller relating to advances from the FHLB and borrowings from the Federal Reserve Bank, pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement; and

(d) <u>Other Liabilities</u>. All obligations of Seller with respect to the Other Liabilities, pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

(e) <u>Contracts</u>. All obligations of Seller with respect to the Contracts, pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

Section 2.03 Excluded Liabilities and Other Liabilities.

(a) It is understood and agreed that Buyer shall not assume or be liable for and that the Assumed Liabilities shall not include (i) any Excluded Transaction Expenses that remain unpaid or are incurred by Seller or Holding Company following Closing, (ii) third party costs and expenses incurred by Seller relating to the negotiation or consummation of the Transactions (including the winding-up, liquidation and dissolution or Seller) and the preparation and filing of Seller's final Tax Returns, including issuing IRS Forms W2 and 1099s for Seller's employees and independent contractors for periods through and including the Closing Date, and including without limitation, fees and expenses of counsel, accountants or investment bankers, (iii) any Taxes of Seller (including any Liability under Section 280G, 4980H or 4999 of the Code), (iv) any Liabilities of Seller for Taxes on the Purchase Price, (v) any Liability or obligation of Seller under the Excluded

Contracts, (vi) any Liabilities under any Employee Benefit Plan and all termination and winddown costs and charges associated therewith, (vii) any Liabilities related to accrued vacation or paid time off owing to employees, independent contractors or other Persons, including Former Seller Employees, and all wages or payments due to employees and independent contractors for periods through and including the Closing Date, which Seller shall be permitted to pay out prior to Closing, (viii) any Liability of Seller related to the Liquidation Accounts, deficiencies in Funded Liquidation Accounts, or for Claims by Liquidation Account Participants, (ix) any Liability relating to any Wrongful Acts of Seller or Holding Company, (x) any Liabilities related to or arising out of the Excluded Assets; (xi) the FISERV Termination Fees; (xii) any Excluded Deposit Accounts; (xiii) any Liabilities related to Securities Claims; (xiv) any Liabilities of the Seller to Holding Company, GIA, GCB, FFP or any other Affiliate of Seller; (xv) Liabilities arising out of a failure by Seller or any of its Affiliates to comply with any Law; (xvi) Liabilities of Seller or an Affiliate of Seller in respect of any Claim (pending or threatened at any time) arising out of, relating to, or otherwise in respect of the Assets to the extent that such Claim relates to the ownership, licensing, leasing, sale, purchase, distribution, or use of any Asset on or prior to the Closing or the ability of the Seller to sell, convey, assign, and transfer the same to Buyer; (xvii) any Liabilities that are not reflected on the Seller's balance sheet, including any Liabilities related to Liquidation Accounts; (xviii) Claims against Seller or Holding Company brought by any current or former directors, officers and employees of Seller or Holding Company relating to acts or omissions occurring on or prior to the Closing Date; (xix) any Liability of Seller arising under any Environmental Law; (xx) any Liability of Seller with respect to any credit or debit card benefit or rewards program; (xxi) any Liability of Seller related to any Excluded Real estate; (xxii) any incentive payments made pursuant to Section 7.06(b)(12) of this Agreement and (xxiii) any Liabilities of the Holding Company, GIA, GCB, FFP or any other Affiliate of Seller (collectively, the "Excluded Liabilities"). Seller shall retain responsibility for, and Seller and the Holding Company hereby covenants and agrees, to timely pay, perform, and discharge, all Excluded Liabilities. Seller shall retain responsibility for, and Seller and the Holding Company hereby covenant and agree, to timely pay, perform, and discharge, all Excluded Liabilities.

(b) <u>Other Debt Obligations or Liabilities Assumed</u>. It is understood and agreed that, except for the Excluded Liabilities, Buyer shall assume and be liable for all Assumed Liabilities, including, but not limited to, any and all of the Other Liabilities.

Section 2.04 <u>Purchase Price</u>; Adjustments to Purchase Price.

(a) <u>Purchase Price</u>. In consideration for the Assets (other than the Excluded Assets) acquired by the Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, Buyer shall (i) assume all of the Liabilities (other than the Excluded Liabilities) and (ii) pay in immediately available funds to Seller at Closing an amount equal to the Cash Purchase Price subject to the adjustments set forth in <u>Section 2.04(b)</u>, as applicable ((i) and (ii), as adjusted, the "**Purchase Price**"). Without limiting the foregoing, the Purchase Price will not be adjusted as the result of the implication of Taxes asserted against the Seller or Holding Company with respect to the Purchase Price, whether realized by or imposed on Seller or Holding Company; provided that the Seller will be permitted to utilize available net operating loss carryforwards. At least ten (10) Business Days prior to Closing, Seller shall provide Buyer with a statement setting forth Seller's good faith calculation of the Purchase Price to be paid by Buyer at Closing, including a calculation of each of the adjustments set forth in <u>Section 2.04(b)</u> and reasonable detail and supporting documentation for such calculations (the "**Settlement**

Statement"). In the event that Buyer disagrees with Seller's calculations in the Settlement Statement, the parties will cooperate in good faith to agree upon a revised Settlement Statement. In the event that the parties are not able to agree upon a revised Settlement Statement, then the calculation of the Settlement Statement shall be submitted to an Independent Accounting Firm in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.04(c)(3) and the Closing Date shall be postponed until such time as the parties agree upon a revised Settlement Statement.

(b) <u>Adjustments to Purchase Price</u>. The Cash Purchase Price shall be adjusted as follows:

(1) increased by the Termination Expenses;

(2) If the Core Deposits Outflow Percentage is equal to or greater than Core Deposits Outflow Threshold 1, then the Purchase Price shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Core Deposits Outflow Reduction; and

(3) increased or reduced by the Real Estate Prorations.

(c) <u>Closing Balance Sheet</u>.

(1) Ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer (i) a balance sheet for Seller, as of the last day of the month prior to the Closing Date, reflecting Seller's good faith estimate of the accounts of Seller to be transferred to Buyer as of the Closing Date (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include net income estimated to be earned by Seller from the Effective Date through and including the Closing Date), prepared in conformity with past practices and policies of Seller and in accordance with the Accounting Standards (the "Closing Balance Sheet"). The Closing Balance Sheet shall also include (i) Seller's calculation of the Excluded Transaction Expenses; and (ii) Calculated Equity. An estimate of the Excluded Transaction Expenses, as determined in good faith by Seller as of the date of this Agreement, is set forth on Section 2.04(c)(1) of the Disclosure Schedule.

(2) If Buyer does not dispute the Closing Balance Sheet as provided by Seller pursuant to Section 2.04(c)(1) within five (5) Business Days after receipt thereof, the Closing Balance Sheet as determined by Seller shall be final and binding on the parties. If Buyer disputes the Closing Balance Sheet, then Buyer shall provide written notice to Seller of said dispute within such five (5) Business Day period (a "Notice of Dispute").

(3) If the Buyer delivers a Notice of Dispute in accordance with Section 2.04(c)(2), Buyer and Seller shall, during the five (5) Business Days after Seller's receipt of the Notice of Dispute, seek in good faith to resolve in writing any differences that they may have with respect to any matter set forth in the Notice of Dispute. At the end of such five (5) day resolution period, if a dispute remains, either the Buyer or the Seller may submit the matter to an accounting firm to be mutually agreed upon by Buyer and Seller (the "Independent Accounting Firm.") If Seller and Buyer cannot mutually agree on the selection of the Independent Accounting Firm, then Seller and Buyer shall each select an independent accounting firm and such independent accounting firms selected by each of Seller and Buyer shall then mutually select an independent Accounting Firm. The Independent Accounting Firm shall then determine all disputed portions of the Closing Balance

Sheet that were properly included in the Notice of Dispute. The Independent Accounting Firm may consider only those matters set forth in the Notice of Dispute, which must be within the range of values assigned to each such item in the Closing Balance Sheet and Notice of Dispute, respectively. Time is of the essence for the selection of the Independent Accounting Firm and its determination of the disputed items.

(d) If issues in dispute are submitted to an Independent Accounting Firm for resolution:

(i) each of Buyer and Seller will promptly furnish to the Independent Accounting Firm such work papers and other documents and information relating to the matters set forth in the Notice of Dispute as the Independent Accounting Firm may request and are available to such party or its subsidiaries (or its independent public accountants), and will be afforded the opportunity to present to the Independent Accounting Firm any material relating to the determination and to discuss the determination with the Independent Accounting Firm. Neither Buyer, Seller nor any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives shall have any *ex parte* conversations or meetings with the Independent Accounting Firm in connection with any dispute submitted to the Independent Accounting Firm without the prior consent of the other party;

(ii) the determination by the Independent Accounting Firm shall be set forth in an adjustment certificate delivered to all parties by the Independent Accounting Firm, which will be final, binding and conclusive on the parties, absent manifest error; and

(iii) The fees and expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be paid by the Seller and Holding Company, on the one hand, and by Buyer, on the other hand, based upon the percentage that the amount actually contested but not awarded to the Seller or Buyer, respectively, bears to the aggregate amount actually contested by the Buyer and Seller. Any such fees and expenses payable by the Seller shall be paid through a credit to the amounts to be paid to the Seller at Closing. For example, if Seller submits a Closing Balance Sheet to the Independent Accounting Firm for \$1,000, and if Buyer contests to the Independent Accounting Firm only \$500 of the amount claimed by Seller, and if the Independent Accounting Firm ultimately resolves the dispute by awarding the Seller \$300 of the \$500 contested, then the costs and expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm will be allocated 60% (i.e., 300/500) to Buyer and 40% (i.e., 200/500) to Seller.

(e) Promptly following the receipt of all approvals from the Regulators necessary to consummate the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement, at Buyer's request, except for payments, if any to be made by Seller or Holding Company pursuant to any of Seller's employment or change in control agreement, Seller shall pay all accrued and payable Excluded Transaction Expenses that are otherwise payable concurrently or after the Closing or (ii) book, for accounting purposes, all unpaid Excluded Transaction Expenses on Seller's ledger of accounts receivable and not on Seller's income statement (i.e. Excluded Transaction Expenses shall not be a line item on Seller's income statement).

ARTICLE III TRANSFER OF ASSETS

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, on and as of the Closing Date, Seller shall assign, transfer, convey and deliver to Buyer all of the Assets, other than the Excluded Assets, including those described in <u>Section 3.01</u> through <u>Section 3.10</u>, and the parties agree to make certain allocations for tax purposes, as described in <u>Section 3.11</u>:

Section 3.01 <u>Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests</u>. Section 3.01 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests (as defined herein). All of Seller's right, title and interest on the Closing Date in and to (i) the Seller Real Estate, together with all of Seller's rights in and to all improvements thereon, and all easements associated therewith and (ii) real estate leasehold interests arising under lease agreements pertaining to any of Seller's locations and used in the operation of Seller's business (the "Leasehold Interests"). As permitted by applicable law, Seller shall cause (i) a Bargain and Sale Deed with Section 13 Lien Law Covenant pursuant to New York State Lien Law for each Seller Real Estate other than the OREO, substantively in the form of Exhibit B (each, a "Bargain and Sale Deed"); (ii) a quit claim deed with respect to OREO in form and substance acceptable to the Buyer; and (iii) and assignment of the Leasehold Interests from Seller to Buyer, to be delivered to Buyer on the Closing Date with respect to the Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests, to effect such transfer. All Seller Real Estate shall be delivered to Buyer free and clear of all Encumbrances (except for Permitted Encumbrances).

Fixed Assets. Section 3.02 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all Section 3.02 Fixed Assets, including tangible personal property situated at all of Seller's locations including furniture, fixtures, and equipment, which list identifies each item of material personal property with reasonable particularity, indicating whether the item is owned or leased, and describes any Encumbrances thereon other than rights of lessors under leases and includes the depreciated book value of those Fixed Assets as of June 30, 2024. All of Seller's right, title, and interest in and to the Fixed Assets, as of the close of business on the Closing Date, shall be assigned and transferred to Buyer free and clear of all Encumbrances. Seller shall cause a Bill of Sale and Assignment of such property in the form of Exhibit C to be delivered to Buyer on the Closing Date to effect such transfer (the "Bill of Sale and Assignment"). Seller hereby agrees that the personal property to be delivered on the Closing Date shall be substantially the same as the personal property set forth on Section 3.02 of the Disclosure Schedule, ordinary wear and tear excepted, provided, that in the event of material damage to the Fixed Assets, Seller shall have the option to repair or replace such Fixed Assets at Seller's sole cost and expense. Seller shall assign to Buyer any manufacturer or supplier warranty covering such Fixed Assets.

Section 3.03 Loans. Section 3.03 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of the Loans. All Loans (and related Loan Documents and Seller's interest in the collateral associated therewith), as of the close of business on the Closing Date, as reflected on the books and records of Seller, including Accrued Interest thereon as of the close of business on the Closing Date, shall be assigned to Buyer by Seller pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

Section 3.04 <u>Liquid Assets</u>. All Liquid Assets, other than the Excluded Liquid Assets, as of the close of business on the Closing Date, shall be assigned to Buyer by Seller pursuant to the Bill of Sale and Assignment as of the close of business on the Closing Date.

Section 3.05 <u>Cash on Hand</u>. All Cash on Hand and any cash located at other Seller locations including in ATM machines as of the close of business on the Closing Date, shall be transferred to Buyer by Seller pursuant to the Bill of Sale and Assignment.

Section 3.06 <u>Records and Routing and Telephone Numbers, and Email Addresses</u>. All Records related to the Assets transferred to or Assumed Liabilities assumed by Buyer hereunder and the Routing, Telephone Numbers, and Email Addresses as of the close of business on the Closing Date shall transfer to and be assumed by Buyer pursuant to the Bill of Sale and Assignment. Further, Seller shall transfer to Buyer all information related to its website domain and related hosting package, all social media accounts, customer email lists, and any marketing related materials, including all log-in credentials for each platform or online directory utilized by Seller for marketing and promotion.

Section 3.07 <u>Contracts and Bank Accounts</u>. All of Seller's right, title and interest at the close of business on the Closing Date in and to the Contracts and Bank Accounts shall transfer to Buyer pursuant to the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, which for clarity does not include the Seller Designated Bank Account, or Excluded Contracts.

Section 3.08 <u>Accounts Receivable</u>. All Accounts Receivable of Seller shall be transferred to Buyer pursuant to the Bill of Sale and Assignment.

Section 3.09 <u>Safe Deposit Boxes and Other Assets</u>. All of the Safe Deposit Boxes and Other Assets of Seller shall be transferred to Buyer pursuant to the Bill of Sale and Assignment.

Section 3.10 <u>Retirement Accounts</u>. With regard to each Retirement Account, all of Seller's right, title and interest in and to the related plan or trustee arrangement, and in and to all assets held by Seller pursuant thereto, shall transfer to Buyer pursuant to a Retirement Account Transfer Agreement, a form of which is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit D</u> (the "**Retirement Account Transfer Agreement**"). Pursuant to the terms of the Retirement Account Transfer Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Retirement Account Transfer Agreement, Buyer agrees to assume all of the fiduciary and administrative relationships of Seller arising out of any Retirement Accounts assigned to Buyer pursuant to this <u>Section 3.10</u>, and with respect to such accounts, Buyer shall assume all of the obligations and duties of Seller as fiduciary and/or third party administrator and succeed to all such fiduciary and administrative relationships of Seller as fully and to the same extent as if Buyer had originally acquired, incurred or entered into such fiduciary relationships.

Section 3.11 <u>Allocation</u>. Buyer and Seller agree that the Purchase Price (and any other consideration hereunder that is required to be taken into account for income tax purposes) shall be allocated among the Assets in accordance with Sections 1060 of the Code and the allocation methodology to be agreed upon by the parties promptly following the date hereof. The Seller shall deliver a draft Purchase Price allocation within sixty (60) days after the date of this Agreement consistent with such methodology. Such Purchase Price allocation shall be mutually agreed to by Buyer and Seller prior to the Closing Date and will be consistently reflected by each Party on their

federal income tax returns, if any, and similar documents, including, but not limited to, IRS Form 8594. If Buyer and Seller, notwithstanding such good faith effort, fail to resolve any dispute within thirty (30) days after Seller's receipt of Buyer's comments, then such dispute shall be submitted to the Independent Accounting Firm for resolution consistent with the procedure in <u>Section 2.04(d)</u>. The Independent Accounting Firms' judgment as to the disputed matter will be final, conclusive and binding on the parties; provided, however, that the Independent Accounting Firm shall be required to make its determination in a manner consistent with the allocation methodology agreed to by the parties. The fees and expenses billed by the Independent Accounting Firm shall be split equally between Buyer and Seller. No Party shall file any document or assert any position that conflicts or is inconsistent with such Purchase Price Allocation (unless required by applicable law), and each Party agrees to inform the other promptly upon receipt of any communication from (or forwarding any communication to) the IRS relating to Form 8594. Each Party shall cooperate fully with the other in filing Form 8594.

Section 3.12 Destruction of Property. Seller will give Buyer prompt written notice of (a) any fire or casualty on any of the Fixed Assets, and (b) any actual or threatened condemnation of all or any part of any of the Seller Real Estate or Leasehold Interests. As soon as practicable thereafter Seller shall provide information on the amount estimated to be necessary to repair or restore the Fixed Assets, Seller Real Estate or Leasehold Interests, the amount, if any, of insurance proceeds that are available to make such repairs or restoration and the estimated period of time it will take to make such repairs and restoration. Buyer, at Buyer's option, may (i) take title to the Fixed Assets and Seller Real Estate, as applicable, subject to such damage or destruction, with Seller assigning to Buyer all Seller's rights to proceeds of insurance carried by Seller and payable as a result of such damage or destruction, or (ii) request that Seller cause the repairs or replacement to be made, in which case Seller shall cause the repairs and replacements to be made and shall consult with Buyer with respect to such repairs and replacements; provided, however, that the Closing shall not be conditioned upon the completion of any such repairs and/or replacements.

ARTICLE IV CLOSING

Section 4.01 <u>Closing Date</u>. Subject to the fulfillment or waiver of all the terms and conditions contained in <u>Article IX</u> (other than those conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date), the consummation of the Transactions shall take place via the electronic exchange and release of signature pages (the "**Closing**") to be held at a date and time mutually agreeable by the parties; *provided*, if the parties are unable to agree, the Closing shall be on the fifth (5th) Business Day or the first Friday (so long as it is a Business Day), whichever is later, immediately following the fulfillment or waiver of all the terms and conditions (other than those conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date) contained in <u>Article IX</u>. The date on which the Closing is held is herein called the "**Closing Date**." The Closing shall be deemed to occur at 11:59 p.m. Eastern time on the Closing Date for all purposes (the "**Effective Time**"), and "the close of business on the Closing Date" will be deemed to be 5:00 p.m. Eastern time on the Closing Date.

Section 4.02 <u>Closing Payment</u>. The Cash Purchase Price owed to Seller by Buyer pursuant to <u>Section 2.04(a)</u> will be paid to Seller with the following reductions:

(a) the Buyer shall pay the Excluded Transaction Expenses as instructed by the Seller in writing;

(b) the Buyer shall pay the Termination Expenses as instructed by the Seller in writing; and

(c) the Buyer will wire the amount of the Cash Purchase Price less the amounts paid under <u>Section 4.02(a)</u> and <u>Section 4.02(b)</u> to the Seller Designated Bank Account by wire transfer of immediately available funds.

Section 4.03 <u>Deliveries by Seller</u>. At or prior to the Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer the documents set forth in <u>Section 9.02(d)</u>, and on the Closing Date, Seller shall deliver possession of the Assets to Buyer.

Section 4.04 <u>Deliveries by Buyer</u>. At or prior to the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Seller the documents set forth in <u>Section 9.01(e)</u>.

Section 4.05 <u>Pre-Closing Funding</u>. At or prior to the Closing, Buyer shall provide financing to the Seller to allow Seller to liquidate the Municipal Deposits upon terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the Buyer.

Section 4.06 <u>Seller Indebtedness</u>. At or prior to the Closing, Seller shall pay all obligations due and owing to United Bankers Bank, Pacific Coast Bankers Bank and Zions Bank (the "**Seller Indebtedness**") in accordance with payoff letters evidencing the amount due and owing at Closing for Seller Indebtedness.

ARTICLE V REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER AND HOLDING COMPANY

On or prior to the date hereof, Seller has delivered to Buyer a schedule ("**Disclosure Schedule**") setting forth, among other things, items the disclosure of which is necessary or appropriate either (i) in response to an express disclosure requirement contained in a provision hereof or (ii) as an exception to one or more representations or warranties contained in this Article V or to one or more of Seller's or Holding Company's covenants contained in Article VII. Except as otherwise specified herein, the reports provided with the Disclosure Schedule are prepared as of the date indicated thereon (which, to the extent specified herein, shall be updated as reasonably practical through the Closing Date). Disclosure of any item in any section of the Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed a disclosure with respect to the applicable section of the Agreement and only to another section of the Agreement or Disclosure Schedule to which the relevance of such item is readily apparent on its face. Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Schedule, Seller and the Holding Company, as the case may be, represent and warrant to Buyer, as follows:

Section 5.01 Organization and Authority.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 5.01(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, Seller is a federal savings bank with full power and authority to carry on its business as now being conducted and to own and operate the properties which it owns and/or operates. The execution, delivery, and performance by Seller of this Agreement is within its corporate power and has been duly

authorized by all necessary corporate action on its part, subject to Required Shareholder Approval and the Regulatory Approvals. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Seller and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Buyer) constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of it, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting or relating to creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity (the "**General Exceptions**"). The Holding Company is the sole owner of the Seller and there are no outstanding or authorized options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character relating to the capital stock or other ownership rights or interest in of Seller or obligating Seller to issue or sell any shares of capital stock of, or any other interest in, Seller. There are no voting trusts, stockholder agreements, proxies or other agreements or understandings in effect with respect to the voting or transfer of any of the capital stock of Seller.

Holding Company is a corporation organized, validly existing, and in good standing (b) under the Laws of the State of Maryland with full power and authority to carry on its business as now being conducted and to own and operate the properties which it owns and/or operates. The execution, delivery, and performance by Holding Company of this Agreement is within its corporate power and has been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on its part, subject to the Required Shareholder Approval and the Regulatory Approvals. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Holding Company and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Buyer) constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of it, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to the General Exceptions. The Holding Company's board of directors, by resolutions duly adopted by the unanimous vote at a meeting of all directors of the Holding Company duly called and held on September 23, 2024 has (i) determined that this Agreement and the Transactions are fair to and in the best interest of Holding Company and its shareholders; (ii) approved and declared advisable this Agreement, including the execution, delivery, and performance thereof, and the consummation of the Transactions; (iii) directed that this Agreement and the Transactions be submitted to the shareholders of the Holding Company for approval and adoption; and (iv) resolved to recommend that the Holding Company shareholders approve this Agreement and the Transactions (collectively, the "Holding Company Board Recommendation"). Holding Company Board Recommendation has not been subsequently rescinded, limited, supplemented or modified in any way. Holding Company Board Recommendation has been provided to the Buyer.

(c) Except as set forth on Section 5.01(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, (i) other than marketable securities, Holding Company does not own, or have any interest in, any shares or have an ownership interest in any other Person other than Seller; (ii) the Seller does not own, or have any interest in, any shares or have an ownership interest in any other Person other than GCB and GIA; and (iii) neither GCB or GIA own or have any assets.

(d) The Seller has delivered or made available to Buyer a true and correct copy of the certificate of incorporation (including any certificate of designations), by-laws, or like organizational documents, each as amended to date (collectively, the "**Charter Documents**"), of the Holding Company, Seller and each of their Affiliates. Neither the Holding Company, Seller nor any of their Affiliates is in violation of any of the provisions of its Charter Documents, except where the violation would not be material to the Holding Company and Seller, taken as a whole.

Section 5.02 <u>Conflicts; Consents; Defaults</u>. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Seller nor the consummation of the Transactions will (i) conflict with, result in the breach of, constitute a default under or accelerate the performance required by, any Order or Law applicable to Holding Company or the Seller or, to which Seller or Holding Company is a party or by which it is bound, (ii) contravene or conflict with or violate the Charter Documents of Seller or Holding Company, (iii) require any consent, approval, authorization or filing under any Law or Order to which Seller is a party, (iv) require the consent, notice to or approval of any Person, conflict with, result in a violation or breach of, constitute a default or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under, result in the acceleration of or create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel any contract, agreements, licenses, notes, bonds, mortgages, indentures, leases, instrument or commitment to which Seller or Holding Company is a party, except where under this (iv) it would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the Seller, or (v) result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance other than Permitted Encumbrances on any properties or assets of the Seller.

Section 5.03 <u>Financial Information</u>.

The Reports of Condition and Income (the "Call Reports") of Seller as of (a) December 31, 2023, March 31, 2024 and June 30, 2024 have been prepared in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements and the information contained therein is complete and accurate in all material respects. Holding Company's audited consolidated balance sheet (referred to by Holding Company as a Statement of Financial Condition) as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2023, and the related audited consolidated statement of income (referred to by Holding Company as a Statement of Operations), comprehensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the applicable year then ended, together with the notes thereto and the Holding Company's unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2024 and June 30, 2024 and the related unaudited condensed consolidated statement of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the applicable periods then ended, together with the notes thereto (the "Holding Company Financial Statements"), contained in the SEC Reports, complied as to form in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto as of their respective dates, have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards and fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position and the consolidated results of operations and consolidated cash flows of Holding Company as of the dates and for the periods then ended.

(b) The Holding Company and each of its Affiliates, including the Seller, has established and maintains a system of "internal controls over financial reporting" (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is sufficient to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability, in all material respects, of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the Accounting Standards.

(c) Neither the Holding Company nor any of its Affiliates, including the Seller, is a party to, or has any commitment to become a party to: (i) any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership, or any similar contract, agreement or arrangement (including any contract, agreement or arrangement relating to any transaction or relationship between the

Seller, on the one hand, and any other Person, including any structured finance, special purpose, or limited purpose Person, on the other hand); or (ii) any "off-balance sheet arrangements" (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC).

(d) Since January 1, 2021 and except as would not be material to the Holding Company and Seller, taken as a whole: (i) neither the Holding Company nor any of its Affiliates, including the Seller, or any director or officer of the Holding Company or Seller has received any written or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, oral Claim regarding any of their financial accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies, or methods or any written or, to the Knowledge of the Seller, Claim from any of their employees regarding questionable financial accounting or auditing matters; and (ii) no attorney representing the Holding Company or any of its Affiliates, including the Seller, whether or not employed by them, has reported credible evidence of any material violation of Laws, breach of fiduciary duty, or similar material violation by the Holding Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any of their respective officers, directors, employees, or agents to the board of directors of any of them or any committee thereof, or to the chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any of them.

Section 5.04 <u>Absence of Changes</u>. Except as set forth on Section 5.04 of the Disclosure Schedule and except for the Transactions, since December 31, 2023 the business of the Seller has only been conducted in the Ordinary Course of Business and there has not been with respect to the Holding Company or the Seller:

(a) a Material Adverse Effect;

(b) any event, condition, action, or effect that, if taken, existing or occurring since or after December 31, 2023 would constitute a breach of Section 7.06.

Section 5.05 <u>Title to Real Estate</u>.

(a) Section 5.05 of the Disclosure Schedule contains a true and complete list of each parcel of real estate owned or used by Seller, including the Seller Real Estate, Excluded Real Estate and each Leasehold Interest. Except as set forth on Section 5.05 of the Disclosure Schedule, (i) Seller has good, marketable and insurable title, free and clear of all Encumbrances (except Permitted Encumbrances) to the Seller Real Estate and (ii) Seller has a valid and subsisting leasehold estate in and the right to quiet enjoyment of the Leasehold Interests for the full term of the lease thereof.

(b) To the Knowledge of Seller, except as set forth on Section 5.05 of the Disclosure Schedule:

(1) the Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests comply in all material respects with all applicable private agreements, zoning requirements, Permitted Encumbrances and other Laws relating thereto, and there are no condemnation proceedings pending or threatened with respect to the Seller Real Estate or Leasehold Interests. There are no private agreements, zoning requirements, Permitted Encumbrances and other Laws relating thereto that materially impair the use of any Seller Real Estate. Each parcel of Seller Real Estate and fixtures located thereon are in

good operating condition and repair, subject to normal wear and tear, has no material defects and is in suitable condition for its current use by Seller.

(2) there is no option to purchase, right of first offer, right of first refusal or other provision granting any Person any right to acquire any Seller Real Estate.

(3) all certificates of occupancy and all other material permits, consents and certificates required by all Governmental Authorities for Seller to operate at the Seller Real Estate and the Leasehold Interests have been issued and paid for, and are in full force and effect; there are no agreements, consent orders, decrees, judgments, licenses, permits, conditions or other directives, issued by a Governmental Authority which requires any change in the present use or operations of Seller at the Seller Real Estate.

(4) there are no defects in the buildings, improvements and structures and fixtures located on or at the Seller Real Estate which would materially impair or impact the conduct of the business by Buyer immediately following the Closing Date. The mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HVAC and other systems servicing the Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests are in good working order and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and there are no defects in such systems which could reasonably be expected to materially impair or impact the conduct of the Ordinary Course of Business immediately following the Closing Date.

(5) all utilities currently servicing the Seller Real Estate are installed, connected and operating, with all charges due and owing paid in full. The Seller Real Estate are served by all utilities reasonably required to operate the business in accordance with past practices and there are no inadequacies in any material respect with respect to such utilities, and no fact or condition exists which would result in the termination of or unduly burdensome restriction on the future access from the Seller Real Estate to any presently existing highways or roads adjoining or situated on the Seller Real Estate.

(c) No event has occurred or condition exists that with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a material default by any party under any Leasehold Interest or Seller Lease.

(d) Seller has made available true, correct and complete copies of all surveys for the Seller Real Estate in Seller's possession or control. There are no easements, encumbrances, encroachments, or other matters that would be disclosed on current ALTA surveys of the Seller Real Estate that are violated by the current use or configuration thereof, or materially impair or affect that use and enjoyment of the Seller Real Estate.

Section 5.06 <u>Title to Assets Other Than Real Estate</u>. Except as set forth on Section 5.06(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, Seller is the lawful owner of and has good and marketable title to the Assets (other than Seller Real Estate), including the Loans, Liquid Assets, Cash on Hand, cash in the Bank Accounts, Prepaid Expenses, Accounts Receivable, Fixed Assets and Other Assets, owned by Seller, free and clear of all Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances. Delivery to Buyer of the instruments of transfer of ownership contemplated by this Agreement will vest in Buyer good and marketable title to the Assets (other than Seller Real Estate), including the Loans, Fixed Assets, Liquid Assets, Cash on Hand, cash in the Bank Accounts, Prepaid Expenses,

Accounts Receivable, Records and Other Assets, owned by Seller, free and clear of all Encumbrances. The Assets comprise all of the assets used or necessary for the operation of Seller's business as presently conducted, other than the Excluded Assets to the extent they may be considered to be used or necessary for the operation of Seller's business. Without limiting the foregoing, except as set forth on Section 5.06(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, no Assets used by the Seller are owned by the Holding Company. The information required to be set forth on Section 3.02 of the Disclosure Schedule with respect to Fixed Assets is accurate, true and complete in all material respects.

Section 5.07 <u>Loans</u>. As to the Loans:

(a) Except as set forth on Section 5.07(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, and except for participation interests purchased or sold by Seller and mortgages sold to the FHLB under their mortgage partnership finance and credit risk sharing program, Seller is the sole owner and holder of the Loan and all servicing rights relating thereto. The Loan is not assigned or pledged (other than to the FHLB or the Federal Reserve Bank), and Seller has good and marketable title thereto. Except for any restrictions on participation interests purchased by Seller, Seller has the full right to sell and assign the Loan to Buyer, free and clear of any right, Claim or interest of any Person (other than Permitted Encumbrances and the rights of holders of participation interests in the Loan), and such sale and assignment to Buyer will not impair the enforceability of the Loan.

(b) Except for any Unfunded Commitment, the full principal amount of the Loan has been advanced to the Loan Debtor, either by payment direct to the Loan Debtor, or by payment made with the Loan Debtor's approval, and there is no requirement for future advances thereunder. The unpaid principal balance of each Loan and the amount of the Unfunded Commitment in each case as of a date that is not more than five (5) Business Days prior to the date of this Agreement, is as stated on Section 5.07(b) of the Disclosure Schedule.

(c) To Seller's Knowledge, each of the Loan Documents is genuine, and each is the legal, valid and binding obligation of the maker thereof, subject to the General Exceptions. To the Knowledge of Seller, all parties to the Loan Documents had legal capacity to enter into the Loan Documents, and the Loan Documents have been duly and properly executed by such parties.

(d) All Laws affecting the origination, administration and servicing of the Loans prior to the Closing Date, including truth-in-lending, real estate settlement procedures, consumer credit protection, the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, Fair Housing Act (FHA) the Military Lending Act, the Small Business Act, Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) equal credit opportunity, "know your customer" (KYC) and disclosure Laws, including any applicable, have been complied with in all material respects, except where the failure to do so would not have a Material Adverse Effect on Seller. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Seller has timely provided all disclosures, notices, estimates, statements and other documents required to be provided to the Loan Debtor by Seller under applicable Law and has documented receipt of such disclosures, estimates, statements and other documents as required by Law and, as to Loans originated by Seller, prudent loan origination policies and procedures, except where the failure to do so would not result in a Material Adverse Effect to Seller. To Seller's Knowledge, the Loan Debtor has no rights of rescission, setoff, counterclaims, or defenses to the Loan Documents, except such defenses arising by virtue of bankruptcy, creditors' rights laws, and general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or equity). Section 5.07(d) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all Loans (including outstanding balance, interest rate and collateral) to directors, officers or any other Person subject to Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. Part 215, and such Loans are in conformity in all material respects with all regulatory requirements and currently performing.

(e) Except as set forth on Section 5.07(e) of the Disclosure Schedule, as of the last day of the month prior to the date of this Agreement, (i) no Loan is in default, nor, to Seller's Knowledge, is there any event applicable to a Loan where with the giving of notice or the passage of time, would constitute a default; and (ii) no Loan is classified as substandard, doubtful, or loss or is on non-accrual status.

(f) Except as set forth on Section 5.07(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, and except as set forth in the Loan Documents and in accordance with its customary loan administration policies and procedures, Seller has not (i) amended, modified or supplemented any Loan or the related Loan Documents in any material respect, (ii) waived any material provision of or default under any Loan or the related Loan Documents, or (iii) agreed to forebear from exercising its rights at Law or under the applicable Loan Documents with respect to any Loan.

(g) To Seller's Knowledge, (i) Seller has taken all actions to cause each Loan secured by collateral to be perfected by a security interest having first priority or such other priority as provided for in the relevant Loan Documents including, if necessary, by the filing of Uniform Commercial Code Financing Statements, and (ii) except for third party pledges or as otherwise disclosed in the Loan Documents, the Loan Debtor is the owner of all collateral for the relevant Loan, free and clear of any Encumbrance except for the security interest in favor of Seller and any other Encumbrance expressly permitted under the relevant Loan Documents and in accordance with its written loan administration policies and procedures (which policies and procedures have been made available to Buyer).

(h) Notwithstanding the foregoing representations or any other representations contained in this <u>Article V</u>, Seller makes no representation as to (i) the collectability of any of the Loans or (ii) the realizable value of the collateral at the time of an action to enforce a Loan.

(i) Seller represents and warrants that it has no customers that would meet the definition of a Money Service Business (*See* 31 CFR 1010.100(ff)) as of the date of Closing.

(j) Non-Compliant Loans are identified on Section 5.07(j) of the Disclosure Schedule.

Section 5.08 <u>Residential and Commercial Mortgage Loans and Certain Business Loans</u>. Seller represents and warrants as to each Residential Mortgage Loan, Commercial Mortgage Loan, and Business Loan that is secured, in whole or part, by a Mortgage in favor of Seller that, except as set forth on Section 5.08 of the Disclosure Schedule:

(a) The Mortgage is a valid first lien on the Mortgaged Property securing the related Loan (or a junior priority lien if expressly permitted under the relevant Loan Documents), and the Mortgaged Property is free and clear of all Encumbrances having priority over the first lien (or if a junior priority lien, such junior priority lien (i) has priority over any other lien that is known to Seller, (ii) is not identified in the relevant loan approval as having priority over the junior priority lien, and (iii) was supported by a sufficient equity pursuant to the Seller's applicable underwriting standards at the time such Home Equity Loan was originated) of the Mortgage, except for Permitted Encumbrances, and, in the case of a Home Equity Loan or a Mortgage securing a guarantee of a Business Loan, Encumbrances in favor of the senior mortgage or deed of trust holder.

(b) To Seller's Knowledge, subject to the General Exceptions, the Mortgage contains customary provisions such as to render the rights and remedies of the holder thereof adequate for the realization against the Mortgaged Property of the benefits of the security provided thereby, including (i) in the case of a Mortgage designated as a deed of trust, by trustee's sale, and (ii) otherwise by judicial foreclosure.

(c) Except as set forth in the applicable Loan Documents, all of which actions were taken in the Ordinary Course of Business, Seller has not (i) satisfied, canceled, or subordinated the Loan in whole or in part; (ii) released the Mortgaged Property, in whole or in part, from the Encumbrance granted in connection with the Loan; or (iii) executed any instrument of release, cancellation, modification, or satisfaction.

(d) To Seller's Knowledge, all real estate taxes, government assessments, insurance premiums, and municipal charges, and leasehold payments which previously became due and owing have been paid, or an escrow payment has been established in an amount sufficient to pay for every such item which remains unpaid. Except as set forth in the Loan Documents, Seller has not advanced funds, or induced, solicited, or knowingly received any advance of funds by a party other than the Loan Debtor.

(e) To Seller's Knowledge, there is no proceeding pending for the total or partial condemnation of the Mortgaged Property and no Mortgaged Property is damaged by waste, earth movement, fire, flood, windstorm, earthquake, or other casualty.

(f) To Seller's Knowledge, the Mortgaged Property is free and clear of all mechanics' liens or Encumbrances in the nature thereof, except for any such mechanics' liens or Encumbrances in the Ordinary Course of Business that do not materially impair Seller's rights to the Mortgaged Property, and no rights are outstanding that under Law could give rise to any such Encumbrance.

(g) To Seller's Knowledge, all of the improvements which are included for the purpose of determining the appraised value of the Mortgaged Property lie wholly within the boundaries and building restriction lines of the Mortgaged Property, and no improvements on adjoining properties encroach upon the Mortgaged Property, except as allowed by the Seller's underwriting guidelines made available to Buyer.

(h) The Loan meets, or is exempt from, applicable Laws and other requirements pertaining to usury, and the Loan is not usurious.

(i) To Seller's Knowledge, each Loan for which private mortgage insurance was required by Seller under its underwriting guidelines made available to Buyer is insured by a reputable private mortgage insurance company; each such insurance policy is in full force and effect; and all premiums due thereunder have been paid.

(j) To Seller's Knowledge, no claims have been made under any lender's title insurance policy respecting any of the Mortgaged Property, and Seller has not done, by act or omission, anything which would impair the coverage of any such lender's title insurance policy.

(k) Except as set forth in Section 5.08(k) of the Disclosure Schedule, to Seller's Knowledge, there is in force for each Loan, a hazard insurance policy, including, to the extent required by applicable Law, and flood insurance, in the case of a Residential Mortgage Loan (other than Home Equity Loans) where required. To Seller's Knowledge, all such insurance policies contain a standard mortgagee clause naming Seller and its successors and assigns as mortgagee, and all premiums thereon have been paid. The Mortgage obligates the Loan Debtor thereunder to maintain the hazard insurance policy at the Loan Debtor's cost and expense and, on the Loan Debtor's failure to do so, authorizes the holder of the Mortgage to obtain and maintain such insurance at such Loan Debtor's cost and expense, and to seek reimbursement therefor from the Loan Debtor. Seller has not engaged in, and has no knowledge of the Loan Debtor's having engaged in, any act or omission which would impair the coverage of any such policy, the benefits of the endorsement provided for therein, or the validity and binding effect of either.

(1) Except as set forth on Section 5.08(1) of the Disclosure Schedule as to each Residential Mortgage Loan, the Mortgaged Property consists of a one- to four-family (including condominium or planned unit development projects), owner-occupied primary residence, second home or investment property.

(m) All Loans originated by Seller were underwritten in the Seller's Ordinary Course of Business and by an authorized employee of Seller. Any Loan that only represents a participation interest was underwritten in Seller's Ordinary Course of Business by an authorized employee of Seller.

(n) Neither (i) the information presented as factual concerning the income, employment, credit standing, purchase price and other terms of sale, payment history or source of funds submitted to Seller for the purpose of making the Loan, nor (ii) the information presented as factual in the appraisal with respect to the Mortgaged Property, contained, to Seller's Knowledge, any material omission or misstatement or other material discrepancy at the time the information was obtained by Seller.

(o) To Seller's Knowledge, all appraisals have been ordered, performed and rendered in accordance with the requirements of the written underwriting guidelines of Seller and in compliance, in all material respects, with all Laws then in effect relating and applicable to the origination of Loans, which requirements include requirements as to appraiser independence, appraiser competency and training, appraiser licensing and certification, and the content and form of appraisals.

(p) To Seller's Knowledge, which for purposes of this <u>Section 5.08(p)</u> includes the loan officer principally responsible for the origination of such Loan, no Mortgaged Property (i) is in violation of any Environmental Law or (ii) has known or suspected contamination conditions.

(q) Except as set forth in Section 5.08 of the Disclosure Schedule, Seller retained all mortgage servicing rights to each Mortgage.

(r) Except as set forth in Section 5.08 of the Disclosure Schedule, all first position Residential Mortgage Loans purchased on or after January 1, 2022, were intended to meet the guidelines or specifications of the Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA") or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC").

Section 5.09 <u>Auto Receivables</u>. Except as set forth on Section 5.09 of the Disclosure Schedule, with respect to any Auto Receivable held by Seller:

(a) The Auto Receivable represents a bona fide sale or finance of the vehicle or vessel described therein to the Loan Debtor for the amount set forth in the applicable Loan Documents.

(b) The vehicle or vessel described in the Loan Document evidencing the Auto Receivable has been delivered to and accepted by the vehicle or vessel purchaser and such acceptance, to Seller's Knowledge, which for purposes of this <u>Section 5.09(b)</u> includes the loan officer principally responsible for the origination of such Loan, has not been revoked.

(c) The security interest created by the Loan Document evidencing the Auto Receivable is a valid first priority Encumbrance in the vehicle or vessel covered by the Loan Document evidencing the Auto Receivable and all commercially reasonable steps have been taken to create and perfect such Encumbrance in such vehicle or vessel to afford such Encumbrance first priority status.

(d) The down payment relating to such Auto Receivable has been paid in full by the vehicle or vessel purchaser in cash and/or trade as shown in the Loan Documents, and no part of the down payment consisted of notes or postdated checks.

(e) To Seller's Knowledge, the written information submitted by the Loan Debtor in connection with the Auto Receivable are true and complete.

(f) Each Loan Document evidencing an Auto Receivable complies, in all material respects, with all Laws applicable to Loan Documents evidencing such Auto Receivable.

(g) Seller has no Knowledge of any circumstances or conditions with respect to the Auto Receivable, the related vehicle or vessel, or the Loan Debtor that could reasonably be expected to materially impair Seller's security interest granted in respect of the Auto Receivable.

Section 5.10 <u>Reserved</u>.

Section 5.11 <u>Unsecured Loans</u>. No Unsecured Loan has been charged-off since December 31, 2023, except in the Ordinary Course of Business.

Section 5.12 <u>Participation Loans</u>. Section 5.12 of the Disclosure Schedule fully describes all outstanding Loans in which Seller participates with other parties either as the originating lender or otherwise and, except as disclosed in Section 5.12 of the Disclosure Schedule, to Seller's Knowledge, Seller has no obligation as originating lender to repurchase any participation interest in such Loans and Seller shall not repurchase any such Loan participations prior to the Closing Date, in each case except as specifically required by the terms of the applicable loan participation agreement, and Seller shall notify Buyer prior to making any such repurchase(s).

Section 5.13 <u>Allowance</u>. Except as set forth on Section 5.13 of the Disclosure Schedule, the Allowance shown on Seller's Call Report as of June 30, 2024, has been calculated consistent with the policies of Seller and the requirements of applicable Accounting Standards to provide for expected credit losses.

Section 5.14 <u>Investments</u>. All investment securities owned by Seller are held consistently with the FFIEC Supervisory Policy statement on securities activities. Except as set forth on Section 5.14 of the Disclosure Schedule, to Seller's Knowledge, no investment securities owned by Seller are subject to any restriction other than those pledged as security for public deposits, whether contractual or statutory, which materially impairs the ability of Seller to dispose freely of such investment at any time and each of such investment securities complies with applicable regulatory requirements. Section 5.14 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of Liquid Assets owned by Seller as of June 30, 2024 (including the book value and market value thereof).

Section 5.15 <u>Deposits</u>.

(a) Seller made available to Buyer a complete copy of the current account agreement for all deposit products offered by Seller. Except as listed on Section 5.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, to Seller's Knowledge, all the accounts related to the Deposits are in material compliance with all applicable Laws and were originated in material compliance with all applicable Laws.

(b) Section 5.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and correct schedule of the Deposits prepared as of the date indicated thereon (which shall be updated prior to the Closing Date), listing by category and the amount of such deposits, together with the amount of Accrued Interest thereon. All Deposits are insured to the fullest extent permissible by the FDIC. Subject to the receipt of all requisite regulatory approvals, Seller has and will have at the Closing Date all rights and full authority to transfer and assign the Deposits without restriction, subject to the rights of the holders of Retirement Accounts. As of the date hereof, with respect to the Deposits:

(1) Subject to items returned without payment in full ("**Return Items**") and immaterial bookkeeping errors, all interest accrued or accruing on the Deposits has been properly credited thereto, and properly reflected on Seller's books of account, and Seller is not in default in the payment of any thereof;

(2) Subject to Return Items and immaterial bookkeeping errors, Seller has timely paid and performed all of its obligations and Liabilities relating to the Deposits as and when the same have become due and payable;

(3) Subject to immaterial bookkeeping errors, to Seller's Knowledge, Seller has administered all of the Deposits in accordance with applicable fiduciary duties and good and sound financial practices and procedures, and has properly made all appropriate credits and debits thereto; and

(4) Except as described on Section 5.15(b)(4) of the Disclosure Schedule, none of the Deposits are, as of the fifth (5th) Business Day prior to the date of this Agreement, subject to any Encumbrances or any legal restraint or other legal process, other than

Loans, customary court orders, levies, and garnishments affecting the depositors, and control or other agreements in favor of secured parties.

Section 5.16 <u>Contracts</u>. The Contracts constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Seller and the other parties thereto, enforceable in accordance with their terms (except as enforceability may be limited by General Exceptions). Seller is not in material default under any of the Contracts and, to the Knowledge of Seller, no other party to any of the Contracts is in default thereunder. Except as set forth on Section 5.16 of the Disclosure Schedule, each of the Contracts may be assigned to Buyer by Seller without the approval or consent of any other Person. Seller has delivered to Buyer true and correct copies of each of the Contracts and all attachments and addenda thereto. Section 5.16 of the Disclosure Schedule lists or describes the following Contracts (the "**Specified Contracts**"):

(a) Each loan and credit agreement, conditional sales contract, indenture or other title retention agreement or security agreement relating to money borrowed by Seller or letter of credit benefiting the Seller, including any agreements or other instruments evidencing the Seller Indebtedness and FHLB advances;

(b) Each guaranty by Seller of any obligation for the borrowing of money or otherwise (excluding any endorsements and guarantees in the Ordinary Course of Business and letters of credit issued by Seller in the Ordinary Course of Business) or any warranty or indemnification agreement;

(c) Each lease or license with respect to personal property involving an annual amount in excess of \$10,000.00;

(d) Each agreement, loan, contract, lease, license, guaranty, letter of credit, line of credit or commitment of Seller not referred to elsewhere in this Section which (i) involves payment by Seller (other than as disbursement of loan proceeds to customers) of more than \$10,000.00 annually or \$25,000.00 in the aggregate over its remaining term unless, in the latter case, such is terminable within one (1) year without premium or penalty; (ii) involves payments based on profits of Seller; (iii) was made outside the Ordinary Course of Business; or (iv) is a Material Contract; and

(e) Each agreement or contract (A) relating to the licensing or use of any Intellectual Property right, excluding standard non-exclusive off-the-shelf software licenses or software as a service agreements for commercially available, unmodified software or software as a service under standard shrink wrap agreements and for an annual, aggregate fee, royalty, or other consideration for such license is no more than \$10,000.00 and used solely for the Seller's internal use (the Intellectual Property that is the subject of such excluded licenses or agreements, "**Commercially Available Software**"), (B) affecting Seller's ability to use, disclose or enforce any Intellectual Property right (including concurrent use agreements, settlement agreements, and covenant not to sue agreements), or (C) any agreements related to the development or co-development of Seller Intellectual Property.

(f) except for agreements or contracts relating to trade receivables, all agreements or contract relating to indebtedness (including, without limitation, guarantees) of the Seller or the Holding Company;

(g) all agreements or contracts that relate to the acquisition or disposition of any business, a material amount of stock or equity or assets of any other Person or any real property (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise);

(h) all employment agreements and agreements or contracts with independent contractors or consultants (or similar arrangements) in each case providing for base compensation in excess of \$100,000.00 (other than offer letters and incentive compensation plans);

(i) all agreements or contracts that provide for the assumption of any Tax, environmental or other Liability of any Person or for which the primary purpose is to provide indemnity to another Person;

(j) all agreements or contracts that limit or purport to limit the ability of the Seller to compete in any line of business or with any Person or in any geographic area or during any period of time (other than ordinary course employee non-solicitation provisions);

(k) all agreements or contracts that provide for any joint venture, partnership or similar arrangement by the Holding Company or Seller;

(l) all powers of attorney with respect to the Seller;

(m) all agreements or contracts between or among the Seller on the one hand and any shareholder, officer, director or any Affiliate of any other them on the other hand other than agreements related to employment;

(n) all collective bargaining agreements, side letters, or Contracts with any union; and

(o) all other agreements or contracts that are material to the Seller as a whole, and not previously disclosed pursuant to this Section.

(p) Final and complete copies of each Specified Contracts listed and described in Section 5.16 of the Disclosure Schedule have been made available to Buyer. To Seller's Knowledge there are no oral Contracts. Seller is not in default in any material respect, nor has any event occurred (including as a result of COVID-19 or the COVID-19 Measures) that with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both would constitute a default in any material respect by Seller or which would give rise to any right of notice, modification, acceleration, payment, cancellation or termination of or, by another party under, in any manner release any party thereto from any obligation under, any Specified Contract and, to Seller's Knowledge, as of the date hereof, no other party is in default in any material respect, nor has any event occurred which with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both would constitute a default by any other party, or which would give rise to any right of notice, modification, acceleration, payment, cancellation or termination of or by Seller, or in any manner release any party thereto from any obligation, under any such Specified Contract. There are no renegotiations or outstanding rights to negotiate any amounts to be paid or payable to or by Seller under any Specified Contract required to be set

forth Section 5.16 of the Disclosure Schedule other than with respect to non-material amounts in the Ordinary Course of Business, and no Person has made a written demand for such negotiations.

Section 5.17 <u>Tax Matters</u>.

(a) Seller has timely filed or extended with the appropriate Governmental Authorities all Tax Returns and reports required to be filed by it and such Tax Returns are true, complete and correct in all respects. Seller is not: (i) delinquent in the payment of any Taxes (whether or not shown on such returns) or reports or on any assessments received by it for Taxes; (ii) subject to any pending or threatened examination for Taxes for any year by the IRS or any state tax agency; (iii) subject to any agreement extending the period for assessment or collection of any Tax; or (iv) a party to any action or proceeding with, nor has any Claim been asserted against it by, any Governmental Authority for assessment or collection of Taxes. Seller is not the subject of any threatened action or proceeding by any Governmental Authority for assessment or collection of Taxes. Seller adequately reserves against its Tax Liabilities in accordance with Accounting Standards. Seller has not elected to defer the payment of any "applicable employment taxes" (as defined in Section 2302(d)(1) of the CARES Act) pursuant to Section 2302 of the CARES Act and Seller has not claimed any "employee retention credit" pursuant to Section 2301 of the CARES Act.

(b) All Tax Returns required to be filed by Seller and Holding Company for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date (a "**Pre-Closing Tax Period**") have been, or will be, timely filed or extended with the appropriate Governmental Authority. All Taxes due and owing by Seller and Holding Company (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been, or will be, timely paid to the appropriate Governmental Authorities. No Claim has been made by any Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where neither Seller nor Holding Company files Tax Returns that Seller or Holding Company, as applicable, is or may be subject to Taxes by that jurisdiction or required to file a tax return in that jurisdiction. There are no Encumbrances for Taxes (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on or encumbering any of the Assets of Seller or the Holding Company.

(c) Seller has withheld and paid, or will prior to Closing withhold and pay, all Taxes required to be withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, customer, shareholder or other party, and complied in all respects with information reporting and backup withholding provisions of applicable law.

(d) No extensions or waivers of statutes of limitations have been given or requested with respect to any Taxes of Seller or Holding Company. Neither Seller nor Holding Company has agreed to any extension of time for an assessment or deficiency related to Taxes. All deficiencies asserted, or assessments made against Seller or Holding Company as a result of any examinations by any Governmental Authority have been, or will be, fully and timely paid. Neither Seller nor Holding Company is a party to any action by any Governmental Authority with respect to Taxes, and there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, actions threatened against Seller by any Governmental Authority.

(e) Neither Seller nor Holding Company is a "foreign person" within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2.

(f) Neither Seller nor Holding Company is, nor has ever been, a party to, or a promoter of, a "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b) (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign tax law).

(g) Neither Seller nor Holding Company is a party to or bound by any tax allocation, tax sharing agreement, tax indemnity or similar contract or arrangement, other than among themselves.

(h) No private letter rulings, technical advice memoranda or similar agreements or rulings have been requested, entered into or issued by any Governmental Authority with respect to Seller or Holding Company.

(i) Seller is not, and has not been, a party to, or a promoter of, a "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.60114(b).

Section 5.18 Employee Matters.

(a) Seller has not entered into any collective bargaining agreement with any labor organization with respect to any group of employees of Seller, and to Seller's Knowledge, there is no present effort nor existing proposal to attempt to unionize any group of employees of Seller.

Except as set forth on Section 5.18(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, (i) Seller is, and (b)for the past three (3) years has been, in material compliance with all applicable Laws respecting employment and employment practices, terms and conditions of employment and wages and hours, and classification of employees, including any such Laws respecting employment discrimination and occupational safety and health requirements, and the Seller is not engaged in any unfair labor practice; (ii) there is no unfair labor practice complaint against Seller pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened before the National Labor Relations Board; (iii) there is no labor dispute, strike, slowdown or stoppage actually pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against or directly affecting Seller; (iv) Seller has not experienced any work stoppage or other such labor difficulty during the past five (5) years; (v) to Seller's Knowledge, Seller has not been notified nor does it have reason to believe that a complaint has been or will be filed against Seller with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or similar state agency; and (vi) to Seller's Knowledge, Seller has not been notified nor does it have a reasonable basis to believe that complaint, proceeding, or action has been filed or is pending against Seller with the U.S. Department of Labor or similar state agency.

(c) Other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, and except as may be set forth on Section 5.18(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, within the past three (3) years, no employee layoff, facility closure (whether voluntary or by Law) which has not since been re-opened, reduction-in-force, furlough, material work schedule change, or reduction in salary or wages affecting employees of Seller has occurred or is currently contemplated, planned or announced, including as a result of COVID-19 or any Law, directive, guidelines or recommendations by any Governmental Authority in connection with or in response to COVID-19 (including COVID-19 Measures).

Except as set forth on Section 5.18(d) of the Disclosure Schedule, within the past (d) three (3) years, there has not been any litigation, charge, petition, or complaint, including any action by a Governmental Authority, relating to, any written allegation of or relating to, or to the Seller's Knowledge, any unwritten allegation of or relating to, unfair labor practices, discrimination, retaliation, sexual harassment, other unlawful harassment, sexual misconduct, violation of any other Law with respect to employment, or breach of Seller's policy relating to the foregoing, in each case involving any current or former employee, director, officer or independent contractor (in relation to his or her work for Seller) of Seller, nor has there been any settlement or similar out-of-court or pre-litigation arrangement relating to any such matters, nor, to the Seller's Knowledge, has any such litigation, charge, petition, complaint, settlement or other arrangement been threatened. To the Seller's Knowledge, there are no consensual or non-consensual sexual relationships between any officer or supervisor-level employee of Seller, on the one hand, and any direct report or other subordinate of any of the foregoing individuals, on the other hand. To the Seller's Knowledge, there has been no internal complaint or report of discrimination or harassment (including sexual harassment) made by an employee of Seller during the three (3) years prior to the Closing Date.

(e) All individuals who have provided services to Seller as independent contractors have been properly classified as independent contractors under applicable Laws, rather than as employees of Seller, and Seller has no Liability with respect to the misclassification of any such individuals during the past three (3) years.

Section 5.19 <u>Employee Benefit Plans</u>.

(a) Each Employee Benefit Plan is listed on Section 5.19(a) of the Disclosure Schedule. Except as set forth on Section 5.19(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, each Employee Benefit Plan (and each related trust, insurance contract, or fund) complies in form and in operation in all material respects with the applicable requirements if any, of ERISA, the Code, and other applicable legal requirements. No such Employee Benefit Plan is under audit by the IRS or the U.S. Department of Labor.

All contributions, premiums or other payments due for all periods ending on or (b)before the Closing Date have been paid or will be paid with respect to each Employee Benefit Plan. Each of the Employee Benefit Plans can be terminated at any time in the sole discretion of the Seller, without any additional contribution to such Employee Benefit Plan, except as may be the case for any tax-qualified defined benefit plan, or the payment of any additional compensation, except as may be the case for any ESOP, or amount or acceleration of any benefits (other than accelerated vesting with respect to tax qualified retirement plans and additional benefits under the ESOP, which shall not require any additional contribution to be made). Nothing prohibits the prompt distribution of all amounts under any Employee Benefit Plan subject to Section 401(a), 403(a) or 403(b) of the Code upon termination of such Employee Benefit Plan (subject to completion of the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation's standard termination process and the purchase of insurance annuities on behalf of participants, each in the case of any tax-qualified defined benefit plans). No termination, discontinuance, load or other similar fee or expense is payable or shall be assessed in connection with the discontinuance of contributions to, and/or the amendment or termination of, any of the Employee Benefit Plans. Without limiting the foregoing, all costs and expenses relating to Employee Benefit Plans terminations, including the satisfaction of any ESOP loan, shall be fully absorbed by the Seller.

(c) Except as set forth on Section 5.19(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, Seller is not a party to or bound by any employment, change in control or similar type agreement with any employee or service provider.

(d) All of Seller's BOLI policies set forth on <u>Section 5.19(d)</u> of the Disclosure Schedule are fully paid, with no further premium payments or other future Liabilities associated with such policies due or owing.

Section 5.20 <u>Environmental Matters</u>.

(a) As used in this Agreement, "Environmental Laws" means all Laws pertaining to environmental, health and/or safety matters in all jurisdictions in which Seller has done business or owned, leased or operated property, including but not limited to the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, the Federal Clean Water Act, the Federal Clean Air Act, and the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act.

(b) To the Knowledge of Seller, (i) Seller and its operations, the Seller Real Estate, and the Leasehold Interests are in material compliance with applicable Environmental Laws; (ii) there has been no release of Hazardous Materials at or affecting the Seller Real Estate or the Leasehold Interests; (iii) there are no Hazardous Materials in conditions at, on or beneath the Seller Real Estate or the Leasehold Interests that exceed applicable standards under Environmental Laws; (iv) there are no underground storage tanks located at, on or under the Seller Real Estate or Leasehold Interests; and (v) no Seller Real Estate or Leasehold Interests are currently listed on or proposed for listing on the United States Environmental Protection Agency's National Priorities List, or any other analogous state governmental list of properties or sites with known or suspected contamination conditions and/or that require investigation, remediation or other response action under applicable Environmental Laws.

(c) To the Knowledge of Seller after reasonable investigation, Seller has not received any notice, request for information or Claim from any Person indicating that Seller or Seller's business is or was in violation of any Environmental Law or that Seller is responsible (or potentially responsible) with respect to any Hazardous Materials at, on or beneath any Seller Real Estate, the Leasehold Interests or any other real property.

(d) To the Knowledge of Seller, Seller has provided Buyer with copies of all material environmental documentation in its possession or control pertaining to its operations, the Seller Real Estate, the Leasehold Interests, any Liabilities pursuant to Environmental Law and/or any other environmental, health or safety matters.

Section 5.21 <u>No Undisclosed Liabilities</u>. Seller does not have any material Liability, (and, to the Knowledge of Seller, there is no past or present fact, situation, circumstance, condition or other basis for any present or future action, suit or proceeding, hearing, charge, complaint, Claim or demand against Seller giving rise to any such Liability) required in accordance with GAAP to be reflected in an audited balance sheet of Holding Company or the notes thereto, except (i) for

Liabilities set forth or reserved against in the Holding Company Financial Statements as of December 31, 2023; (ii) for Liabilities occurring in the Ordinary Course of Business of Seller since December 31, 2023; (iii) Liabilities relating to the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and (iv) as may be disclosed on Section 5.21 of the Disclosure Schedule.

Section 5.22 <u>Litigation</u>. Except as set forth in Section 5.22 of the Disclosure Schedule, (a) there is no Claim pending against Seller or the Holding Company, or to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against or affecting Seller or the Holding Company; (b) neither the Holding Company nor the Seller have been the subject of or party to any Claim within the last three (3) years; and (c) there are no outstanding Orders and no unsatisfied judgments, penalties or awards against, relating to or affecting the Holding Company or Seller.. There are no Claims pending, or to Seller's knowledge threatened, against or by Seller or the Holding Company or any of their officers or directors that challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin or otherwise delay the Transactions

Section 5.23 <u>Performance of Obligations</u>. Seller has performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it to date under the Contracts, the Deposits, and the Loan Documents and Seller is not in material default under, and, to Seller's Knowledge, no event has occurred which, with the lapse of time or action by a third party, could result in a material default under, any such agreements or arrangements.

Section 5.24 <u>Compliance with Law</u>. Seller has all licenses, franchises, permits and other governmental authorizations that are legally required to enable it to conduct its business in all material respects, all of which are valid and in full force and effect. To Seller's Knowledge, no event has occurred that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, suspension, lapse or limitation of any such all licenses, franchises, permits and other governmental authorizations. The Holding Company and the Seller have complied, for the last three (3) years, and are now in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws.

Section 5.25 <u>Brokerage</u>. Except as set forth on Section 5.25 of the Disclosure Schedule, no Person has any Claims, agreements or entitlement for brokerage commissions, finders' fees, or similar compensation in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions payable by Seller or Holding Company.

Section 5.26 <u>Records</u>. The Records to be delivered to Buyer under <u>Section 2.01</u> are and shall be sufficient to enable Buyer to conduct a banking business with respect thereto under the same standards as Seller has heretofore conducted such business. Seller shall not retain any Records except for those Records strictly necessary and required for the disposition of Seller's charter post-Closing.

Section 5.27 <u>Community Reinvestment Act</u>. Seller received a rating of "Needs Improvement" in its most recent examination or interim review with respect to the Community Reinvestment Act.

Section 5.28 <u>Insurance</u>. Section 5.28 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of all Insurance Policies. The Insurance Policies are sufficient for compliance with all applicable Laws and Contracts to which the Holding Company and subsidiaries are a party or

by which the Holding Company and subsidiaries are bound, are adequate for the risk or hazard insured against and are customary in amount and scope for the lines of business in which the Seller and Holding Company participate. All amounts due and payable under such insurance policies are fully paid, and all such insurance policies are in full force and effect and there has been no lapse in coverage. To Seller's Knowledge, no event has occurred which would give rise to any right of notice, modification, acceleration, payment, cancellation or termination thereunder, or in any manner release any party thereto from any obligation under any insurance policy maintained by or on behalf of Seller. Except as set forth on Section 5.28 of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no pending claims under Insurance Policies. The Seller has made available to Buyer copies of loss runs for each of the Insurance Policies for each of the past three (3) years.

Section 5.29 <u>Regulatory Enforcement Matters</u>. Except as set forth on Section 5.29 of the Disclosure Schedule, the OCC Agreement, and except for matters which would be considered confidential supervisory matters under applicable federal Law, regulation or written policy, neither the Seller nor Holding Company is subject to, nor received notice that it may become subject to, any Order, agreement or memorandum of understanding by or with, and Seller is not party to any commitment letter or similar undertaking to, and Seller is not a recipient of any extraordinary supervisory agreement letter from, any federal or state agency charged with the supervision or regulation of banks or bank holding companies or engaged in the insurance of financial institution deposits or any other governmental agency having supervisory or regulatory authority with respect to Seller.

Section 5.30 <u>Regulatory Approvals</u>. To Seller's Knowledge, the information furnished by Seller for the purpose of enabling Seller or Buyer to complete and file all requisite regulatory applications for approval of the Transactions is or will be true and complete in all material respects as of the date so furnished. To Seller's Knowledge, there are no facts related to Seller which Seller has not disclosed to the Buyer in writing, which, insofar as Seller can now reasonably foresee, may impair or delay the ability of the Buyer or Seller to obtain the Regulatory Approvals.

Section 5.31 <u>Representations Regarding Financial Condition</u>.

(a) Neither Seller nor Holding Company is entering into this Agreement or engage in the Transactions in an effort to hinder, delay or defraud present or past creditors of either of them or their Affiliates.

(b) Seller and Holding Company (individually and together) is and are currently, and immediately after giving effect to the Transactions contemplated hereby solvent and shall: (a) be able to pay their debts as they become due; (b) own property that has a fair saleable value greater than the amounts required to pay their debts (including a reasonable estimate of the amount of all contingent liabilities); and (c) have adequate capital to carry on their business. In connection with the Transactions contemplated hereby, Seller and Holding Company have not incurred, nor plan to incur, debts beyond their ability to pay as they become absolute and matured.

(c) Seller has no intention to file proceedings for bankruptcy, insolvency or any similar proceeding for the appointment of a receiver, conservator, trustee, or guardian with respect to its business or assets prior to the Closing.

(d) Since December 31, 2023, Seller has not (i) paid or declared any dividend or made any other distribution to its shareholders except in the Ordinary Course of Business, and (ii) except as would not result in material Liability to Seller, had any material business interruptions or material Liabilities, including (a) the material failure of Seller's employees, agents and service providers to timely perform services, (b) any material labor shortages, (c) material reductions, taken as a whole, in customer/client demand, (d) any Claim of force majeure by Seller or a counterparty to any material contract, (e) materially reduced hours of operations or materially reduced aggregate labor hours, or (f) material restrictions on uses of the Seller's main office.

Section 5.32 Data Security Requirements.

(a) Seller (i) has collected, stored, and processed all Personal Information, Business Data and other protected information in material compliance with (A) Seller's own rules, policies, and procedures (whether physical or technical in nature, or otherwise), (B) all applicable Laws and the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS), and (C) agreements Seller has entered into or by which it is bound (collectively, "**Data Security Requirements**") and (ii) in the past five (5) years has complied with, and is in compliance with, all Data Security Requirements. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the transfer of any information in connection therewith will not breach or otherwise cause any violation of any Data Security Requirements.

(b) Seller has complied with all applicable Laws and all internal or publicly posted policies, notices, and statements concerning the collection, use, processing, storage, transfer, and security of Personal Information and Business Data in the conduct of its Ordinary Course of Business. Neither Seller nor Holding Company has (i) experienced any actual, alleged, or suspected Security Incident involving Personal Information or Business Data, or (ii) been subject to or received any written notice of any audit, investigation, complaint, or other proceeding by any Governmental Authorities or other Person concerning Seller's or Holding Company's collection, use, processing, storage, transfer, or protection of Personal Information or Business Data or actual, alleged, or suspected violation of any applicable Law, standard, policy, notice, or statement concerning privacy, data security, or data breach notification, and, to Seller's Knowledge, there are no facts or circumstances that could reasonably be expected to give rise to any such action.

(c) Seller has sufficient rights to use all IT Assets in connection with the operation of Seller's business as presently conducted all of which rights shall survive unchanged the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Seller's IT Assets operate and perform in all material respects in accordance with their documentation and functional specifications and otherwise as required in connection with the operation of Seller's business. Seller's IT Assets are free from material bugs and other defects, and have not materially malfunctioned or failed within the past five (5) years. None of the products and services, including websites, offered by Seller, nor any of Seller's IT Assets, contain any disabling device, virus, worm, back door, trojan horse or other disruptive or malicious code that may or are intended to materially impair their intended performance or otherwise permit unauthorized access to, hamper, delete or damage any computer system, software, network or data.

(d) Seller has implemented reasonable backup, security and disaster recovery measures and technology, including procedures and technology to provide for the backup, archival storage and recovery of Personal Information and Business Data.

Section 5.33 <u>Intellectual Property</u>.

(a) Section 5.33(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth (a) all registered Intellectual Property owned or purported to be owned by the Seller or any of its Affiliates and used in the business of the Seller; and (b) unregistered trademarks, trade names, service marks, logos, corporate names and fictitious names Seller has been known as or that were used in connection with Seller's business in the last six (6) years; (c) domain names, websites, social medial accounts and telephone numbers used by Seller in connection with its business in the last six (6) years.

(b) Seller owns or possesses all right to Intellectual Property necessary for or material to the conduct of the business of Seller in substantially the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing.

(c) The Seller has not, in any material respects: (i) infringed or misappropriated, or is infringing on or misappropriating, or otherwise violating any rights, including any Intellectual Property rights, of any third party; or (ii) engaged, or is engaging, in unfair competition prohibited by Law against any third party. No third party has in any material respects during the past six years: (1) infringed or misappropriated, or is infringing on or misappropriating, the Intellectual Property of Seller; or (2) ever engaged, or is engaging, in unfair competition prohibited by Law against Seller.

(d) Seller is the exclusive owner of all rights, title and interest in and to all Intellectual Property included in the Assets (with no breaks in the chain of title thereof), free and clear of any Encumbrances. Seller has not transferred ownership of, or granted any exclusive license with respect to, any Intellectual Property to any other Person. No Intellectual Property owned or used by Seller is subject to any Contract pursuant to which Seller has deposited, or would be required in any circumstances to deposit, into escrow any of the Intellectual Property for the benefit of such third party.

(e) Immediately following the Closing, Buyer will be permitted in all material respects to exercise all of Seller's rights in, to and under all Intellectual Property owned or used by Seller to the same extent Seller would have been able to had the Transactions not occurred and without the payment of any additional funds other than ongoing fees, royalties or payments which Seller would otherwise be required to pay for the use of such Intellectual Property in the Ordinary Course of Business.

Section 5.34 <u>Transactions with Affiliates</u>. Except for employment agreements with employees, neither the Holding Company nor Seller has any Liability to any of their Affiliates or officers and directors, nor does any such Affiliate officer or director owe any debt to them. No Affiliate, officer or director of Holding Company or Seller: (i) owns or has an interest in any property which is related to the Seller or is used in the operation thereof; (ii) is a lessee or lessor or sublessee or sublessor of any property which lease, sublease or property is material to the Seller is

used in the operation thereof; or (iii) is a party to any contractual obligation that materially affects the operation thereof.

Section 5.35 <u>Opinion of Financial Advisor</u>. Prior to execution of this Agreement, the board of directors of Holding Company has received the opinion of Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc. to the effect that, as of the date of such opinion and based upon and subject to the qualifications and assumptions set forth therein, the Cash Purchase Price in purchase of Assets, taking into account certain matters relating to the Transactions (as specified in such opinion) is fair, from a financial point of view, to Holding Company, and, as of the date of this Agreement, such opinion has not been withdrawn, revoked, or modified.

Section 5.36 <u>Limitation of Warranties</u>. EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THE EXHIBITS, DISCLOSURE SCHEDULE, AGREEMENTS AND DOCUMENTS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT, SELLER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE ASSETS BEING TRANSFERRED TO OR LIABILITIES BEING ASSUMED BY BUYER, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.

Section 5.37 <u>Disclosure</u>. No representation or warranty contained in this <u>Article V</u> and no statement or information relating to Seller or the Assets or Assumed Liabilities contained in (i) this Agreement (including the Disclosure Schedule and Exhibits hereto), or (ii) in any certificate or document furnished or to be furnished by or on behalf of Seller to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made herein or therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading.

ARTICLE VI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

On or prior to the date hereof, Buyer has delivered to Seller a schedule ("**Buyer Schedule**") setting forth, among other things, items the disclosure of which is necessary or appropriate either (i) in response to an express disclosure requirement contained in a provision of this Agreement or (ii) as an exception to one or more representations or warranties contained in this <u>Article VI</u> or to one or more of Buyer's covenants contained in <u>Article VII</u>. Except as otherwise specified herein, the reports provided with the Buyer Schedule are prepared as of the date indicated thereon.

Except as disclosed in the Buyer Schedule, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, Buyer represents and warrants to Seller and Holding Company as follows:

Section 6.01 <u>Organization and Authority</u>. Buyer is a federally chartered credit union duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing (to the extent applicable) under the Laws of the United States with full power and authority to carry on its business as now being conducted and to own and operate the properties which it now owns and/or operates. The deposit accounts of Buyer are insured by the NCUA, and all premiums and assessments required to be paid in connection therewith have been paid when due, and no proceedings for the termination of such insurance are pending or threatened. The execution, delivery, and performance by Buyer of this

Agreement are within Buyer's corporate power and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action. The board of directors of Buyer has approved this Agreement and the Transactions to which Buyer is a party at a meeting of the board of directors of Buyer duly held. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer and (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Seller and Holding Company) constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to the General Exceptions.

Section 6.02 <u>Conflicts</u>; <u>Defaults</u>. Except for the Regulatory Approvals, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Buyer nor the consummation of the Transactions will (i) conflict with, result in the breach of, constitute a default under, or accelerate the performance required by, the terms of any order, Law, contract, instrument or commitment to which Buyer is a party or by which Buyer is bound, (ii) violate the creation documents or bylaws of Buyer, (iii) require any consent, approval, authorization or filing under any Law, judgment, order, writ, decree, permit or license to which Buyer is a party or by which Buyer is bound, or (iv) require the consent or approval of any other party to any material contract, instrument or commitment to which Buyer is a party. Buyer is not subject to any agreement or understanding with any Governmental Authority which would prevent or adversely affect the consummation by Buyer of the Transactions.

Section 6.03 <u>Litigation</u>. There is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation pending against Buyer, or to the Knowledge of Buyer, threatened against or affecting Buyer, before any Governmental Authority which alone or in the aggregate would, if adversely determined, adversely affect the ability of Buyer to perform its obligations under this Agreement, which in any manner questions the validity of this Agreement or which could have a Material Adverse Effect on Buyer. Buyer is not aware of any facts that would reasonably afford a basis for any such action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

Section 6.04 <u>Regulatory Approvals</u>. The information furnished or to be furnished by Buyer for the purpose of enabling Seller or Buyer to complete and file all requisite regulatory applications is or will be true and complete as of the date so furnished. To Buyer's Knowledge there are no facts which would prevent Buyer from obtaining all requisite regulatory approvals or to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 6.05 <u>Financial Ability</u>. Buyer will have the financial ability to pay the Purchase Price for the Assets and assume the Assumed Liabilities as provided in this Agreement and will be "well capitalized" under NCUA regulations at the Closing Date upon consummation of the Transactions, including the payment of the Purchase Price.

Section 6.06 <u>Financial Information</u>. Buyer's audited consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, and the related audited consolidated income statement for the year then ended, together with the notes thereto, have been provided by Buyer to Seller, have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards and fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows of Buyer as of the date and for the periods indicated.

Section 6.07 <u>Compliance with Law</u>. Buyer has all licenses, franchises, permits and other governmental authorizations that are legally required to enable it to conduct its business in all

material respects and is conducting its business in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws.

Section 6.08 <u>Disclosure</u>. No representation or warranty contained in this <u>Article VI</u> and no statement or information relating to Buyer contained in (i) this Agreement (including the Disclosure Schedule and Exhibits hereto), or (ii) in any certificate or document furnished or to be furnished by or on behalf of Buyer to Seller pursuant to this Agreement, contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made herein or therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading.

Section 6.09 <u>Absence of Regulatory Actions</u>. (i) Buyer is not subject to, and has not received any notice or advice that it may become subject to, any Order, agreement, memorandum of understanding, by or with, (ii) Buyer is not party to any commitment letter or similar undertaking to, (iii) Buyer is not a recipient of any extraordinary supervisory agreement letter from, and (iv) Buyer has not adopted any policies, procedures or board resolutions at the request or suggestion of, any federal or state agency charged with the supervision or regulation of credit unions or engaged in the insurance of credit union deposits or any other Governmental Authority having supervisory or regulatory authority with respect to Buyer, in each case ((i)-(iv) inclusive) that would materially adversely affect the ability of Buyer to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

ARTICLE VII COVENANTS

Section 7.01 <u>Efforts to Close</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each of Seller, Holding Company and Buyer agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts in good faith to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or desirable, or advisable under applicable Laws, so as to permit consummation of the Transactions as promptly as practicable and shall cooperate fully with the other party to that end.

Section 7.02 <u>Shareholder Approval</u>. Holding Company agrees to take, in accordance with applicable Law and its governing documents, all action necessary to convene a special meeting of its shareholders as soon as appropriate and reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement (but in no event more than one hundred and fifty (150) days following the date of this Agreement) to consider and vote upon the approval and/or adoption of this Agreement (in preliminary, as applicable, and definitive form, together with any amendments, revisions, or supplements thereto, the "**Proxy Statement**") and the Transactions (the "**Special Meeting**"). Holding Company shall provide Buyer a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on the Proxy Statement. Neither Holding Company's board of directors nor any committee thereof will (x) change, qualify, withhold, withdraw or modify, or authorize or resolve to or publicly propose or announce its intention to change, qualify, withhold, withdraw or modify, in each case in any manner adverse to Buyer or Holding Company Board Recommendation, will continue to recommend to its shareholders that they approve and/or adopt this Agreement and the Transactions, and will take any other reasonable action required, to the extent consistent with the duties of

directors under Maryland law, as the case may be, to permit and cause consummation of the Transactions, unless, after consulting with and considering the advice of outside counsel and its financial advisor, such board of directors determines in good faith that to do so would be inconsistent with the duties of directors under Maryland Law, as the case may be. For purposes of this Agreement, any breach of Holding Company's obligations under this <u>Section 7.02</u> shall be deemed to be a breach by each of Holding Company and Seller.

Section 7.03 <u>Field of Membership</u>. Buyer shall take all commercially reasonable actions necessary to ensure that all customers of Seller shall be included in Buyer's field of membership as defined in its charter, including, but not limited to, receiving regulatory approval to amend its charter to such effect as of or prior to the Closing Date.

Section 7.04 <u>Press Releases</u>. Each of Buyer and Seller agrees that it will not, without the prior approval of the other party, issue any press release or written statement for general circulation relating to this Agreement or the Transactions (except for any release or statement that, in the opinion of outside counsel to such party, is required by Law and as to which such party has used its reasonable best efforts to discuss with the other party in advance or that is consistent with a prior approved or issued press release). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties agree to issue a joint press release, in form and substance mutually acceptable to the parties, not later than three (3) Business Days of the execution of this Agreement and Closing.

Section 7.05 Access to Records and Information; Personnel; Customers.

From and after the date of this Agreement and upon reasonable advance notice, (a) Seller shall afford to Buyer and its Representatives reasonable access during regular business hours to the offices, properties, books, contracts, commitments and records of Seller in order that Buyer may have full opportunity to make such investigations as it shall desire of the Deposits, Assets, Assumed Liabilities and the operations at Seller's locations; provided, however, that Seller shall not be required to take any action: (i) that would provide access to or to disclose information where such access or disclosure would violate or prejudice the rights (including, but not limited to, privacy) or business interests or confidences of any Person; (ii) that would result in the waiver by Seller of the privilege protecting communications between it and any of its counsel; or (iii) which would violate banking Laws. From and after the date of this Agreement, the officers of Seller shall furnish Buyer with such additional financial and operating data and other information relating to the assets, properties and business of Seller as Buyer shall from time-to-time reasonably request. Communications may be sent prior to receipt of Regulatory Approvals upon the consent of both Buyer and Seller. Seller shall consent, upon reasonable advance notice, to the review by the officers and authorized representatives of Buyer of the reports and working papers of Seller's independent auditors (upon reasonable advance notice to such auditors).

(b) After the receipt of all required regulatory approvals, and the approval of this Agreement and the Transactions by the shareholders of Holding Company, Buyer may elect, at its own expense and to the extent permitted by applicable Law, to deliver information, brochures, bulletins, press releases, and other communications to depositors, borrowers and other customers of Seller concerning the Transactions and concerning the business and operations of Buyer; *provided, however*, Seller must consent to any such written communications before they are sent,

which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Communications may be sent prior to regulatory approvals only upon the consent of both Buyer and Seller.

(c) As they are available following the date hereof, but in no event more frequently than monthly (except with respect to subsection (1) which shall at all times be remitted as they become available), and through the Closing Date, Seller shall provide information to Buyer in a format reasonably acceptable to Buyer concerning the status of the following matters:

(1) Any communication from or contacts by any Regulator concerning any regulatory matters affecting Seller as to which such Regulator has jurisdiction, unless, in the reasonable judgment of Seller's counsel, such disclosure: (i) would violate any banking Laws or fiduciary duties; (ii) would likely be objectionable to the applicable Regulator; (iii) is nondisclosable confidential information; or (iv) is an immaterial routine communication between Seller and such Regulator.

(2) Current information on the quality and performance of the Loans including information on the status of any delinquencies, non-performing Loans, loans past due more than thirty (30) days, loans placed on non-accrual status and status of OREO, and information indicating that any of the representations and warranties relating to the Loans in <u>Section 5.09</u> are no longer accurate in all material respects;

(3) Information concerning the total Deposits and by deposit product, their weighted average interest rate.

(4) Information concerning Seller's investment portfolio valuation report and derivatives valuation information.

(d) Within five (5) days following the monthly meeting of Seller's board of directors between the date hereof and the Closing Date, Seller shall provide Buyer with unaudited financial statements of Seller, including unaudited balance sheets and income statements for the month preceding such monthly board of directors meeting prepared in accordance with Seller's current internal practices.

(e) From the date of this Agreement to the Closing Date, Seller will cause one or more of Seller's designated representatives to confer on a reasonable basis with the President/CEO of Buyer (or his or her designees) to report the general status of the ongoing operations of Seller.

Section 7.06 Operation in Ordinary Course.

(a) From the date hereof to the Closing Date, Seller and the Holding Company shall, and the Holding Company shall cause the Seller to (1) conduct its business in the Ordinary Course of Business; (2) not take actions with respect to the Seller Real Estate, the Deposits, the Assumed Liabilities, or the Assets except in the Ordinary Course of Business; (3) use commercially reasonable efforts, but in no event less than in Seller's Ordinary Course of Business, to maintain good relationships with its employees, customers, suppliers, distributors, licensors, licensees, and other Persons having material business relationships with it and not provide communications to any such Persons without providing an advance copy thereof to the Buyer, which communication shall be subject to the Buyer's approval which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; (4)

maintain its books of accounts and records in the usual, regular and ordinary manner accordance with Accounting Standards and Law; (5) maintain licenses and permits necessary for the conduct of its business and maintain compliance with all Laws, permits, licenses, regulatory requirements and agreements to which it is subject or by which it is bound; (6) provide Buyer with prompt written notice of any Claim instituted or threatened against Seller or Holding Company; (7) notify the Buyer of any event, change, or effect which individually or in the aggregate causes or would be reasonably expected to cause or constitute a material breach of any of its representations, warranties, or covenants contained herein; (8) use all best efforts to comply with the OCC Agreement, including all amendments, modifications, expansions and adjustments thereto; (9) not purchase, acquire or take assignment of any Loans or pools of Loans from any Person; (10) not make any new Loan or acquire any new Loan that would be an Non-Compliant Loan; and (11) continue in full force and effect without modification all insurance policies, except as required by applicable Law

(b) Without limiting <u>Section 7.06(a)</u>, except as otherwise expressly required or permitted under this Agreement, prior to the Closing Date, neither the Seller nor Holding Company shall and the Holding Company shall cause the Seller to not, unless required by any Law or any Regulator, including, without limitation, the OCC Agreement, or with the prior written consent of Buyer, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed:

(1) fail to maintain the Fixed Assets and Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests in their present state of repair, order and condition, reasonable wear and tear and casualty excepted;

(2) fail to charge off assets in accordance with Accounting Standards;

(3) (i) authorize or enter into any new Contract, or voluntarily renew any existing Contract for more than one (1) year which obligates Seller to expend \$25,000 or more in a twelve (12) month period or \$100,000 in the aggregate; (ii) authorize or enter into any new Contract that would constitute a Material Contract; (iii) amend, modify or supplement any Contract relating to or affecting its operations or involving any of the Assets or Assumed Liabilities which obligates Seller to expend \$50,000 or more, in the aggregate or amend, modify or supplement any Material Contract; *provided, however*, in the case of clause (iii), Seller may amend, modify, or supplement any of the Contracts set forth on Section 5.16 of the Disclosure Schedule, if such Contract, as amended, modified, or supplemented is terminable at will by Seller upon thirty (30) days advance written notice and without any Liability; or (iv) accelerate, terminate or cancellation of any Material Contract, other than a Material Contract that expired by its terms and was not renewed;

(4) take any action, or enter into or authorize any transaction, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, relating to or affecting its operations or involving any of the Assets or Assumed Liabilities;

(5) knowingly and voluntarily take any act which, or knowingly and voluntarily omitting to do any act the omission of which, likely would result in a breach of any Material Contract, or any material commitment or obligation of Seller or Holding Company;

(6) make any material changes in its accounting systems, policies, principles or practices relating to or affecting its operations or involving any of the Assets or Assumed Liabilities, except as required to comply with the Accounting Standards and Law;

(7) enter into or renew any data processing service contract; except if any such service contract expires within one year after the date of this Agreement, it may be renewed for a period up to one year;

make any new Loan, nor any extension of credit or renewal to any (8) customer, in a single Loan (i) over \$75,000 with respect to Auto Receivables, (ii) \$200,000 with respect to Home Equity Loan or (iii) \$500,000 with respect to Residential Mortgage Loans or acquire any portfolio of Loans, except after delivering to Buyer written notice, including a complete loan package for such Loan, in a form consistent with Seller's written policies and practice made available to Buyer, at least three (3) Business Days prior to the origination of such Loan, and such Loan shall be made in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with past practice, Seller's current written loan policies and applicable rules and regulations of applicable Governmental Authorities with respect to the amount, term, security and quality of such borrower or borrower's credit. Loans are subject to a maximum Loan to value of Ninety Percent (90%) for Auto Receivables, and Home Equity Loans. Residential Mortgage Loans having a Loan to value of Eighty Percent (80%) or more require private mortgage insurance. All Residential Mortgage Loans will be compliant with FNMA and FHLMC Law. Without limiting the foregoing, Buyer may provide feedback to Seller on any Loan for which Seller provides notice to Buyer pursuant to this Section;

(9) transfer, assign, otherwise dispose of any of Fixed Assets except for the replacement of furniture, fixtures and equipment in the Ordinary Course of Business, and except for any Excluded Assets;

(10) except as set forth on Section 7.06(b)(10) of the Disclosure Schedule, invest in any Fixed Assets or improvements, except for replacements of furniture, furnishings and equipment, normal maintenance and refurbishing, purchased or made in the Ordinary Course of Business and for emergency and casualty repairs and replacements;

(11) except as set forth on Section 7.06(b)(11) of the Disclosure Schedule, increase or agree to increase the salary, remuneration, or compensation of its employees, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business or establish, modify or (except as contemplated in Section 7.28 and Section 8.03) terminate any Employee Benefit Plan;

(12) pay incentive compensation to employees in excess of \$50,000 in the aggregate for purposes of retaining their services through the Closing Date or maintaining Deposit levels through the Closing Date, unless the Seller agrees in writing that such compensation shall be an Excluded Liability;

(13) enter into any new employment agreements with employees or any consulting or similar agreements with directors of Seller, *provided, however* that annual renewals of existing agreements set forth on Section 5.19(c) of the Disclosure Schedule renewed in the Ordinary Course of Business and on the same terms are permitted; *provided, further*, however that

Seller shall be permitted to engage the assistance of temporary or contract employees, to the extent Seller deems necessary, to assist Seller in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement provided that such arrangements do not have an aggregate cost of more than \$100,000.00;

(14) amend or modify any of its promotional, deposit account or practices other than amendments or modifications in the Ordinary Course of Business and otherwise consistent with the provisions of this Agreement;

(15) fail to maintain deposit rates substantially in accordance with past standards and practices;

(16) change or amend its schedules or policies relating to service charges or service fees, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(17) fail to comply in all material respects with the Contracts;

(18) except in the Ordinary Course of Business (including creation of deposit Liabilities, entering into repurchase agreements, purchases or sales of federal funds, and sales of certificates of deposit, and FHLB and Federal Reserve Bank borrowings), borrow or agree to borrow any material amount of funds or directly or indirectly guarantee or agree to guarantee any material obligations of others except pursuant to outstanding letters of credit;

(19) purchase or otherwise acquire any investment security for its own account that exceeds \$1,000,000 or purchase or otherwise acquire any security, other than U.S. Treasury or other governmental obligations or mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by United States governmental or other governmental agencies, the Federal Home Loan Bank, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or Federal Farm Credit Bureau, in either case having an average remaining life of two (2) years or less, or engage in any activity that would be inconsistent with the classification of investment securities as "available for sale". Without limiting the foregoing, the Seller shall not acquire any investment security for its own account that cannot be legally held by Buyer;

(20) except as required by applicable Law or by the OCC Agreement: (1) implement or adopt any material change in its interest rate risk management and hedging policies, procedures or practices; (2) fail to follow its existing policies or practices with respect to managing its exposure to interest rate risk; (3) increase or decrease the rate of interest paid by Seller on any deposit product, including, without limitation on certificates of deposit, except in a manner and pursuant to policies consistent with past practices; provided that Seller shall provide notice to Buyer within three (3) Business Days after increasing its advertised rates on deposit product; or (4) in all material respects with respect to managing its exposure to interest rate risk, fail to use commercially reasonable means to manage its aggregate exposure to interest rate risk;

(21) voluntarily take any action that would change Seller's loan loss reserves which is not in compliance with Seller's past practices consistently applied and in compliance with Accounting Standards;

(22) not declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or property or any combination thereof) in respect of any equity securities of Seller, except for regular dividends or distributions paid by Seller to Holding Company in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(23) settle or compromise, or offer or propose to settle or compromise, (1) any Claim involving or against Seller, other than any settlement or compromise solely for monetary relief of not more than \$75,000.00 individually or \$150,000.00 in the aggregate and that does not involve any equitable relief or limitations on the conduct of Seller and which does not include any findings of fact or admission of culpability or wrongdoing by Seller, or (2) any proceeding that relates to the Transactions; fail to pay any Taxes or make or change any tax election, change an annual tax accounting period, enter into any closing agreement, waive or extend any statute of limitations with respect to Taxes;

(24) amend the Charter Documents of the Holding Company or Seller;

(25) split, combine or reclassify any shares of the capital stock of the Holding Company or Seller;

(26) issue, sell or otherwise dispose of any of its capital stock (other than in connection with the exercise of options outstanding on the date of this Agreement as required by the terms of such options), or grant any options, warrants or other rights to purchase or obtain (including upon conversion, exchange or exercise) any capital stock of the Seller;

(27) impose any Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances) upon any of the Seller's properties, capital stock or assets, tangible or intangible;

(28) approve or adopt any plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or filing of a petition in bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consent to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against it under any similar Law;

(29) acquire by merger or consolidation with, or by purchase a substantial portion of the assets or stock of, or by any other manner, any business or any Person or any division thereof;

(30) enter into a collective bargaining agreement or recognize a union, works council or labor organization as representation for any employees of the Holding Company or the Seller;

(31) incur, assume or guarantee any indebtedness for borrowed money except unsecured current obligations and Liabilities incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(32) enter into a new line of business, restore a line of business previously discontinued by Seller, or abandon or discontinue of existing lines of business;

(33) institute or threaten any Claims (i) against any current or former employee, officer or director of Holding Company or Seller; (ii) any against Party to any Material Contract; (iii) except for the foreclosure of Loans in the Ordinary Course of Business, against any Person that seeks or would reasonably be expected to involve monetary relief of more than \$75,000.00 individually or \$150,000.00 in the aggregate or that seeks non-monetary relief;

(34) engage in any internal restructuring that would result in any Person other than the Holding Company owning the Seller or any other Person holding Assets and Liabilities of the Seller; or

foregoing.

(35) enter into any Contract (conditional or otherwise) to do any of the

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this <u>Section 7.06</u> shall prohibit Seller from paying Excluded Liabilities, Excluded Transaction Expenses or any expenses that have been accrued in the Ordinary Course of Business.

<u>Regulatory Applications</u>. As promptly as practicable after the date of this Section 7.07 Agreement, but in no event later than seventy five (75) days after the date of this Agreement, Buyer and Seller, as applicable, shall file all applications, filings, notices, consents, permits, requests, or registrations required to obtain authorizations of any Regulator to consummate the Transactions, which shall include, without limitation, an application by Buyer to amend its charter, to the extent necessary, to ensure that its field of membership shall include all, or substantially all, customers of Seller and such charter amendment shall be approved by the NCUA and made by Buyer prior to the Closing Date; provided, however, that no party shall be in default of this provision if their failure to file such application(s) results from the failure of the other party to provide information necessary for the completion of the application(s). In addition, Buyer shall take all actions necessary so that the Deposits transferred to Buyer are insured by the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, to the maximum extent permitted by Law, immediately following the Effective Time. Seller will file an application for approval of liquidation at the appropriate time pursuant to applicable guidance and requirements to seek dissolution of its charter. Buyer and Seller will use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such authorizations from the Regulators as promptly as practicable and will consult with one another with respect to the obtaining of all such authorizations necessary or advisable to consummate the Transactions, including, without limitation, any amendment to the charter of Buyer necessary to amend Buyer's field of membership as required by this Agreement. Seller and Buyer agree to use their commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate in connection with obtaining such authorizations, including Seller's delivery of non-confidential Records to the Buyer to satisfy the Buyer's regulatory filings. Each party will keep the other party apprised of the status of all applications, filings and material matters relating to completion of the Transactions. Copies of the non-confidential portions of applications, supplements, filings and correspondence related to the Transactions to, from and between each party and its respective Regulators shall be promptly provided to the other party. Each of Buyer and Seller agrees, upon request, to furnish the other party, in advance of the filing, with all non-confidential information concerning itself and its respective directors, officers and shareholders and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with any filing, notice or application made by or on behalf of Buyer or Seller to any Regulator. Buyer and Seller shall promptly advise each other upon receiving any communication from any Regulators or other Governmental Authority whose consent or approval is required for consummation of the Transactions that causes such party to believe that there is a reasonable likelihood that such consent or approval will not be obtained or that the receipt of any such required consent or approval will be materially delayed. The Parties agree that they will request, and use their best efforts to obtain, confidential treatment for this Agreement, the Disclosure Schedule and related ancillary documents that are submitted as exhibits to the regulatory applications and filings made pursuant to this <u>Section 7.07</u>.

Section 7.08 <u>Third Party Consents</u>. Buyer and Seller will take all actions reasonably necessary to obtain any required consents of third parties necessary to consummate the Transactions in a reasonable timeline prior to the Closing Date. Buyer and Seller will consult with one another with respect to the obtaining of all such consents. Seller and Buyer agree to use their commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate in connection with obtaining such consents.

Section 7.09 <u>Title Insurance and Surveys</u>. Seller shall make available to Buyer, within thirty (30) days after the date of the Agreement, copies of its most recent owner's closing title insurance policy, binder or abstract and surveys on each parcel of the Seller Real Estate, or such other evidence of title reasonably acceptable to Buyer. Buyer may, at its expense, receive updated ALTA title commitments, abstracts and/or surveys on such Seller Real Estate at the Closing, as Buyer shall reasonably request.

Section 7.10 Environmental Matters; Property Condition Reports.

(a) Seller will make available to Buyer copies of any environmental reports it has obtained or received with respect to the Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests within ten (10) days after the date hereof. Without limiting the foregoing, Buyer in its discretion, within thirty (30) days after the date hereof, may commission its own Phase I environmental reports with respect to any Seller Real Estate. If Buyer's Phase I reports identify any "recognized environmental conditions" ("<u>RECs</u>") or other known or suspected environmental conditions that warrant further investigation or evaluation in the opinion of Buyer and Buyer's Phase I consultant, Buyer shall promptly notify Seller and then Buyer may proceed to conduct a Phase II environmental investigations and/or other evaluations at the Seller Real Estate with respect to any such RECs or other environmental conditions. All costs of any Phase I investigations and any Phase II investigations or other Buyer environmental due diligence requested pursuant to this Section shall be at Buyer's sole cost and expense. Buyer does hereby agree to restore at its cost any property for which it has undertaken an environmental investigation to substantially the same condition existing immediately prior to such investigation.

(b) Buyer may, at its own cost, order and receive a property condition assessment report to be prepared for each piece of Seller Real Estate and Leasehold Interests (each, a "**Reviewed Property**") to be conducted by a reputable third party with expertise in conducting such property assessments chosen by Buyer in its reasonable discretion. Buyer shall have fifteen (15) Business Days from the receipt of each property condition assessment report to notify Seller that the applicable report identified repairs which are "critical" repairs that relate to the roof of the Reviewed Property, the mechanical systems of the Reviewed Property or the structural components of the Reviewed Property; provided, that any assessment of a Reviewed Property that is a Leasehold Interest shall only recommend remedial or corrective actions that Seller, as lessee of such property, is required to take pursuant to the lease for such Leasehold Interest. In addition, Buyer shall cause each Reviewed Property to be restored to its condition prior to any such assessment activities if such assessment activities alter the condition of such Reviewed Property.

Section 7.11 <u>Further Assurances</u>.

(a) On and for a period of ninety (90) (or such shorter date that the Seller remains in existence) days after the Closing Date, Seller and Holding Company shall (i) give such reasonable further assistance to Buyer and shall execute, acknowledge, and deliver all such instruments and take such further action as may be necessary and appropriate to effectively vest in Buyer full, legal, and equitable title to the Assets, and (ii) use its reasonable efforts to assist Buyer in the orderly transfer of the Assets, Assumed Liabilities and Deposits being acquired by Buyer.

(b) Each party agrees to send promptly to the other party any payments, documents or instruments a party receives after the Closing which belongs to another party.

Section 7.12 <u>Payment of Items</u>. From and after the Closing Date, Buyer agrees to pay, to the extent of sufficient available funds on deposit, all properly drawn items, including ACHs, checks, drafts, and negotiable orders of withdrawal timely presented to it by mail, over its counters, or through clearings if such items are drawn by depositors whose Deposits or accounts on which such items are drawn are Deposits, whether drawn on the check or draft forms provided by Seller, for at least one-hundred eighty (180) days after the Closing Date, or on those provided by Buyer. In addition, Buyer shall, in all other respects, discharge the duties, Liabilities and obligations with respect to the Deposits to the extent such duties, Liabilities or obligations occur following the Closing.

Section 7.13 <u>Delivery of Fixed Assets</u>. Seller hereby agrees that (i) the personal property owned by Seller to be delivered on the Closing Date shall be substantially the same as the Fixed Assets set forth on Section 3.02 of the Disclosure Schedule that are identified as being owned by Seller, and (ii) the personal property leased by Seller to be delivered on the Closing Date shall be substantially the same as the Fixed Assets set forth on Section 3.02 of the Disclosure Schedule that are identified as being leased by Seller, in each case, ordinary wear and tear and casualty events excepted, and in the case of leased personal property, the expiration of any leases. Seller shall assign to Buyer any manufacturer or supplier warranty covering any Fixed Asset.

Section 7.14 <u>Close of Business on Closing Date</u>. On the Closing Date, Seller shall close all Seller locations for business not later than 5:00 p.m. local time, whereupon representatives of Buyer shall have access to all of Seller's locations, under the supervision of representatives of Seller, to verify Seller's provision to Buyer of the Records.

Section 7.15 <u>Supplemental Information</u>. From and after the date hereof until the Closing, if any party becomes aware of any facts, circumstances or of the occurrence or impending occurrence of (i) any event that does or could reasonably be expected to cause one or more of such party's representations and warranties contained in this Agreement to be or to become inaccurate, misleading, incomplete or untrue in a manner that has, or could have as of the Closing Date, a Material Adverse Effect on such party, such party shall promptly give detailed written notice thereof to the other party and use reasonable and diligent efforts to change such facts or events to prevent any Material Adverse Effect, unless the same shall have been waived in writing by the other party. In addition, each party shall supplement or amend any of its representations and warranties which apply to the period after the date hereof by delivering monthly written updates ("**Disclosure Schedule Monthly Updates**") to the other party with respect to any matter hereafter arising and

not disclosed herein or in the Disclosure Schedules that would render any such representation or warranty after the date of this Agreement inaccurate or incomplete as a result of such update. No later than five (5) days prior to Closing, Seller shall deliver an updated Disclosure Schedule to Buyer dated no more than ten (10) days prior to the Closing Date ("**Disclosure Schedule Updates**"). For the avoidance of doubt, Disclosure Schedule Monthly Updates and Disclosure Schedule Updates are for informational purposes only and no disclosure under this Section 7.15, including through a Disclosure Schedule Monthly Updates or Disclosure Schedule Updates, shall be deemed to cure any breach of any representation or warranty or shall be considered in determining the satisfaction of Section 9.02(b).

Section 7.16 <u>Confidentiality of Records</u>.

(a) Until the Closing, all information provided to Buyer in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions shall be treated as confidential, until the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been consummated, and if not consummated, shall thereafter continue to maintain such confidentiality in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement. Until the Closing Date, Buyer shall use all such information only for purposes of effectuating the Transactions.

(b) At all times after Closing, Seller and Holding Company will treat as confidential and will safeguard any and all information and data regarding the Transactions and the Assets and with respect to the Assumed Liabilities, by using the same degree of care, but no less than a reasonable standard of care, to prevent the unauthorized use, dissemination or disclosure of such information, knowledge and data as Seller and Holding Company used with respect thereto prior to the execution of this Agreement and uses thereafter with respect to its own confidential and proprietary information and trade secrets.

(c) The Confidentiality Agreement will automatically terminate at Closing.

Section 7.17 <u>Solicitation of Customers</u>. For two (2) years following the Closing Date, Seller and Holding Company will not, and cause their Representatives or Affiliates not to (whether on behalf of Seller or otherwise), solicit customers whose Deposits are assumed pursuant to this Agreement or whose Loans are acquired by Buyer under this Agreement for any banking business, and Seller will not engage in deposit taking activities.

Section 7.18 Installation/Conversion of Signage/Equipment. Prior to Closing and after the receipt of all Regulatory Approvals, and the approval of this Agreement and the Transactions by the stockholders of Holding Company, then, at times mutually agreeable to Buyer and Seller, Buyer may, at Buyer's sole expense, install teller equipment, platform equipment, security equipment, computers, and signage at Seller's locations, and Seller shall cooperate with Buyer in connection with such installation; *provided, however*, that (i) such installation shall not interfere with the normal business activities and operation of Seller's locations; (ii) no such signage shall be installed at Seller's locations more than five (5) Business Days before the Closing Date; (iii) Buyer's name as appearing on any such signage shall be covered by an opaque covering material until after the close of business on the Closing Date; and (iv) if this Agreement is terminated prior to the consummation of the Transactions, the signage will be restored to its original condition and Buyer will pay for the cost of such restoration, unless otherwise agreed in writing by Buyer and Seller. Section 7.19 <u>Seller Activities after Closing</u>. After Closing, Seller may no longer accept any deposits or make any new loans; and must limit its business activities to those related to the winding-down of Seller's business. Seller will not sell or seek to sell Seller's charter to any Person after the Closing. Seller shall terminate its FDIC insurance and surrender its charter to the applicable Regulator.

Section 7.20 <u>Maintenance of Records by Buyer</u>. Buyer agrees that it shall maintain, preserve and safely keep, for a minimum period of five (5) years after the Closing Date or the minimum period required by applicable Law, whichever is longer, all of the Records for the benefit of itself, Seller and Holding Company, and that it shall permit, subject to Section 7.16(b), Seller, Holding Company or either of its Representatives, at any reasonable time and at the expense of Seller or Holding Company, to inspect, make extracts from or copies of any such Records as such representatives shall deem reasonably necessary.

Section 7.21 <u>Board and Committee Meetings</u>. Seller shall provide Buyer with copies of minutes and consents from all of Seller's board and committee meetings (if any), for the last two (2) years and on a going forward basis no later than ten (10) Business Days after the board approves such minutes and consents relating to the prior board and/or committee meetings, except Seller may exclude and redact therefrom (a) any confidential discussion of this Agreement and the Transactions or any third party proposal to acquire control of Seller or Holding Company, and (b) information where such disclosure would or could reasonably be expected to jeopardize the attorney-client privilege of Seller or Holding Company, that relates to confidential Regulator examination material or correspondence, the disclosure of which would violate applicable Law.

Section 7.22 <u>Cooperation on Conversion of Systems</u>. Seller agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to assist in an orderly transfer of information, processes, systems and data to Buyer and to otherwise assist Buyer in facilitating the conversion of all of Seller's systems into or to conform with, Buyer's systems to the extent reasonably requested by Buyer, including, without limitation, the termination of any Contracts, effective on or following the Closing Date.

Section 7.23 <u>Minimum Share Deposits in Buyer</u>. Seller's Loan Debtors and any other customers without a minimum of \$1.00 in a Deposit account, on the Closing Date, must have a minimum deposit of \$1.00 at Buyer on the Closing Date in order to satisfy Buyer's membership requirements. Buyer agrees to open a deposit share account for any Loan Debtor who does not have a Deposit balance of at least \$1.00 in Seller on the Closing Date (which Deposit account will be assumed by Buyer) and to fund such new deposit share account with a \$1.00 deposit, in compliance with its policies and applicable Law.

Section 7.24 <u>No-Shop; Acquisition Proposals</u>.

(a) <u>No Shop; No Talk</u>. Seller and Holding Company agree that they shall not (and Holding Company shall cause Seller to not), and shall cause their respective Representatives and Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly, (a) solicit initiate, facilitate, encourage or continue to encourage inquiries or proposals with respect to an Acquisition Proposal; (b) enter into, engage in or continue to engage in any negotiations concerning, or provide any information to, or have any discussions with, any Person relating to, any Acquisition Proposal; provided that the foregoing

shall not prohibit the Seller or the Holding Company from merely informing a Person that contacts the Seller or the Holding Company (not as a result of any breach by the Seller or Holding Company of this Section 7.24(a)) that Seller and the Holding Company are subject to the restrictions contained in this Section 7.24. Not later than the Effective Date, the Holding Company and Seller shall (A) request in writing that each Person that has heretofore executed a confidentiality agreement in connection with its consideration of any Acquisition Proposal promptly destroy or return to the Holding Company all nonpublic information theretofore furnished by the Holding Company, Seller or any of their Representatives and Affiliates to such Person in accordance with the terms of such confidentiality agreement and (B) terminate access to any physical or electronic data rooms relating to any possible Acquisition Proposal by such Person. Without limiting the foregoing, it is understood that any violation of or the taking of any actions inconsistent with the restrictions set forth in this Section 7.24(a) by (y) any directors, officers or employees of the Holding Company, Seller or any of their Affiliates, whether or not purporting to act on behalf of the Holding Company or Seller, or (z) investment bankers, attorneys, accountants, consultants, or other agents or advisors if acting at the direction of the Holding Company, Seller or any of their Affiliates shall be deemed to be a breach of this Section 7.24(a) by Holding Company and Seller.

Acquisition Proposal. Notwithstanding Section 7.24(a), if, at any time prior to the (b) fulfillment or waiver of all the terms and conditions contained in Article IX (other than those conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date), (1) the Holding Company or Seller receives a bona fide written Acquisition Proposal that is not withdrawn from any Person that did not result from or involve a breach of Section 7.24(a) and (2) the board of directors of the Holding Company determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, (i) that such Acquisition Proposal constitutes or could reasonably be expected to lead to a Superior Proposal, and (ii) failure to take the actions set forth in clauses (A) and (B) below would be inconsistent with the fiduciary duties under Law of the Holding Company's board of directors, the board of directors of Holding Company may or may cause Seller to, only in connection with such Acquisition Proposal, (A) pursuant and subject to an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement, provide information to the Person that has made such written Acquisition Proposal and its Representatives with respect to the Seller and its Affiliates; provided, that the Holding Company and Seller shall, (x) provide Buyer with a copy of such executed Applicable Confidentiality Agreement promptly (and in no event later than twenty-four (24) hours) after execution and (y) prior to or substantially concurrently with the delivery to such Person, provide to Buyer any information or data concerning the Holding Company, Seller or any of their Affiliates that is provided or made available to such Person or its Representatives, whether in writing or orally, unless such information has been previously provided to Buyer, in which case the Holding Company and Seller shall promptly (and in no event later than twenty-four (24) hours) provide written notification to Buyer of the information and data so provided (unless such information was not previously provided to Buyer to comply with applicable Law); and (B) may engage in such negotiations or discussions with the Person that has made such written Acquisition Proposal and its Representatives with respect to such Acquisition Proposal.

(c) <u>Notices</u>. Seller or Holding Company shall promptly (within forty-eight (48) hours) advise Buyer following the receipt by it of any Acquisition Proposal or, within two business days, following the receipt of any amendment or modification to the material terms of any such Acquisition Proposal, and the substance thereof (including the identity of the Person making such Acquisition Proposal and, if the Acquisition Proposal was in writing, a copy of such Acquisition

Proposal), and advise Buyer of any developments with respect to such Acquisition Proposal immediately upon the occurrence thereof. The Holding Company shall provide Buyer with at least forty-eight (48) hours prior written notice of any meeting of the board of directors of Holding Company or the Seller (or such lesser notice as is provided to such board members) at which such board is reasonably expected to consider any Acquisition Proposal.

(d) **Board Recommendation**.

Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, (1)from the date of this Agreement until the earlier to occur of the termination of this Agreement and the fulfillment or waiver of all the terms and conditions contained in Article IX (other than those conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date), except as expressly permitted by this Section 7.24(d), neither the board of directors of the Holding Company nor any committee thereof shall (i) (A) change, qualify, withhold, withdraw or modify, or authorize or resolve to or publicly propose or announce its intention to change, qualify, withhold, withdraw or modify, in each case in any manner adverse to Buyer or Holding Company Board Recommendation, or fail to include Holding Company Board Recommendation in any materials it submits to its shareholders with respect to their approval of the Transactions and other matters contemplated by this Agreement, (B) adopt, approve, endorse or recommend to the shareholders of the Holding Company, or resolve to or publicly propose or announce its intention to adopt, approve, endorse or recommend to the shareholders of the Holding Company, an Acquisition Proposal, (C) reserved, (D) fail to recommend, in any document submitted to the Holding Company shareholders, or (E) propose or agree to any of the foregoing (any action described in this clause (i) being referred to as a "Holding Company Adverse Recommendation Change"), or (ii) cause or direct the Holding Company, Seller or any of their Affiliates to enter into any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, contract, agreement (including an acquisition or purchase agreement, merger agreement, option agreement, expense reimbursement agreement, joint venture agreement or other similar agreement), legally binding commitment or agreement in principle with respect to, or that would reasonably be expected to lead to, any Acquisition Proposal (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement entered into in accordance with Section 7.24(b)) (a "Holding Company Acquisition Agreement") or publicly propose or agree to do any of the foregoing.

(2) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, prior to the fulfillment or waiver of all the terms and conditions contained in <u>Article IX</u> (other than those conditions which, by their nature, are to be satisfied on the Closing Date), in response to an Acquisition Proposal received by the Holding Company after the date of this Agreement that did not result from or involve a breach of <u>Section 7.24(a)</u>, the board of directors of the Holding Company, may

Change, or

(i) make a Holding Company Adverse Recommendation

(ii) cause the Holding Company to terminate this Agreement in accordance with and pursuant to <u>Section 10.01(d)</u> in order to cause the Holding Company to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to an Acquisition Proposal, if and only if the Holding Company board of directors has determined in good faith, after consultation with its financial

advisor and outside legal counsel and after taking into account any revisions to the terms of this Agreement that may be offered in writing by Parent in accordance with this Section 7.24(d), (A) that such Acquisition Proposal constitutes a Superior Proposal and (B) that the failure to make a Holding Company Adverse Recommendation Change or cause the Seller to validly terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section 10.01(d) would reasonably be expected to conflict with the fiduciary duties of the Holding Company board of directors under applicable Law, provided, that prior to making such Holding Company Adverse Recommendation Change or terminating this Agreement in accordance with Section 10.01(d), (1) the Holding Company shall have given Buyer at least four (4) Business Days' prior written notice of its intention to take such action, including its reasonable basis for such decision and the material terms and conditions of, and the identity of the Person making any such Superior Proposal and contemporaneously provided to Buyer a copy of the Superior Proposal, a copy of any proposed Holding Company Acquisition Agreement and all related documentation, including with respect to financing arrangements, (2) during such four (4) Business Day period following the date on which such notice is received, the Holding Company shall and shall cause its Representatives to, if requested by Buyer, negotiate with Buyer in good faith to make such adjustments to the terms and conditions of this Agreement as Buyer may propose, (3) upon the end of such notice period (or such subsequent notice period as contemplated by clause (4)), the Holding Company board of directors shall have considered in good faith any revisions to the terms of this Agreement proposed in writing by Buyer and capable of being accepted by the Holding Company, and shall have determined, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, that the Superior Proposal would nevertheless continue to constitute a Superior Proposal, and (4) in the event of any change to any of the financial terms or any other material terms of such Superior Proposal, the Holding Company shall, in each case, have delivered to Buyer an additional notice consistent with that described in clause (1) above of this proviso and a new notice period under clause (1) of this proviso shall commence (provided, that the notice period thereunder shall only be three (3) Business Days during which time the Holding Company shall be required to comply with the requirements of this Section 7.24(d)) anew with respect to such additional notice, including clauses (1) through (4) above of this proviso.

Section 7.25 <u>Investment Securities</u>. No later than thirty (30) days after the date of this Agreement, Buyer shall identify in writing any investment securities owned by Seller that may not be transferred to or otherwise held by Buyer pursuant to rules and regulations promulgated by the Regulators. If requested by Buyer, Seller shall assist Buyer in making preparations to transfer, or otherwise liquidate any investment securities identified by Buyer pursuant to this <u>Section 7.25</u> immediately following the Closing.

Section 7.26 <u>Liquidation Accounts</u>. Seller shall consult with the Regulators to determine the amount required to be held in the Liquidation Accounts and any required distributions from the Liquidation Accounts. Prior to or on the Closing Date, Seller shall inform Buyer of the contingent Liability associated with the Liquidation Accounts as of the most recent practicable date, as estimated by Seller in good faith (the "Liquidation Account Value"). Holding Company, Seller and Buyer agree to cooperate and to take all actions required by the Regulators with respect to the Liquidation Accounts to complete the Transactions in an efficient manner. If the applicable Regulators direct that Seller liquidate and make distributions to depositors from the Liquidation Accounts, Seller may set aside cash before or after the Closing for the purpose of paying to depositors the Liquidation Account Value in designated Bank Accounts (the "Funded Liquidation Accounts"); provided, however, that such amounts will not change the Purchase Price. If the Funded Liquidation Accounts are set aside by the Seller prior to Closing, they shall be deemed an "Excluded Asset" for purposes of this Agreement and Seller shall (a) take all commercially reasonable actions to ensure that the Funded Liquidation Accounts are distributed as soon as practicable following the Closing and (b) appoint the Holding Company as the sole party responsible for communications with any third parties relating to the distribution of the Funded Liquidation Accounts. Nothing set forth in this Section shall result in an obligation on the Buyer to fund Liquidation Accounts, and the parties acknowledge and agree that amounts funded into the Liquidation Accounts to be assumed by Holding Company or Seller. If the Regulators permit the Holding Company, Buyer will assume Seller's obligations under the Liquidation Accounts, and the funded by Holding Company to Ever the Holding Company, Buyer will assume Seller's obligations under the Liquidation Accounts, and the funded by Holding Company as the such funds into its general assets.

Section 7.27 <u>No Control of Other Party's Business</u>. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Buyer, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the operations of Seller prior to or after the Closing Date, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Seller, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the operations of Buyer prior to the Closing Date. Prior to the Closing Date, each of Buyer and Seller shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, control and supervision over its respective operations.

Section 7.28 <u>Termination of Excluded Contracts</u>. Prior to Closing, Seller shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to terminate at or prior to Closing all Excluded Contracts, obtain all applicable releases, and make any and all payments required under such Excluded Contracts (subject to <u>Section 8.03</u>, in the case of Excluded Contracts which are Employee Benefit Plans). Seller shall provide Buyer prior notice with the opportunity to comment on any such terminations and use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate and minimize any termination fees and other expenses associated with such terminations, and notwithstanding the prior sentence, the parties may by mutual consent determine to not cause the termination of certain Excluded Contracts. The Buyer is not assuming, nor shall it have responsibility for the continuation of, any Liabilities under or in connection with any Excluded Contracts.

Section 7.29 <u>Stockholder Litigation</u>. The Holding Company shall promptly advise Buyer in writing after becoming aware of any Claim commenced, or to the Holding Company's Knowledge threatened, against the Holding Company or any of its directors or officers by any shareholder of the Holding Company (on their own behalf or on behalf of the Holding Company) relating to this Agreement or the Transactions and shall keep Buyer reasonably informed regarding any such Claim. The Holding Company shall: (a) give Buyer the opportunity to participate in (but not control or direct) the defense and settlement of any such shareholder Claim(s) at its own cost and expense, (b) keep Buyer reasonably apprised on a prompt basis of proposed strategy and other significant decisions with respect to any such shareholder Claims(s), and provide Buyer with the opportunity to consult with the Holding Company regarding the defense of any such Claim(s), which advice the Holding Company shall consider in good faith, and (c) not settle any such Claims without the prior written consent of Buyer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed, or conditioned).

Section 7.30 <u>Core Deposits Outflow</u>. Seller shall calculate, on a monthly basis, the Core Deposits Outflow Percentage as of the last Business Day of each month prior to the Closing and

provide such calculation to Buyer no more than ten (10) days following the end of such month. If in any month, the Core Deposits Outflow Percentage is equal to or greater than Core Deposits Outflow Threshold 1, then Seller shall take commercially reasonable actions to reduce the Core Deposits Outflow Percentage and Buyer shall be permitted to provide recommendations to Seller regarding actions taken to prevent further reductions in the Core Deposits of Seller which the Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to follow; provided, that any actions taken in compliance with this section shall be deemed not to violate any other covenant in this Agreement. For purposes of calculating Core Deposits Outflow, the Seller shall utilize the categories set forth on Schedule RC-E in FFIEC 051 Call Report.

Section 7.31 <u>Post-Closing Support</u>. For a period of one year following Closing, Buyer shall grant to Seller and Holding Company a license or lease agreement to use certain demised space at 60 Fall Street, Seneca Falls, New York, to support their wind-down operations. The terms and conditions of such license or lease will be reasonably negotiated by Buyer and Seller prior to the Closing.

Section 7.32 <u>Refinance of Non-Compliant Loans</u>. Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to, pursuant to this <u>Section 7.32</u>, refinance each Non-Compliant Loan. Consistent with the other terms and conditions of this Agreement, Buyer shall reasonably cooperate with Seller to consummate the refinance of Non-Compliant Loans pursuant to this Section 7.32 as follows:

(a) Seller and Buyer will mutually agree on pricing parameters for the refinance of Non-Compliant Loans to Permitted Loans promptly after the Effective Date. To the extent otherwise permissible, Buyer will make Buyer employees, agents, officers and contractors available to support Seller's efforts to refinance Non-Compliant Loans to Permitted Loans. The terms and condition of Buyer support pursuant to this Section will be mutually agreed to by Seller and Buyer.

(b) Not later than fifteen (15) days prior to Closing, Seller shall provide a list of Non-Compliant Loans to Buyer which shall include a list of each Non-Compliant Loan refinanced (or to be refinanced) as of the Closing.

Section 7.33 <u>2024 Audit</u>. Within Thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, the Seller shall address, to the reasonable satisfaction of the Buyer, the items set forth on Section 7.33 of the Disclosure Schedule.

Section 7.34 <u>FISERV Termination Fees</u>. Seller and Buyer mutually agree to work together in good faith to determine (i) the FISERV Termination Fees and (ii) a mutually agreeable mechanism to provide for the payment of the FISERV Termination Fees after the Closing Date, to the extent that any portion of the FISERV Termination Fees remain unpaid as of Closing.

ARTICLE VIII EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

Section 8.01 <u>Employees</u>.

(a) At least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the Closing Date, Buyer may offer employment to those employees of Seller whom Buyer elects to hire and who satisfy Buyer's customary employment requirements, including pre-employment interviews, investigations and Buyer's employment needs. Seller will give Buyer a reasonable opportunity to interview the employees, provided such interviews do not interfere with the normal business operations of Seller in any material respect. Section 8.01(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the name, annual salary, year-to-date compensation, primary department assignment, and location of employment of each employee of Seller as of Seller's most recently available payroll period prior to the date of the Agreement (it being understood and agreed that for administrative purposes such payroll period may be within thirty (30) days of the date of the Agreement).

(b) Buyer shall be solely responsible for providing continuation coverage (including dependent coverage) under the Consolidated Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, or any applicable state Law to those individuals who are "M&A qualified beneficiaries" (as defined in Section 54.4980B, Q&A-4(a)) with respect to the Transactions.

(c) After official announcement of the Transaction to employees and until the Closing Date, at a time and schedule mutually agreed upon and with Seller's prior consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed), Buyer may conduct such training and other programs as it may, in its reasonable discretion, elect to provide for those employees who accept an offer of employment from Buyer; *provided, however*, that such training and other programs shall not interfere with or prevent the performance of the normal business operations of Seller in any material respects. Buyer shall reimburse Seller for any actual expenses and additional wages, including overtime costs, to be paid to such employees associated with any such trainings that occur outside of normal business hours.

(d) This <u>Section 8.01</u> shall not confer any rights or benefits on any Person other than Buyer and Seller, or their respective successors and assigns, either as a third party beneficiary or otherwise, and is not an amendment to (and does not require the establishment or amendment of) any employee benefit plan of Buyer or Seller.

(e) At the request of Buyer, Seller shall offer "stay bonuses," to any employees of Seller identified by Buyer as necessary to ensure an orderly and successful transition of the business of Seller and the Assets to Buyer (the "**Buyer Stay Bonuses**"). Such "stay bonuses" shall be evidenced by a bonus agreement provided by Buyer, and reasonably acceptable to Seller, and shall be payable by the Buyer, subject to the conditions of such bonus agreement (collectively, the "**Buyer Stay Bonus Agreements**"). The amount and timing of any such stay bonus paid to any employee shall be mutually agreed upon by Seller and Buyer, and shall take into account and be intended to comply with, or be exempt from, the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. For the avoidance of doubt, Buyer Stay Bonuses will not impact the Cash Purchase Price and will be paid by Buyer.

(f) Buyer agrees that those employees of Seller who are offered employment with Buyer, satisfy Buyer's customary employment requirements, including but not limited to preemployment interviews and applicable background checks and screenings, and accept employment with Buyer on or prior to the Closing Date shall become employees of Buyer on the Business Day immediately following the Closing Date ("Former Seller Employees"). Upon commencement of their employment with Buyer, Former Seller Employees will have access to Buyer's employee benefit plans, including insurance and retirement benefits ("Buyer's Employee Benefit Plans") to the extent provided by the normal terms and conditions of Buyer's Employee Benefit Plans, except that:

(1) Unless prohibited by Law, past service with the Seller will be credited to the Former Seller Employees with respect to the Buyer's Employee Benefit Plans that are defined contribution qualified retirement plans, for the purposes of calculating eligibility and vesting service and satisfaction of any requirement to be employed for a certain number of hours in the plan year in which their employment commences in order to receive a contribution, and Former Seller Employees who are employed in an eligible employment classification will be eligible to participate in any such plan upon commencement of employment with Buyer, but (for the avoidance of doubt) contributions will be calculated based solely on eligible compensation paid by Buyer for employment with Buyer, and nothing entitles Former Seller Employees to contributions for periods prior to the commencement of their employment with Buyer, nor shall any person be entitled to duplicative benefits.

(2) Former Seller Employees will not be subject to any waiting periods or pre-existing condition limitations under the medical, dental and health plans of Buyer in which they are eligible to participate and may commence participation in such plans upon commencement of their employment with Buyer.

(3) For purposes of determining the entitlement of Former Seller Employees to paid time off following the Closing Date, the service of such employees with Seller shall be treated as if such service were with Buyer; *provided, however*, that any accrued paid time off shall be pro-rated to reflect the number of days in the year of the Closing Date that such Former Seller Employees are employed by Buyer (for example, if the transaction closes on June 30, 2025, a Former Seller Employee who was entitled to two weeks of paid time off by virtue of employment with Seller would be entitled to one week of paid time off for the remainder of 2025 upon employment by Buyer).

(g) For each employee of Seller (i) who is not offered comparable employment by the Buyer for any reason, or (ii) who becomes a Former Seller Employee and such Former Seller Employee's employment with Buyer is terminated by the Buyer within twelve (12) months after Closing for any reason other than for Cause, and, in the case of either (i) or (ii), such employee or Former Seller Employee (as the case may be) was not entitled to a payment resulting from the consummation of the Transactions pursuant to an employment agreement or change-in-control agreement with Seller, Buyer will pay a severance amount to such employee equal to two (2) weeks of such employee is base salary or weekly wages, as applicable, for each completed year of service as an employee of Seller with a minimum of four (4) weeks of base salary or weekly wages up to a maximum severance of twenty-six (26) weeks of base salary or weekly wages, less applicable withholdings and deductions. The severance payments discussed in this <u>Section 8.01(g)</u>

are subject to the recipient's execution and non-revocation of a general release of all Claims in a form to be provided by and acceptable to the Buyer. For the avoidance of doubt, payments made under this section shall not impact the Cash Purchase Price and will be paid by Buyer.

Section 8.02 <u>Employment Contracts and Employee Benefit Plans</u>. Buyer is not assuming, nor shall it have responsibility for the continuation of, any Liabilities under or in connection with:

(a) any employment or consulting contract, collective bargaining agreement, supplemental employee retirement plan, plan or arrangement providing for insurance coverage or for deferred compensation, bonuses, or other forms of incentive compensation or post-retirement compensation or benefits, written or implied, which is entered into or maintained, as the case may be, by Seller; or

(b) any Employee Benefit Plan (except to the extent otherwise set forth in Section $\underline{8.01(e)}$).

Section 8.03 <u>Other Employee Benefit Matters</u>. Seller shall take all appropriate action to terminate Seller's tax qualified retirement plans ("Seller's Qualified Plans") immediately prior to the Closing Date, and will prepare any final audit and final tax return and any other regulatory filings; provided, however, that Buyer agrees that nothing in this Section will require Seller to cause the final dissolution and liquidation of Seller's Qualified Plans prior to the Closing Date. Seller shall take such actions as may be reasonably necessary to enable a timely and efficient liquidation of Seller's Qualified Plans prior to termination to comply with all legal requirements. Nothing in this Agreement will be construed to prevent Seller from commencing the termination process of its Seller's Qualified Plans and such Seller's Qualified Plans may be terminated on or before the Closing Date or after the Closing Date, in the sole discretion of Seller. With respect to Former Seller Employees eligible to make rollover contributions into a Buyer's Employee Benefit Plan, Buyer will permit such rollovers on the usual terms and conditions applicable under the Buyer's Employee Benefit Plan, and Seller will take such actions as Buyer may reasonably request to facilitate such rollovers.

Section 8.04 <u>Employee Documents</u>. Within fifteen (15) Business Days after the Effective Date, Buyer will be granted access to the employees' personnel files (or copies thereof) but excluding any medical or health related information and other information non-disclosable without the consent of such employees.

Section 8.05 <u>Tail Insurance</u>.

(a) Buyer shall reimburse the Seller and Holding Company to purchase a prepaid tail insurance policy (the "**Tail**") with a claims period of six (6) years after Closing with, except as set forth on Disclosure Schedule 8.05, at least the same coverage and amounts and containing terms and conditions that are not less advantageous to than the Holding Company's existing directors and officers liability insurance policy, in each case with respect to Claims arising out of or relating to events which occurred before or at Closing (including in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement). The Tail shall name Buyer as an additional insured.

(b) Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, shall be construed to or shall release, waive or impair any rights to directors' and officers' insurance claims under any policy that is or has been in existence with respect to Seller or Holding Company for any of its respective directors, officers or other employees, it being understood and agreed that the rights provided for in the Tail or this <u>Section 8.05</u> are not prior to or in substitution for any such claims under such policies.

(c) The Buyer agrees to indemnify and reimburse the Covered Parties for an amount up to the applicable Retention owed under the Tail for any Claim (i) that is brought against the Covered Parties after Closing for their actions or omission in their capacity as officers and directors occurring at or prior to the Effective Time (including in connection with the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement but excluding the Excluded D&O Claims set forth on Section 8.05 of the Disclosure Schedule); and (ii) that is covered under the Tail.

(d) Except to the limited extent provided for in <u>Section 8.05(c)</u>, Neither the Seller, the Holding Company nor the Covered Parties shall be entitled to or shall seek or be entitled to any indemnification, defense or reimbursement from the Buyer or its Affiliates with respect to Claims against, or Liabilities related to, actions or omissions of any Covered Party at or prior to the Effective Time (including in connection with the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement).

ARTICLE IX CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 9.01 <u>Conditions to the Obligations of Seller</u>. Unless waived in writing by Seller, the obligations of Seller to consummate the Transactions are subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(a) <u>**Performance**</u>. Buyer shall have performed or complied, in all material respects, with all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party to be performed or complied with at or prior to Closing.

(b) <u>**Representations and Warranties**</u>. The representations and warranties of Buyer contained in <u>Article VI</u> of this Agreement shall be true, correct and complete, in all material respects, on and as of the Closing Date (unless they speak to an earlier date) with the same effect as though made on and as of the Closing Date, it being agreed and understood that all such representations and warranties shall be deemed true, correct and complete in all material respects, unless such inaccuracy or inaccuracies, individually or in the aggregate, have had a Material Adverse Effect on Buyer.

(c) <u>Material Adverse Effect</u>. Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, no events or circumstances have occurred that have had a Material Adverse Effect on the financial condition of Buyer or the ability of Buyer to perform its obligations under this Agreement and consummate the Transactions.

(d) **Documents**. Seller shall have received the following documents from Buyer:

(1) An executed copy of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto.

(2) Resolutions of Buyer's board of directors, certified by its Secretary or Assistant Secretary, authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions to which Buyer is a party.

(3) A certificate of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of Buyer as to the incumbency and signatures of officers.

(4) A certificate signed by a duly authorized officer of Buyer stating that the conditions set forth in Section 9.01(a), Section 9.01(b), and Section 9.01(c) of this Agreement have been fulfilled.

(5) An executed copy of the Retirement Account Transfer Agreement attached hereto as <u>Exhibit D</u>.

(6) Such other instruments and documents as counsel for Seller may reasonably require as necessary or desirable for transferring to Buyer the obligation to pay the deposit Liabilities and otherwise perform Seller's obligations that are being assumed by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, or consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to counsel for Seller.

(e) <u>**Purchase Price**</u>. Buyer shall have paid the amounts set forth in <u>Section 4.02</u>.

Section 9.02 <u>Conditions to the Obligations of Buyer</u>. Unless waived in writing by Buyer, the obligations of Buyer to consummate the Transactions are subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) <u>**Performance**</u>. Seller and Holding Company, to the extent applicable, shall have performed or complied, in all material respects, with all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party to be performed or complied with at or prior to Closing.

(b) **<u>Representations and Warranties</u>**. The representations and warranties of Seller contained in <u>Article V</u> (i) other than the Fundamental Representations, will be true and correct as if made anew as of such date (except to the extent any such representation or warranty expressly relates to an earlier date (in which case as of such earlier date)) without giving effect to qualifications as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect or any correlative term, except for any failure of any such representation and warranty referred to in this <u>Section 9.02(b)</u> to be true and correct that has not had, or would not be reasonably expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect and (ii) with respect to the Fundamental Representations, other than de minimus title exceptions with respect to <u>Section 5.05</u> and <u>Section 5.06</u>, will be true and correct as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date as if made anew as of such date (except to the extent any such representation or warranty expressly relates to an earlier date (in which case as of such earlier date).

(c) <u>No Material Adverse Effect</u>. Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing, Seller shall not have experienced a Material Adverse Effect or the ability of Seller to perform its obligations under this Agreement and consummate the Transactions. (d) **Documents**. Buyer shall have received the following documents from Seller:

(1) duly executed recordable (A) Bargain and Sale Deeds conveying title to the Seller Real Estate other than OREO (B) quit claim deed conveying title to the OREO, and (C) any other documents reasonably requested by Buyer to transfer the Seller Real Estate.

(2) An executed Assignment and Assumption Agreement substantively in the form of Exhibit A.

(3) An executed Assignment and Assumption Agreement of Lease of each Leasehold Interest consented to by the lessor thereof.

(4) An executed Bill of Sale and Assignment substantively in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit C</u>.

(5) Resolutions of Seller's and Holding Company's boards of directors, certified by their respective Secretary or Assistant Secretary, as applicable, authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions and the report of the inspector of elections of the Special Meeting certifying the vote of Holding Company's shareholders approving this Agreement and the Transactions.

(6) A certificate from each of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of Seller and Holding Company as to the incumbency and signatures of officers.

(7) A certificate signed by a duly authorized officer of Seller stating that the conditions set forth in <u>Section 9.02(a)</u>, <u>Section 9.02(b)</u>, and <u>Section 9.02(c)</u> of this Agreement have been satisfied.

(8) A final customer list as set forth in <u>Section 11.06</u> of this Agreement.

Code, as amended.

(9) An affidavit of non-foreign status as required by Section 1445 of the

of this Agreement.

(10) The holds and stop payment information described in <u>Section 11.01</u>

(11) An executed copy of the Retirement Account Transfer Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit D.

(12) Third party consents to the assignment of the Material Contracts set forth on Section 9.02(d)(i) of the Disclosure Schedule, each in a form satisfactory to Buyer in its sole discretion.

(13) The Records.

(14) An executed copy of the Limited Power of Attorney in the form attached hereto as $\underline{\text{Exhibit E}}$.

(15) Executed copies of non-solicitation agreements from the parties identified on Section 9.02(d)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedule substantially the form attached as Exhibit F (each a "Non-Solicitation Agreement;" and collectively the "Non-Solicitation Agreements").

(16) Executed copies of the Voting Agreements executed by each of the directors of the Holding Company and the executive officers of the Holding Company in the form attached hereto as Exhibit G.

(17) An executed copy of an Assignment and Assumption of Leases in form and substance acceptable to the Parties.

(18) Any and all certificates and other documents necessary to establish Seller's compliance with the requirements and provisions of any Tax clearance, bulk sales, bulk transfer or similar laws of any jurisdiction in connection with the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (b) such other evidence as Buyer may request to evidence Seller's compliance with the Tax laws of each state in which the Assets (other than the Excluded Assets) are located and each other jurisdiction in which Seller files any Tax Return, or to determine the amount of withholding required to avoid successor Liability in accordance with such states' applicable tax clearance procedures.

(19) Such other documents or instruments as counsel for Buyer may reasonably require as necessary or desirable for transferring, assigning and conveying to Buyer the Contracts and the Deposits and good, marketable, and (with respect to the Seller Real Estate) insurable title to the Assets to be transferred to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, including, without limitation, customary filing forms, and any customary affidavits required remove standard printed exceptions to any owner's policies of title insurance secured by Buyer, all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to counsel for Buyer and Buyer's title company, as applicable.

(e) <u>**Physical Delivery**</u>. Seller shall also deliver to Buyer the Assets purchased hereunder which are capable of physical delivery.

(f) <u>Lease Terminations</u>. With respect to the leases, licenses, or other right to occupy a portion of the Seller Real Estate set forth on Section 9.02(f) of the Disclosure Schedule (each an "Excluded Seller Lease" or "Seller Lease" and collectively the "Excluded Seller Leases" or "Seller Leases") (as detailed on Section 9.02(f) of the Disclosure Schedules), Seller shall terminate such Excluded Seller Leases and confirm that the occupant of Seller Real Estate pursuant to such Excluded Seller Lease shall have vacated the Seller Real Estate.

Section 9.03 <u>Condition to the Obligations of Seller and Buyer</u>.

(a) <u>**Regulatory Approvals**</u>. All regulatory approvals from the Regulators set forth on Section 9.03(a) of the Disclosure Schedule (the "**Regulatory Approvals**") shall have been obtained without any non-standard conditions or other non-standard requirements, in either case, reasonably deemed unduly burdensome by either Seller or Buyer.

(b) <u>Absence of Orders</u>. No Order shall have been entered and remain in force at the Closing Date restraining or prohibiting any of the Transactions and no action or proceeding shall

have been instituted or threatened on or before the Closing Date seeking to restrain or prohibit the Transactions contemplated by this Agreement or which would have a Material Adverse Effect on Seller.

(c) <u>Termination of Data Processing and Debit Card Services Contracts</u>. All data processing and debit card services Contracts that are Excluded Contracts identified on Section 2.01(b) of the Disclosure Schedule shall have been terminated or notice of termination shall have been given by Seller at or prior to Closing.

(d) <u>Holding Company Shareholder Approval</u>. The shareholders of Holding Company shall have approved or adopted this Agreement and the Transactions, as applicable, by at least the minimum number of affirmative votes required by applicable law of such shareholders to approve or adopted this Agreement and the Transactions, as applicable (the "**Required Shareholder Approval**").

ARTICLE X TERMINATION

Section 10.01 <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to Closing, notwithstanding the approval thereof by the shareholders of Holding Company (unless otherwise indicated in this <u>Section 10.01</u>), as follows:

(a) By Seller or Buyer after the expiration of twenty (20) Business Days after any Regulator shall have denied or refused to grant the approvals or consents required under this Agreement to be obtained pursuant to this Agreement, unless within said twenty (20) Business Day period Buyer and Seller agree to submit or resubmit an application to, or appeal the decision of, the Regulator which denied or refused to grant approval thereof, provided that the Regulator does not state that such submission or resubmission will not cure the cause of the denial or refusal to grant the approval or consent required; provided however, that no party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.01(a) if such denial or refusal of approval or consent arises out of or results from, a material breach of this Agreement by the party seeking to terminate this Agreement.

(b) By the non-breaching party after the expiration of twenty (20) Business Days from the date that either party has given notice to the other party of such other party's material breach of any obligation, warranty, representation, or covenant in this Agreement; *provided, however*, that no such termination shall take effect if within said twenty (20) Business Day period the party so notified shall have fully and completely corrected the grounds for termination as specified in such notice (which in the case of a breach of a representation or warranty would be the elimination of the Material Adverse Effect); *provided further, however*, that no such termination shall take effect if within twenty (20) Business Days of the failure by the notified party to make such correction within said twenty (20) day period, the notifying party delivers to the notified party a written election not to terminate this Agreement notwithstanding such breach or misrepresentation, and any such election to proceed shall not waive such party's right to seek damages or other equitable relief. (c) By Seller or Buyer if the Transactions are not consummated on or before 5:00 pm Eastern time on the twelve (12) month anniversary of the date of this Agreement, unless such date is extended by mutual written agreement of the parties (the "**Termination Date**"); *provided*, *however*, that if the sole impediment to Closing is the receipt of any required regulatory approval, then such date shall be extended by up to two consecutive two (2) month periods, *provided however*, that no party hereto shall have the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 10.01(c)</u> if the failure of such party to perform or comply in all material respects with the covenants and agreements of such party set forth in this Agreement shall have caused, or materially contributed to, the failure to consummate the Transactions by the Termination Date.

By Seller if, to the extent permitted by and subject to full compliance with Section (d)7.24, Seller shall contemporaneously enter into a Holding Company Acquisition Agreement (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement) with a third party providing a Superior Proposal, as defined below; provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 10.01(d) shall not be available to Seller unless it delivers to Buyer (1) written notice of Seller's intention to terminate at least five (5) Business Days prior to termination and (2) the Buyer Fee as required by Section 10.03 is paid contemporaneously with such termination. For purposes of this Section 10.01(d), "Superior Proposal" means an Acquisition Proposal made by a third party after the date hereof which, in the good faith judgment of the board of directors of Holding Company (after consultation with its outside legal counsel and its independent financial advisor), taking into account the various legal, financial and regulatory aspects of the proposal and the Person making such proposal, (A) if accepted, is reasonably expected to be completed, and (B) if consummated, is more favorable from a financial point of view than the Transactions for Seller, Holding Company and the shareholders of Holding Company, taking into account: (a) all financial considerations; (b) the identity of the third party making such Acquisition Proposal; (c) the anticipated timing, conditions (including any financing condition or the reliability of any debt or equity funding commitments) and prospects for completion of such Acquisition Proposal; (d) the other terms and conditions of such Acquisition Proposal and the implications thereof on the Holding Company, Seller and the shareholders of the Holding Company including relevant legal, regulatory, and other aspects of such Acquisition Proposal deemed relevant by the Holding Company board of directors; and (e) any revisions to the terms of this Agreement and the Transactions proposed by Buyer.

(e) The mutual written consent of the parties to terminate.

Section 10.02 <u>Effect of Termination and Abandonment</u>. In the event of termination of this Agreement and the abandonment of the Transactions pursuant to this <u>Article X</u>, no party to this Agreement shall have any Liability or further obligation to any other party hereunder except (a) as set forth <u>Section 10.03</u>, and (b) that termination will not relieve a breaching party from Liability for any fraud, willful breach or material breach of this Agreement giving rise to such termination; or that was the cause of the failure of the Closing to occur and, in addition, the Prevailing Party shall be reimbursed by the other parties to the action for reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses relating to such action.

Section 10.03 <u>Liquidated Damages</u>. If Seller terminates this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 10.01(d)</u>, then within five (5) Business Days after receipt by Buyer of Seller's notice of termination, Seller shall pay Buyer by wire transfer in immediately available funds, as agreed upon liquidated damages and not as a penalty and as the sole and exclusive remedy of Buyer,

\$1,640,000.00 (the "**Buyer Fee**"). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in the circumstance in which the Buyer Fee is or becomes payable pursuant to this Section, Buyer's sole and exclusive remedy (whether at law, in equity, in contract, in tort or otherwise) against Seller or any of its Affiliates with respect to the facts and circumstances giving rise to such payment obligation shall be payment of the Buyer Fee. Seller shall not be required to pay the Buyer Fee on more than one occasion.

ARTICLE XI OTHER AGREEMENTS

Section 11.01 <u>Holds and Stop Payment Orders</u>. Holds and stop payment orders that have been placed by Seller on particular accounts or on individual checks, drafts or other instruments before the Closing Date will be continued by Buyer under the same terms after the Closing Date. Seller will deliver to Buyer at the Closing a complete schedule of such holds and stop payment orders and documentation relating to the placing thereof.

Section 11.02 <u>ACH Items and Recurring Debits</u>. Seller will transfer all automated clearing house ("ACH") arrangements to Buyer as soon as possible after the Closing Date. At least fifteen (15) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Seller will deliver to Buyer (i) a listing of account numbers for all accounts being assumed by Buyer subject to ACH Items and Recurring Debit arrangements, and (ii) all other records and information necessary for Buyer to administer such arrangements. Buyer shall continue such ACH arrangements and such Recurring Debit arrangements as are originated and administered by third parties and for which Buyer need act only as processor; Buyer shall also continue Recurring Debit arrangements that were originated or administered by Seller.

Section 11.03 <u>Withholding</u>. Seller shall deliver to Buyer (i) within three (3) Business Days after the Closing Date a list of all "B" (TINs do not match) and "C" (under reporting/IRS imposed withholding) notices from the IRS imposing withholding restrictions, and (ii) for a period of one-hundred twenty (120) days after the Closing Date, all notices received by Seller or Holding Company from the IRS releasing withholding restrictions on Deposit accounts transferred to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement. Any amounts required by any governmental agency to be withheld from any of the Deposits (the "**Withholding Obligations**") will be handled in the following manner:

(a) Any Withholding Obligations required to be remitted to the appropriate governmental agency prior to the Closing Date will be withheld and remitted by Seller, and any other sums withheld by Seller pursuant to Withholding Obligations prior to the Closing Date shall also be remitted by Seller to the appropriate governmental agency on or prior to the time they are due.

(b) Any Withholding Obligations required to be remitted to the appropriate governmental agency on or after the Closing Date with respect to Withholding Obligations after the Closing Date and not withheld by Seller as set forth in <u>Section 11.03(a)</u> above will be remitted by Buyer.

(c) Any penalties described on "B" notices from the IRS or any similar penalties that relate to Deposit accounts opened by Seller prior to the Closing Date will be paid by Seller promptly upon receipt of the notice providing such penalty assessment resulted from Seller's acts, policies or omissions.

Section 11.04 <u>Retirement Accounts</u>. Seller will provide Buyer with the proper trust documents and all related information for any Retirement Accounts assumed by Buyer under <u>Section 2.02</u> of this Agreement. Buyer shall be responsible for all federal and state income tax reporting of Retirement Accounts for the calendar year in which the Closing occurs. Seller agrees to cooperate with Buyer to permit Buyer to retain Seller's current reporting service provider (and assume any such contract) (if Buyer elects to do so) and to assist Buyer in the preparation of any such reports or background materials needed for the preparation of any such reports.

Section 11.05 <u>Interest Reporting</u>. Buyer shall report for the calendar year in which the Closing occurs, for all dates on or prior to the Closing Date, all interest credited to, interest withheld from, and early withdrawal penalties charged to the Deposits which are assumed by Buyer under this Agreement. For so long as Seller remains in existence, Seller agrees to cooperate with Buyer to permit Buyer to retain Seller's current reporting service provider and assume any such contract, if Buyer elects to do so, and to assist Buyer in the preparation of any such reports or background materials needed for the preparation of any such reports. Said reports shall be made to the holders of these accounts and to the applicable federal and state regulatory agencies.

Section 11.06 Notices to Depositors.

(a) Seller shall provide Buyer an intermediate customer list of the Deposit accounts to be assumed by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement, together with a tape thereof, as of month-end prior to the scheduled Seller mailing referred to in <u>Section 11.06(b)</u> below. Seller shall provide Buyer a final customer list of the Deposits transferred as of the Closing Date pursuant to this Agreement with the data processing tapes.

After receipt of all regulatory approvals and, with the non-objection of the (b)Regulators, if required, at least five (5) Business Days before the Closing Date but only after the waiver or satisfaction of all conditions to Closing (other than deliveries), Seller shall mail notification to the holders of the Deposits to be assumed that, subject to closing requirements, Buyer will be assuming the Liability for the Deposits; provided, however, such notice shall be given to the holders of IRAs at least thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date. The notification(s) will be based on the list referred to in Section 11.06(a) above and a listing of the new accounts opened by Seller since the date of said list. Seller shall provide Buyer with the documentation of said listing up to the date of Seller's mailing. Buyer shall send notification(s) to the same holders either together with Seller's mailing, (in which case Buyer shall pay the costs of such mailing and Buyer shall not delay the timing of such mailing), or within three (3) days after Seller's notification setting out the details of its administration of the assumed accounts. Each party shall obtain the approval of the other on its notification letter(s), which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Except as otherwise provided herein, each party will be responsible for the cost of its own mailing.

Section 11.07 Card Processing and Overdraft Coverage.

(a) Seller will provide Buyer with a list of ATM and debit card holders no later than eight (8) Business Days after receipt of all necessary approvals of the Regulators; *provided, however*, Buyer shall not use such list to contact the card holders without prior consent of the Seller.

(b) All of Seller's customers with overdraft coverage shall be provided similar overdraft coverage, if available, by Buyer after the Closing, and if not available, Buyer will provide written notice to any affected customers.

Section 11.08 <u>Taxpayer Information</u>. Seller shall deliver to Buyer within three (3) Business Days after the Closing Date: (i) TINs (or record of appropriate exemption) for all holders of Deposit accounts acquired by Buyer pursuant to this Agreement; and (ii) all other information in Seller's possession or reasonably available to Seller required by applicable Law to be provided to the IRS with respect to the Assets and Deposit accounts transferred pursuant to this Agreement and the holders thereof, except for such information which Seller will report pursuant to <u>Section 11.03</u> of this Agreement (collectively, the "**Taxpayer Information**"). Seller hereby certifies that such information, when delivered, shall accurately reflect the information provided by Seller's customers.

Section 11.09 <u>UCC Financing Statement Dates</u>. Seller shall deliver to Buyer within five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date: (i) a list of UCC-1 financing statement filing dates for open Loans; and (ii) a list of UCC-3 financing statement filing dates for open Loans.

Section 11.10 <u>Taxes; Transfer Charges</u>. The taxes on the transfer of the Seller Real Estate shall be borne by the Party responsible pursuant to applicable Law; *provided*, *however*, that to the extent applicable Law is silent on responsibility, and absent common practice and custom, the responsibility for such taxes shall be split equally by Buyer and Seller. All other transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other similar taxes, and all conveyance fees, recording charges and other fees and charges (including any penalties and interest), incurred in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be borne by Seller, and the Seller shall file all necessary tax returns and other documentation with respect to all such transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other taxes and fees, and, if required by applicable Law, Buyer shall join in the execution of any such tax returns and other documentation.

Section 11.11 <u>Prorations and Adjustments</u>. The following shall be pro-rated between Buyer and Seller as of the Closing Date (collectively, the "**Real Estate Prorations**"): (a) all real estate taxes and assessments with respect to the Seller Real Estate based on the tax year of the municipality in which each parcel of Seller Real Estate is located; and (b) charges for water, fuel, gas, electricity and other utilities, as applicable, and all rentals under the Leasehold Interests.

Section 11.12 Reserved.

Section 11.13 <u>Representation and Warranty Insurance Policy.</u>

(a) Prior to the Closing, the Buyer may obtain a representation and warranty insurance policy issued in the name of the Buyer in connection with this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Buyer acknowledges and agrees that (i) receipt of any such representation and

warranty insurance policy is not a condition to Closing and (ii) the Buyer shall be responsible for all fees, expenses and premiums relating to any such representation and warranty insurance policy.

(b) Any such representation and warranty insurance policy shall expressly provide that any right of any insurer thereunder or any other Person to subrogate or otherwise make, bring or initiate any proceeding against Seller or Holding Company or based upon, arising out of, or related to this Agreement, or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement, shall be limited to claims of fraud, willful misconduct or intentional misrepresentation and that all other such claims are waived thereunder, and the Buyer shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates and Representatives not to, procure, or amend, waive or otherwise modify any representation and warranty insurance policy in any manner in connection with such waiver.

ARTICLE XII GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 12.01 <u>Fees and Expenses</u>. Except as expressly provided herein, each party to this Agreement shall bear the cost of all of its fees and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation of this Agreement and consummation of the Transactions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in any action between the parties hereto seeking enforcement of any of the terms and provisions of this Agreement, the Prevailing Party in such action shall be awarded, in addition to damages, injunctive or other relief, its reasonable costs and expenses, not limited to taxable costs, and reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses as determined by the court.

Section 12.02 <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement is not intended nor should it be construed to create any express or implied rights in any third parties, except for the rights set forth in <u>Section 8.01</u>, <u>Section 8.02</u>, and <u>Section 8.05</u>. Nothing contained herein, express or implied: (i) shall be construed to establish, amend or modify any benefit or compensation plan, program, agreement or arrangement; (ii) shall alter or limit the Buyer's or any of its Affiliates' ability to amend, modify or terminate any particular benefit plan, program, agreement or arrangement; (iii) is intended to confer upon any current or former employee of Seller any right to employment or continued employment for any period of time by reason of this Agreement, or any right to a particular term or condition of employment; or (iv) is intended to confer upon any individual (including employees, retirees, or dependents or beneficiaries of employees or retirees) other than the Parties any right as a third party beneficiary of this Agreement.

Section 12.03 <u>Notices</u>. All notices, requests, demands, and other communication given or required to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, duly addressed to the parties as follows or at such other address as any party may later specify by such written notice:

To Seller:	Generations Bank 20 East Bayard Street
	Seneca Falls, New York 13148 Attn: Angela Krezmer, President and CEO
	Email: angela.krezmer@mygenbank.com
To Holding Company:	Generations Bancorp NY, Inc.

20 East Bayard Street Seneca Falls, New York 13148 Attn: Angela Krezmer, President and CEO Email: angela.krezmer@mygenbank.com

With a copy to (which will not constitute notice):

	Attention:	Luse Gorman, PC 5335 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 780 Washington, DC 20015
Email:	Attention:	Kip Weissman, Esq. or Steven Lanter, Esq. kweissman@luselaw.com; slanter@luselaw.com
To Buyer:		ESL Federal Credit Union 225 Chestnut Street, Rochester, NY 14604 Attn: Arline L. Bayó Santiago, Chief Administrative Officer Email: asantiago@esl.org
and to:		ESL Federal Credit Union 225 Chestnut Street, Rochester, NY 14604 Attn Emily Cohen, Associate General Counsel. Email: ecohen@esl.org
With a copy to (which will not constitute notice):		
		Michael M. Bell
		Honigman LLP
		650 Trade Centre Way
		Kalamazoo, Michigan 49002 Email: mbell@honigman.com
and to:		
		Harter Secrest & Emery LLP
		1600 Bausch & Lomb Place
		Rochester, NY 14604
		Attn: Thomas R. Anderson Email: tanderson@hselaw.com
Any such notic	e shall be de	emed to have been duly given (a) on the date of delivery if

Any such notice shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally or by email (confirmation of receipt requested), (b) on the first (1st) Business Day following the date of dispatch if delivered utilizing a next-day-service by a recognized next-

day courier, or (c) on the earlier of confirmed receipt or the fifth (5th) Business Day following the date of mailing if mailed by registered or certified mail (return receipt requested).

Section 12.04 <u>Assignment</u>. This Agreement may not be assigned by any party without the prior written consent of the other parties, and any attempted assignment in violation of this Section is void.

Section 12.05 <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors or representatives.

Section 12.06 Governing Law. Subject to any applicable federal Law, this Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the Laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to any conflict of laws rules thereof that would require the application of the Laws of any other jurisdiction. Each of the Parties irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the state courts located in Monroe County, New York and the federal court located in the Western District of New York with respect to the interpretation and enforcement of the provisions of this Agreement and in respect of the Transactions, and that such jurisdiction of such courts with respect thereto shall be exclusive, except solely to the extent that all such courts lawfully decline to exercise such jurisdiction. Each of the Parties hereby waives, and agrees not to assert, as a defense in any proceeding for the interpretation or enforcement hereof, that it is not subject to such jurisdiction. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS OR EVENTS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS (WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO. THE PARTIES HERETO EACH AGREE THAT ANY AND ALL SUCH CLAIMS AND CAUSES OF ACTION SHALL BE TRIED BY THE COURT WITHOUT A JURY. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO FURTHER WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO SEEK TO CONSOLIDATE ANY SUCH LEGAL PROCEEDING IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL HAS BEEN WAIVED WITH ANY OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDING IN WHICH A JURY TRIAL CANNOT OR HAS NOT BEEN WAIVED.

Section 12.07 <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement, together with the Disclosure Schedule and Exhibits hereto, and the Confidentiality Agreement contains all of the agreements of the parties to it with respect to the matters contained herein and no prior or contemporaneous agreement or understanding, oral or written, pertaining to any such matters shall be effective for any purpose. No provision of this Agreement may be amended or added to except by an agreement in writing signed by the parties hereto or their respective successors in interest and expressly stating that it is an amendment of this Agreement.

Section 12.08 <u>Headings</u>. The headings of this Agreement are for purposes of reference only and shall not limit or define the meaning of the provisions of this Agreement.

Section 12.09 <u>Severability</u>. If any paragraph, section, sentence, clause, or phrase contained in this Agreement shall become illegal, null or void, or against public policy, for any reason, or shall be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, null or void, or against

public policy, the remaining paragraphs, sections, sentences, clauses, or phrases contained in this Agreement shall not be affected thereby.

Section 12.10 <u>Waiver</u>. No waiver by any party of any of the provisions hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the party so waiving. No failure to exercise, or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power or privilege arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power or privilege hereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power or privilege The waiver of any breach of any provision under this Agreement by any party hereto shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding or subsequent breach under this Agreement.

Section 12.11 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement may be executed and accepted by facsimile or portable data file (pdf) signature and any such signature shall be of the same force and effect as an original signature. No party hereto shall raise the use of electronic mail to deliver a signature or the fact that any signature or agreement or instrument was transmitted or communicated through the use of electronic mail as a defense to the formation or enforceability of this Agreement and each such party forever waives any such defense.

Section 12.12 <u>Force Majeure</u>. No party shall be deemed to have breached this Agreement solely by reason of delay or failure in performance resulting from a natural disaster or other act of God; *provided, however*, the Parties hereby agree and acknowledge that the COVID-19 pandemic shall not be considered a force majeure event as contemplated by this <u>Section 12.12</u>. The parties agree to cooperate in an attempt to overcome such a natural disaster or other act of God and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, but if either party reasonably believes that its interests would be materially and adversely affected by proceeding, such party shall be excused from any further performance of its obligations and undertakings under this Agreement.

Section 12.13 <u>Schedules</u>. All information set forth in the Exhibits and the Disclosure Schedule hereto shall be deemed a representation and warranty of Seller as to the accuracy and completeness of such information in all material respects.

Section 12.14 <u>Specific Performance</u>. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event any covenants in this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or otherwise were materially breached. It is accordingly agreed that, without the necessity of proving actual damages or posting bond or other security, the parties hereto shall be entitled to seek temporary and/or permanent injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of such performance and to seek specific enforcement of the terms and provisions in addition to any other remedy to which they may be entitled, at law or in equity.

Section 12.15 <u>Survival</u>. None of the representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement, other than those contained in <u>Section 7.16</u>, <u>Section 7.31</u>, <u>Section 10.02</u>, <u>Section 10.03</u> and in this <u>Article XII</u> of this Agreement, shall survive the termination of this Agreement if this Agreement is terminated prior to the Closing Date. None of the representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements

in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement, including any rights arising out of any breach of such representations, warranties, covenants and other agreements, shall survive the Closing Date, except for those covenants and agreements, which by their terms apply or are to be performed in whole or in part after the Closing, and in this <u>Article XII</u>.

Section 12.16 <u>Transfer Charges and Assessments</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein, all transfer, assignment, sales, conveyancing and recording charges, assessments and Taxes applicable to the sale and transfer of the Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities shall be paid and borne by the Seller.

Section 12.17 <u>Time of the Essence</u>. Whenever performance is required to be made by a party under a specific provision of this Agreement, time shall be of the essence.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Page to Follow]

IN WITNESS HEREOF, the parties hereto have duly authorized and executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

BUYER:

ESL FEDERAL CREDIT UNION

By: <u>/s/ Faheen A. Masood</u> Name: Faheem A. Masood Its: President & Chief Executive Officer

SELLER:

GENERATIONS BANK

By: /s/ Angela M. Krezmer Name: Angela M. Krezmer Title: President and CEO

HOLDING COMPANY:

GENERATIONS BANCORP NY, INC.

By: /s/ Angela M. Krezmer

Name: Angela M. Krezmer Title: President and CEO (This page has been left blank intentionally)



September 23, 2024

The Board of Directors Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. 20 East Bayard Street Seneca Falls, NY 13148

Members of the Board:

You have requested the opinion of Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc. ("KBW" or "we") as investment bankers as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. ("Generations") of the Purchase Price (as defined below) in the proposed purchase by ESL Federal Credit Union ("ESL") from Generations Bank, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Generations, of the assets (other than certain excluded assets) of Generations Bank (such asset purchase, together with ESL's assumption of certain related liabilities, the "Transaction"), taking into account the Related Transaction Matters (as defined below). Pursuant to a Purchase and Assumption Agreement (the "Agreement") to be entered into by and among ESL, Generations Bank and, for certain limited purposes, Generations, at the Closing (as defined in the Agreement) and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement, Generations Bank will sell the Assets (as defined in the Agreement), for an aggregate cash purchase price of \$26,200,000 (the "Purchase Price"), subject to certain adjustments as provided for in the Agreement (as to which adjustments we express no opinion). The terms and conditions of the Transaction are more fully set forth in the Agreement.

The Agreement further provides or contemplates that (a) Generations Bank will retain the Excluded Assets (as defined in the Agreement), which will include certain assets in the amount of the total consolidated equity capital of Generations Bank estimated as of the last day of the month immediately preceding the date of the Closing, less certain reductions and additions, (b) if applicable regulators direct that Generations Bank liquidate and make distributions to depositors from the Liquidation Accounts (as defined in the Agreement), Generations Bank may set aside cash before or after the Closing for the purpose of funding the Liquidation Accounts, and (c) following the Transaction, Generations Bank will be dissolved and liquidated and its assets will be distributed to Generations (all of the foregoing matters, together with the subsequent distribution by Generations of its assets to its shareholders and the terminations of the defined benefit plans of Generations and Generations Bank and the Generations Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan, which subsequent distribution and terminations are each contemplated by Generations to occur following the Transaction, the "Related Transaction Matters").KBW has acted as financial advisor to Generations and not as an advisor to or agent of any other person. As part of our investment banking business, we are continually engaged in the valuation of bank and bank holding company securities in connection with acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements and valuations for various other purposes. As specialists in the securities of banking companies, we have experience in, and knowledge of, the valuation of banking enterprises. In the ordinary course of our and their broker-dealer businesses (and further to existing sales and trading relationships between (i) KBW and Generations and (ii) a KBW broker-dealer affiliate and ESL), we and our affiliates may from time to time purchase securities from, and sell securities to, Generations, Generations Bank and ESL. In addition, as market makers in securities, we and our affiliates may from time to time have a long or short position in, and buy or sell, debt or equity securities of Generations for our and their own accounts and for the accounts of our and their respective customers and clients. We have acted exclusively for the board of directors of Generations (the "Board") in rendering this opinion and will receive a fee from Generations for our The Board of Directors – Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. September 23, 2024 Page 2 of 5

services. A portion of our fee is payable upon the rendering of this opinion and a significant portion is contingent upon the successful completion of the Transaction. In addition, Generations has agreed to indemnify us for certain liabilities arising out of our engagement.

Other than in connection with this present engagement, KBW has not provided investment banking or financial advisory services to Generations during the past two years. In the past two years, KBW has not provided investment banking or financial advisory services to ESL. We may in the future provide investment banking and financial advisory services to Generations or ESL and receive compensation for such services.

In connection with this opinion, we have reviewed, analyzed and relied upon material bearing upon the financial and operating condition of Generations and Generations Bank and bearing upon the Transaction and the Related Transaction Matters, including among other things, the following: (i) an execution version of the Agreement dated September 23, 2024; (ii) the audited financial statements and the Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the three fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 of Generations; (iii) the unaudited quarterly financial statements and the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2024 and June 30, 2024 of Generations; (iv) certain regulatory filings of Generations Bank, including, as applicable, the quarterly call reports required to be filed (as the case may be) with respect to each quarter during the three-year period ended December 31, 2023 as well as the quarters ended March 31, 2024 and June 30, 2024; (v) certain other interim reports and other communications of Generations to its shareholders; and (vi) other financial information concerning the business and operations of Generations and Generations Bank furnished to us by Generations or which we were otherwise directed to use for purposes of our analyses. Our consideration of financial information and other factors that we deemed appropriate under the circumstances or relevant to our analyses included, among others, the following: (i) the historical and current financial position and results of operations of Generations and Generations Bank; (ii) the assets and liabilities of Generations and Generations Bank; (iii) the nature and terms of certain other mergers and acquisitions transactions and business combinations in the banking industry; (iv) a comparison of certain financial and stock market information for Generations with similar information for certain other companies, the securities of which are publicly traded; (v) financial and operating forecasts and projections of Generations and Generations Bank that were prepared by Generations management, provided to us and discussed with us by such management, and used and relied upon by us at the direction of such management and with the consent of the Board; and (vi) pro forma estimates regarding the implied post-Transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters, that were prepared by Generations management, provided to us and discussed with us by such management, and used and relied upon by us at the direction of such management and with the consent of the Board. We have also performed such other studies and analyses as we considered appropriate and have taken into account our assessment of general economic, market and financial conditions and our experience in other transactions, as well as our experience in securities valuation and knowledge of the banking industry generally. We have also participated in discussions that were held with the management of Generations regarding the past and current business operations, regulatory relations, financial condition and future prospects of Generations and Generations Bank and such other matters as we have deemed relevant to our inquiry. In addition, we have considered the results of the efforts undertaken by Generations, with our assistance, to solicit indications of interest from third parties regarding a potential transaction with Generations or Generations Bank.

In conducting our review and arriving at our opinion, we have relied upon and assumed the accuracy and completeness of all of the financial and other information that was provided to or discussed with us or that was publicly available and we have not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of any such information or assumed any responsibility or liability for such verification,

The Board of Directors – Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. September 23, 2024 Page 3 of 5

accuracy or completeness. We have relied upon the management of Generations as to the reasonableness and achievability of the financial and operating forecasts and projections of Generations and Generations Bank and the pro forma estimates regarding the implied post-Transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters, all as referred to above (and the assumptions and bases therefor), and we have assumed that all such information has been reasonably prepared and represents the best currently available estimates and judgments of Generations management and, in the case of such pro forma estimates, will be realized in the amounts currently estimated by such management.

It is understood that the forecasts, projections and estimates provided to us were not prepared with the expectation of public disclosure and that all of the foregoing financial information is based on numerous variables and assumptions that are inherently uncertain (including, without limitation, factors related to general economic and competitive conditions and, in particular, the widespread disruption, extraordinary uncertainty and unusual volatility arising from global tensions and political unrest, economic uncertainty, inflation, prolonged higher interest rates, the COVID-19 pandemic and, in the case of the banking industry, recent actual or threatened regional bank failures, including the effect of evolving governmental interventions and non-interventions) and, accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from those set forth in such forecasts and projections. We have relied on all of the foregoing financial information of Generations and Generations Bank that was provided to or discussed with us without independent verification or analysis and do not in any respect assume any responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness thereof. We have assumed, based on discussions with Generations management and with the consent of the Board, that all such information provides a reasonable basis upon which we can form our opinion (notwithstanding, among other things, that the Transaction will be effected as an asset sale) and we express no view as to any such information or the assumptions or bases therefor. This opinion is based primarily in reliance of a comparison of the results indicated by our analyses of Generations with estimates of the implied post-Transaction distributable value to shareholders of Generations, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters, as indicated in the pro forma estimates referred to above.

We also assumed that there have been no material changes in the assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations, business or prospects of Generations or Generations Bank since the date of the last financial statements that were made available to us. We are not experts in the independent verification of the adequacy of allowances for credit losses and we have assumed, without independent verification and with your consent, that the aggregate allowances for credit losses for Generations Bank are adequate to cover such losses. In rendering our opinion, we have not made or obtained any evaluations or appraisals or physical inspection of the property, assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of Generations or Generations Bank, the collateral securing any of such assets or liabilities, or the collectability of any such assets, nor have we examined any individual loan or credit files, nor did we evaluate the solvency, financial capability or fair value of Generations, Generations Bank or ESL under any state or federal laws, including those relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or other matters. We have made note of the classification by Generations Bank of its loans and owned securities as either held to maturity or held for investment, on the one hand, or held for sale or available for sale, on the other hand, and have also reviewed reported fair value marks-to-market and other reported valuation information, if any, relating to such loans or owned securities contained in the financial statements of Generations Bank, but we express no view as to any such matters. Estimates of values of companies and assets do not purport to be appraisals or necessarily reflect the prices at which companies or assets may actually be sold. Such estimates are inherently subject to uncertainty and should not be taken as our view of the actual value of any companies or assets.

The Board of Directors – Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. September 23, 2024 Page 4 of 5

We have assumed, in all respects material to our analyses, the following: (i) that the Transaction and any related transactions will be completed substantially in accordance with the terms set forth in the Agreement (the final terms of which we have assumed will not differ in any respect material to our analyses from the draft version reviewed by us referred to above) with no adjustments to the Purchase Price; (ii) that the representations and warranties of each party in the Agreement and in all related documents and instruments referred to in the Agreement are true and correct; (iii) that each party to the Agreement and all related documents will perform all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by such party under such documents; (iv) that there are no factors that would delay or subject to any adverse conditions, any necessary regulatory or governmental approval for the Transaction or any related transactions and that all conditions to the completion of the Transaction and any related transactions will be satisfied without any waivers or modifications to the Agreement or any of the related documents; and (v) that in the course of obtaining the necessary regulatory, contractual, or other consents or approvals for the Transaction and any related transactions, no restrictions, including any divestiture requirements, termination or other payments or amendments or modifications, will be imposed that will have a material adverse effect on the Transaction or the future results of operations or financial condition of Generations or Generations Bank. We have assumed that the Transaction will be consummated in a manner that complies with the applicable provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and all other applicable federal and state statutes, rules and regulations. We have further been advised by Generations that Generations has relied upon advice from its advisors (other than KBW) or other appropriate sources as to all legal, financial reporting, tax, accounting and regulatory matters with respect to Generations, Generations Bank, the Transaction and any related transactions, and the Agreement. KBW has not provided advice with respect to any such matters.

This opinion addresses only the fairness, from a financial point of view, as of the date hereof, to Generations of the Purchase Price, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters. We express no view or opinion as to any other terms or aspects of the Transaction or any term or aspect of any related transactions (including any payments or distributions to be made in connection with the Related Transaction Matters), including without limitation, the form or structure of the Transaction or any such related transactions, any consequences of the Transaction or any such related transactions to Generations Bank, Generations, its shareholders, creditors or otherwise, or any terms, aspects, merits or implications of any employment, consulting, non-solicitation, voting, support, shareholder, lease, license or other agreements, arrangements or understandings contemplated or entered into in connection with the Transaction, any such related transactions, or otherwise. Our opinion is necessarily based upon conditions as they exist and can be evaluated on the date hereof and the information made available to us through the date hereof. There is currently significant volatility in the stock and other financial markets arising from global tensions and political unrest, economic uncertainty, inflation, prolonged higher interest rates, the COVID-19 pandemic and, in the case of the banking industry, recent actual or threatened regional bank failures, including the effect of evolving governmental interventions and non-interventions. It is understood that subsequent developments may affect the conclusion reached in this opinion and that KBW does not have an obligation to update, revise or reaffirm this opinion. Our opinion does not address, and we express no view or opinion with respect to, (i) the underlying business decision of Generations to engage in the Transaction or any related transactions or enter into the Agreement, (ii) the relative merits of the Transaction or any related transactions as compared to any strategic alternatives that are, have been or may be available to or contemplated by Generations or the Board, (iii) any wind-down, dissolution or other plans with respect to Generations Bank or Generations that may be currently contemplated by Generations or the Board or that may be implemented by Generations Bank or Generations or the Board subsequent to the closing of the Transaction, (iv) the fairness of the amount or nature of any compensation to any of Generations' or Generations Bank's officers, directors or employees, or any class of such persons, relative to any compensation to the shareholders of Generations or relative to the Purchase Price, (v) the effect of the Transaction or any related transactions on, or the fairness of any The Board of Directors – Generations Bancorp NY, Inc. September 23, 2024 Page 5 of 5

consideration to be received by, holders of any class of securities of Generations, Generations Bank or any other party to any transaction contemplated by the Agreement, (vi) whether ESL has sufficient cash, available lines of credit or other sources of funds to enable the Purchase Price to be paid to Generations Bank at the closing of the Transaction, (vii) the prices, trading range or volume at which Generations common stock will trade following the public announcement of the Transaction or following the consummation of the Transaction, (viii) any adjustment (as provided in the Agreement) to the Purchase Price assumed for purposes of our opinion, (ix) any allocation of the Purchase Price among the Assets acquired by ESL under the Agreement, (x) what the actual amount of any shareholder distribution from Generations Bank to Generations or from Generations to its shareholders will be, (xi) any advice or opinions provided by any other advisor to any of the parties to the Transaction or any other transaction contemplated by the Agreement, or (xii) any legal, regulatory, accounting, tax or similar matters relating to Generations Bank, Generations or its shareholders, or relating to or arising out of or as a consequence of the Transaction or any related transactions.

This opinion is for the information of, and is directed to, the Board (in its capacity as such) in connection with its consideration of the financial terms of the Transaction. This opinion does not constitute a recommendation to the Board as to how it should vote on the Transaction, or to any holder of common stock of Generations as to how to vote or act in connection with the Transaction or any other matter, nor does it constitute a recommendation regarding whether or not any such shareholder should enter into a voting, support, shareholders' or similar agreement with respect to the Transaction or exercise any dissenters' or appraisal rights that may be available to such shareholder.

This opinion has been reviewed and approved by our Fairness Opinion Committee in conformity with our policies and procedures established under the requirements of Rule 5150 of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Purchase Price in the Transaction, taking into account the Related Transaction Matters, is fair, from a financial point of view, to Generations.

Very truly yours,

Keepe, Brugette + Woods, Inc.

Keefe, Bruyette & Woods, Inc.

GENERATIONS BANCORP NY, INC.

PLAN OF DISSOLUTION AND COMPLETE LIQUIDATION

1. <u>Approval and Effectiveness of Plan</u>. The Board of Directors (the "Board") of Generations Bancorp NY, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "Corporation"), deems it advisable and in the best interests of the Corporation and its stockholders (the "Stockholders") to dissolve the Corporation and do all other acts, consistent with applicable law and with the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Corporation, necessary or proper to liquidate the Corporation and wind up its affairs pursuant to this Plan of Dissolution and Complete Liquidation (this "Plan"). The Board has approved this Plan and directed that it be submitted to the Stockholders for approval. The Plan shall become effective upon approval of the Plan by the Stockholders. The date of the Stockholders' approval is hereinafter referred to as the "Effective Date."

2. <u>Filing of Tax Forms</u>. The Corporation's officers are authorized and directed to execute and file within 30 days after the Effective Date a U.S. Treasury Form 966 pursuant to Section 6043 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and such additional forms and reports with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service as may be necessary or appropriate in connection with carrying out this Plan.

Voluntary Dissolution and Liquidation. On and after the Effective Date, the Corporation shall voluntarily 3. dissolve and liquidate in accordance with Sections 331 and 336 of the Code and Sections 3-401 through 3-419 of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the "MGCL"). Pursuant to the Plan, the proper officers of the Corporation shall perform such acts, execute and deliver such documents, and do all things as may be reasonably necessary or advisable to complete the dissolution and liquidation of the Corporation, including, but not limited to, the following: (a) promptly wind up the Corporation's affairs, collect its assets and pay or provide for its liabilities (including contingent liabilities); (b) sell or exchange any and all property of the Corporation at public or private sale; (c) prosecute, settle or compromise all claims or actions of the Corporation or to which it is subject; (d) declare and pay to or for the account of the Stockholders, at any one or more times pursuant to this Plan and as such officers may determine, liquidating distributions in cash, in kind or both; (e) cancel all outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation upon the Share Termination Date (as defined in Section 12 hereof) and upon receipt of any share certificate held by the applicable Stockholder; (f) execute for or on behalf of the Corporation, in its corporate name and under its corporate seal, those contracts of sale, deeds, assignments, notices and other documents as may be necessary, desirable or convenient in connection with the carrying out of the liquidation and dissolution of the Corporation; (g) execute for or on behalf of the Corporation, in its corporate name and under its corporate seal, such forms and documents as are required by the State of Maryland, by any jurisdiction in which the Corporation has been qualified to do business and by the Federal government, including tax returns; (h) make, or make arrangement for, including through establishing an escrow account or by any other method permitted by applicable bank regulators and approved by the Board, any payments required pursuant to the liquidation account established by the Corporation in connection with the conversion of the former mutual holding company of Generations Bank, The Seneca Falls Savings Bank, MHC, from a mutual holding company to a stock holding company; and (i) pay all costs, fees and expenses, taxes and other liabilities incurred by the Corporation and/or its officers in carrying out the dissolution and liquidation of the Corporation.

4. <u>Prefiling Notice</u>. Pursuant to Section 3-404 of the MGCL, not less than 20 days before the filing of the articles of dissolution with the Maryland State Department of Assessments and Taxation (the "Department"), the Corporation shall mail notice that dissolution of the Corporation has been approved to all its known creditors at their addresses as shown on the records of the Corporation and to its employees, either at their home addresses as shown on the records of the Corporation or at their business addresses (alternatively, the Board may determine that the Corporation has no employees and/or known creditors).

5. <u>Sales of Assets</u>.

(a) The Corporation is authorized to sell, and to cause its subsidiaries to sell, upon such terms as may be deemed advisable, any or all of their respective assets for cash, notes, redemption of equity or such other assets as may be conveniently liquidated or distributed to the Stockholders.

(b) The Corporation shall not authorize or transfer assets pursuant to any sale agreement between the Corporation or its subsidiaries, on the one hand, and an affiliate of the Corporation or its subsidiaries, on the other hand, unless a majority of the Board, including a majority of independent members of the Board not otherwise interested in the transaction, determine that the transaction is fair and reasonable to the Corporation or its subsidiaries, as the case may be.

6. Reserve Fund. The Corporation is authorized, but not required, to establish one or more reserve funds, in a reasonable amount and as may be deemed advisable, to meet known liabilities and liquidating expenses and estimated, unascertained or contingent liabilities and expenses. Establishment of a reserve fund may be accomplished by a recording in the Corporation's accounting ledgers of any accounting or bookkeeping entry that indicates the allocation of funds so set aside for payment. The Corporation is also authorized, but not required, to establish a reserve fund by placing cash or property in escrow with an escrow agent for a specified term together with payment instructions. Any undistributed amounts remaining in such an escrowed reserve fund at the end of its term shall be returned to the Corporation or such other successor-in-interest to the Corporation as may then exist or shall be distributed as the Corporation shall have otherwise instructed or, if no such entity is then in existence and no such instructions shall have been provided by the Corporation, shall be delivered to the abandoned property unit of the Maryland State Comptroller's Office. The Corporation may also establish a reserve fund by any other reasonable means. The Board may, if it determines in its sole discretion that any reserve fund has served its purpose and is no longer needed and that distributing any funds remaining in the reserve fund would not be reasonable or desirable given the effort and costs that would be required under the circumstances, determine to donate the funds remaining in the reserve fund to a charitable organization chosen by the Board, and such action by the Board shall be presumed to be in the best interests of the stockholders of the Corporation and in compliance with the fiduciary duties of the members of the Board. By approving this Plan, the Stockholders are specifically approving the discretion of the Board to donate any of the funds remaining in the reserve fund.

7. <u>Insurance Policies</u>. The Corporation is authorized, but not required, to procure one or more insurance policies, in a reasonable amount and as may be deemed advisable, to cover unknown or unpaid liabilities and liquidating expenses and unascertained or contingent liabilities and expenses.

8. <u>Articles of Dissolution</u>. The proper officers of the Corporation are authorized and directed to file articles of dissolution with the Department for record pursuant to Section 3-407 of the MGCL. Before filing articles of dissolution, the Corporation shall give notice to its known creditors and employees as set forth in Section 4 hereof and satisfy all other prerequisites to such filing under Maryland law. Upon the Department's acceptance of the articles of dissolution for record, as provided by Section 3-408(a) of the MGCL, the Corporation shall be dissolved. Except for purposes of winding up as provided in Section 3-408 of the MGCL, the Corporation shall be dissolved (the "Dissolution Date") when the Department accepts the Corporation's articles of dissolution for record. The Department may not accept for record the articles of dissolution for the Corporation unless the annual property reports required by Title 11 of the Tax Property Article have been filed (including for the current year if the articles of dissolution are filed after April 15). The Corporation may request from the Department, pursuant to Section 3-407(b) of the MGCL, a list of all collectors of taxes of counties and municipalities to which the Department has certified an assessment of personal property taxable to the Corporation within the preceding four years.

The Corporation shall also terminate any qualification to do business as a foreign corporation and pay any tax liabilities and file any required reports in any jurisdiction other than Maryland.

9. <u>Continuation; Winding Up</u>. After the Dissolution Date, unless otherwise determined by resolution of a majority of the Board, the members of the Board and the officers of the Corporation shall continue in their positions for the purpose of winding up the affairs of the Corporation as contemplated by Maryland law without further action by the Stockholders to the extent permitted by Maryland law. The Corporation shall continue to exist for the purpose of paying, satisfying and discharging any existing debts or obligations, collecting and distributing its assets, and doing all other acts required to liquidate and wind-up its business and affairs, under the direction of the Board. In addition to any authority impliedly herein granted to the Corporation and/or the Board, the Board shall have the authority to:

• collect and distribute the assets, applying them to payment, satisfaction and discharge of existing debts and obligations of the Corporation, including necessary expenses of liquidation;

- distribute the remaining assets among the Stockholders;
- carry out the contracts of the Corporation;
- sell all or any part of the assets of the Corporation in public or private sale;
- sue or be sued in the name of the Corporation; and
- do all other acts consistent with law and the articles of incorporation of the Corporation necessary or proper to liquidate the Corporation and wind-up its affairs.

10. <u>Distributions</u>. The assets of the Corporation shall be distributed to Stockholders pursuant to this Plan in one or more distributions in accordance with the MGCL. The proportionate interests of Stockholders in the assets of the Corporation shall be fixed on the basis of their holdings on the date of the initial distribution of funds to Stockholders following the Effective Date (the "Initial Distribution") or on such other date as may be determined by the Board (the "Determination Date"). Subject to the election of the Board to make distributions under Section 3-412 of the MGCL as set forth in Section 11 hereof, as soon as reasonably practicable after the Initial Distribution and following the payment or other provision for all liabilities and expenses of the Corporation, the remaining assets of the Corporation shall be distributed to Stockholders in one or more distributions equal to the Stockholders' proportionate interest in the net assets of the Corporation as of the Determination Date (the last of such distributions, the "Final Distribution"). The Board may also decide to use a Liquidating Trust as set forth in Section 13 hereof. Unless the Board has elected to make distributions under Section 3-412 of the MGCL, the Corporation shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the liquidation and dissolution of the Corporation to occur and to make the Final Distribution no later than the second anniversary of the Effective Date.

11. Distribution by Notice and Proof. The Board may elect to make the distributions to Stockholders pursuant to the procedure set forth in Section 3-412 of the MGCL. In such case, the Corporation shall notify Stockholders and require that they prove their interests within a specified period of time extending until at least 60 days after the date of notice. Such notice shall be mailed to each Stockholder at his or her address as it appears on the records of the Corporation and be published at least once a week for three successive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation published in the county in which the principal office of the Corporation is located. The date of such notice is the later of the date of mailing or the date of first publication. The Corporation's records of Stockholders shall be deemed conclusive. After the expiration of the time specified in the notice, the Corporation may make an Initial Distribution to each Stockholder of record who has proved his or her interest his or her proportionate share of the assets, reserving the shares of those who have not proved their interests or cannot be located. Thereafter, the Corporation may incur reasonable expenses in locating the remaining Stockholders and securing proofs of interest from them or confirmations as to the accuracy of the Corporation's stockholder records and may charge the expenses against the funds undistributed at the time the expenses are incurred. From time to time, the Corporation may distribute a proportionate share to any Stockholder who has proved his or her interest or been located since the prior distribution. If a Stockholder transfers his or her shares before the Determination Date, it is incumbent on the transferee to notify the Corporation of the transfer and to prove his or her interest under the transfer, in order for the transferee to receive a proportionate share of any subsequent distribution. If a transferee does not give the notice and prove his or her interest in the transferred shares as set forth in the foregoing sentence, any subsequent distributions shall be made based upon the Corporation's last prior dated records of stockholding interests. If the procedure of Section 3-412 of the MGCL is elected to be followed, then (i) no earlier than three years from the date of the original notice, the Corporation may make a Final Distribution of all surplus assets remaining under its control to those Stockholders who have proved their interests and are entitled to distribution, and (ii) after the Final Distribution, the interest of any Stockholder who has not proved his interest is forever barred and foreclosed.

12. <u>Closing of Books; Termination of Shares</u>. On the Determination Date, the books of the Corporation shall be closed. Thereafter, unless the books of the Corporation are reopened because this Plan cannot be carried into effect under the laws of the State of Maryland or otherwise, the Stockholders' respective interests in the Corporation's assets shall not be transferable by the negotiation of share certificates. Each share of the Corporation's common stock shall be canceled on such date (which may be the Determination Date) as shall be determined by the Board (the "Share Termination Date") and upon receipt of any share certificate held by the applicable Stockholder.

13. <u>Liquidating Trust</u>. If deemed necessary, appropriate, or desirable by the Board, in its absolute discretion, in furtherance of the liquidation and distribution of the Corporation's assets to the Stockholders, as a final liquidating distribution or from time to time, the Corporation shall transfer to one or more liquidating trustees, for the benefit of

the Stockholders (the "Trustees"), under a liquidating trust (the "Trust"), all, or a portion, of the assets of the Corporation. If assets are transferred to the Trust, each Stockholder shall receive an interest (an "Interest") in the Trust pro rata to its interest in the assets of the Corporation on that date. All distributions from the Trust shall be made pro rata in accordance with the Interests. The Interests shall not be transferable except by operation of law or upon death of the recipient. The Board is authorized to appoint one or more individuals, corporations, partnerships or other persons, or any combination thereof, including, without limitation, any one or more officers, directors, employees, agents or representatives of the Corporation, to act as the initial Trustee or Trustees for the benefit of the Stockholders and to receive any assets of the Corporation. Any Trustees appointed as provided in the preceding sentence shall succeed to all right, title and interest of the Corporation of any kind and character with respect to such transferred assets and, to the extent of the assets so transferred and solely in their capacity as Trustees, shall assume all of the liabilities and obligations of the Corporation, including, without limitation, any unsatisfied claims and unascertained or contingent liabilities. Further, any conveyance of assets to the Trustees shall be deemed to be a distribution of property and assets by the Corporation to the Stockholders. Any such conveyance to the Trustees shall be in trust for the Stockholders of the Corporation. The Corporation, as authorized by the Board, in its absolute discretion, may enter into a liquidating trust agreement with the Trustees, on such terms and conditions as the Board, in its absolute discretion, may deem necessary, appropriate or desirable. Adoption of this Plan by the holders of the requisite vote of the outstanding capital stock of the Corporation shall constitute the approval of the Stockholders of any such appointment and any such liquidating trust agreement as their act and as a part hereof as if herein written.

14. <u>Director and Officer Compensation</u>. The officers and members of the Board may continue to receive compensation as determined by the Board until the final liquidating distribution is paid, provided that they remain officers and/or directors of the Corporation.

15. <u>Interpretation: General Authority</u>. The Board and the proper officers of the Corporation are hereby authorized to interpret the provisions of the Plan and are hereby authorized and directed to take such actions, to give such notices to creditors, Stockholders and governmental entities, to make such filings with governmental entities and to negotiate and execute such agreements, conveyances, assignments, transfers, certificates and other documents, as may, in their judgment, be necessary or advisable to wind up expeditiously the affairs of the Corporation and complete the liquidation and dissolution thereof, including, without limitation: (a) the execution of any contracts, deeds, assignments or other instruments necessary or appropriate to sell or otherwise dispose of any or all property of the Corporation, its subsidiaries, whether real or personal, tangible or intangible; (b) the appointment of other persons to carry out any aspect of the Plan; and (c) the temporary investment of funds in such medium as the Board may deem appropriate.

16. <u>*Corporate Governance.*</u> All of the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Corporation shall remain in effect throughout the liquidation process unless specifically amended by the Plan or amended by the Stockholders or by Board following the adoption of the Plan, as applicable.

17. <u>Indemnification</u>. The Corporation shall reserve sufficient assets and/or obtain or maintain such insurance (including, without limitation, directors' and officers' insurance) as shall be necessary or advisable to provide the continued indemnification of the directors, officers, employees and agents of the Corporation, including for service with other entities as provided in the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation, and such other parties whom the Corporation has agreed to indemnify, to the maximum extent provided by the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Corporation, any existing indemnification agreement to which the Corporation is a party and applicable law. At the discretion of the Board, such insurance may include coverage for the periods after the dissolution of the Corporation.

18. *Governing Law*. The validity, interpretation and performance of the Plan shall be controlled by and construed under the laws of the State of Maryland.

19. <u>Abandonment of Plan; Amendment</u>. The Board may terminate the Plan for any reason. Notwithstanding approval of the Plan by the Stockholders, the Board may modify or amend the Plan without further action by or approval of the Stockholders to the extent permitted under then applicable law.

#